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This manuscript is the product of tape-recorded interv iews conducted by 
Horace Waggoner for  the Oral History Office dwing June and July, 1975. 
Horace Waggoner transcribed the tapes and edited the transcripts. Be- 
cause of M r .  Ailanants poor eyesight, the review of the transcripts was 
completed by the Fnterviewer reading them t o  hZm. These tape-recorded 
review sessions resulted In  additional material, most In  explanation o r  
expansion of' the material be* reviewed, but some on new subjects. The 
additional material was selectively transferred t o  vAcldendal' tapes and 
transcribed, Same addenda material appears as footnotes; the addenda 
transcripts appear In  whole In the addenda sectiom at the end of each 
volume of the m e m o b  and I s  referenced for the reader by footnotes In 
the text. 

fi. A- was born i n  Hornsby, IlliLnois , on January 22, 1878. PurIn@; 
hls childhood, the famlly moved several tlmes In search of a "home fm," 
fSnally set t l ing iLn the edge of the t m e r  norkh ni' Honey Bend, IllSnoIs, 
i n  1889. His ~ ~ s c e n c e s ,  understandably sketchy f o r  the  ewly years, 
become mre d e t a l l d  as he recalls  his father's farm operations and the 
family Hfe during hls school years. 

ShOfily after the mve t o  the "home farm," M s  school years came t o  an 
end as, at the age of thirteen, he j o k e d  his father In suppor"thg the  
Tamfly. I n  this endeavor, he worked u n t i l  the age of twenty-two k~ the 
tlmber and as a farmhand. HIS recountkg of the experiences of these 
years a t t es t s  t o  the hportance of tWer in pmviding the equlpmnt of 
the farmer, t o  the typlcal fannerls work ethic, and t o  the closeness of 
m a 1  family and commwllty l i f e .  

Pi search of an occupation, he spent the years 1900 t o  1910 as a 
Wabash MLroad telegraph operator and agent, Eut the lure of the farm 
was  too strong and he returned t o  the land. After a brief look toward 
homesteading in Oklahoma or  New Mexico, he and his wife set t led on the* 
fm In Pitman Township, I l l i n o i s .  A mJor part of hfs story is of 
thei r  life on this farm and of involvemnt in the nearby fasm service 
c o m m t y  of Waggoner. 

Readers of this ora l  history memoir should bear In m b d  that it 1s a 
transcript of the spoken word, and that the intendewer, m a t o r  and 
edltor sought t o  preserve the informal, conversatlonal style that  i s  
M e r e n t  In such his tor ica l  sources. Sangamon State University is not 
responsible for  the factual accuracy of the memoir, nor f o r  views ex- 
pressed therein; these are for the reader t o  judge. 

The manuscript m y  be read, quoted and c i t ed  Freely. It my not be repro- 
duced in whole o r  An part by any means, electronic or  mchardcal, without 
permission In writing from the Oral History Office, sangamn State 
Unlversrlty , Springfield, I l l ino i s ,  62708. 
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Bert Ailanan, June and July, 1975, Waggoner, Illinois, 
Horace Waggoner, Interviewer. 

Q. You gave me a real good outUne yesterday to thlnk about and what I'd 
l i k e  to do thls afternoon Is-about the first seven yeass you moved 
around qulte a bllt and then you se t t l ed  In Raymond and then came out t o  
the Ed Gerlach place, I belleve It was. 

A. No, t o  Bob Trout's, was the name of the  place, which was d k e c t l y  
across the road f'rm the LILY schoolhouse. That Lily schoolhouse 
disappeared, as you how, when they consolLdated schools here, and it's 
a dwelling house now. 

Q. Oh, it's s t i l l  there? 

A. The b u i l d p g  is. That is,  it's been worked over, of course, bto 
a d c e  house. That was where I star ted school. I guess I was jus t  sLx 
yews old when I started there. They dldntt have kkdergwten and such 
things In those days, you know. An3 they didn't  Urnlt attendance, el ther .  
I don't thlnk I ever attended a school under fifty In a room. I don't 
think I ever dld. 

I went t o  that school, the  L i l y  School, and then the  folks ~ v e d  from 
there t o  the Ed Ge~lach place and we were in the  Vignos DistPict then. 
Do you know where the Raymond road used to take off to go to Raymond 
when it was j u s t  a d l r t  road? 

Q. No, I don't think I remember . . , No, s b .  

2 A. Well, t he  Vignos School stood right in there m d  old man Vignos, who 
was the  stock of the Vignos, l lved a quarter of a mile south of It. 
So, it was named after him,  you see. We came over there and we had 
a fbll house agajn, j u s t  j m e d  fill. 

They wmld st& i w j u s t  t o  enlighten you-the flrst thing, when they 
rang the  b e l l  arzd you took your seat, of course, they called the r o l l ,  
Then they called the primer class. That prlmer c lass  r e c i t d  the flrst 
thhg after every tjme the be l l  rang. They recited four times a day. 
Primer class. Some of the teachers would t e l l  you, they'd Say, "Why, 
the only time they learn anything i s  while reciting. 'They don1 
how to study but while they're r e c i t m ,  they begin t o  get it." 5 "Ow 

Q. What ' s the prlmer class? 

'see addenda item 1. 

%ee addenda item 2. 
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B e r t  Allallan 2 

A. The primer class was the very b e g M r g  of words, letters, learn the 
ABC1s, learn the nwnbers. Then develop on up untu they could flnally 
read sentences jflke, "The dog is white," and "The cat's black," such 
things as that. 

Q. Would thls be the fbst and second gades o r  just the flrst grade? 

A, No, that was p r b e r  . Then when they got thraugh with thew prlLmer 
book, which they were able to read pretty good when they got through 
wlth it, and could spell some falrly good, then they went ineo the first 
reader. And there was ei&t readers in the school in those days. ?"ne 
eitghth pade had a reader that you stood up and read just the ,same as the 
little ldds did. 

And the spelling we had . . . we spelled orally . . . stood up in a row 
along the side of the house and spelled orally and somebody would get 
a headmark. If they could stick at the head of that 1% for two days, 
they got a headnark and they were credited with it by the teacher. 

A. Headmark? He was the head of that fie, don't you see, the head 
of the whole sCbo1. 

Q. So, does that mean he got a mark on his record, or  . . . 
A. Yes, they made a record on there that he had made the headmask on 
certain dates and then at the end of the month, why they'd give b l m  a little 
card or something, you know, to encourage them on that. I could never 
stay at the head. (chuckles) 

Q. D i d  you ever reach the head? 

A. Well, I 'd  reach it but I never could stay there. I never got a thing. 
(laughter) My brother next t o  me could just stay as long as he wanted to, 
pretty near. 

We had spellln@: schools. One school would came in and spell a g a L r ~ ~ t  another, 
you know, like Vlgnos would have Eurnet here come down there and we'd 
have a spellirg school. And they was both sides of the house lFned with 
scholars and the teacher gave out [words] until he [a scholar] gave out, 
then he'd call on somebody [else]. !They u s d  a spelling book that every 
word had a definition to it and we had to learn the deflnition as well as 
to spell the word. In the spelllng bee like that they wouldn't ask for the 
definition, just the word, when you was spelling. But if you got stuck 
a little, well, they'd say, "Give us a defin3_tion." Well, sometimes 
that would help you, you know, to ave the definition, You'd get your 
letters straightened out %ah. 

So, I'm just apicturing to you how they handled all of those classes. 

'see addenda Itern 4. 
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The f b s t  reader followed the p r h r  class and the second reader 
follow& them; the third reader followed them and the fourth reader 
follow& them. All of them would r e c i t e  now In the fks t  half day. 

Qc Was the second reader used in the second grade, OF did you double 
UP? 

A. Well, that's fight, they were graded and used the first grade, second 
grade, third grade, and so on. I went t o  school until I was 22 yews old 
t o  f in ish  the eighth ,g-a.de. 

Q. Oh, is that right? 

A. Yes, because I l o s t  three years, from the time X was flfteen until I 
was eighteen. i'Q dad bad a blg family, there was seven of us, and he had 
t a  make a 11- f o r  us  because the  l i t t l e  oLd forty5 didn't provide 
enough t o  keep the family. So, we worked In the timber. h those days 
there was any amount of timber work: makin.g rails, mkhg posts, mkhg 
slats t o  make fence out of, and so on. So, us  three, the two older boys 
and Dad,  would work In  the t h b e r  pract ical ly  every day, every day If i t  
was f i t .  And so I missed school f o r  those three years, 

Well, then I wag twenty years old, or  close t o  it, and I got back mto school. 
I was eighteen, r e a l l y ,  that's what I was .  Because the man tha t  taught the  
school that winter wasn't very m c h  older than me; he used t o  depend on 
me t o  help out quilte a l i t t l e  In different things. 

Q. Now, this would have been at  Honey Bend? 

A. No, I never went t o  Koney Bend. Thfs was at Hazel Green. That's 
where we went t o  when we moved t o  the forty.  Hazel Green. That b u i l d b g  
is made over into a house, [too]. It's st111 there and you can see the 
old bulldlng, the o r i g h a l ,  by stoppiqq a quarter of a mile nor%h there - 
ami see the machine s h q  tha t ' s  i n  tha t  man's p u p  of bui ldhgs ,  r ight  
close t o  the road, too, and t ha t  building used t o  house 61 scholars 
a day, 

Q. I didn ' t  realize there were tha t  many! Was this a one-room bullding? 

A. Jus t  one roan. They had a stove i n  the a d d l e  of it, Part of us 
froze and pa r t  of us cooked. (chuckles) The teachers w e r e  a l l  trained in 
those days t o  hear a l l  of those classes. After the r e a m  come mthamt ics ,  
you how,  and you start i n  down here In [book] number one and number two 
and number three and number four. Number tWee was about as high as we 
ever got until you was ready to f lnlsh the eighth grade. Then they 
brought you in to  geometry and . . . 

%hen Mr. AUmm was eleven years old, his family moved to a farm 
northeast of Honey Bend, I l l h o i s .  M r .  Ajlanan r e fe r s  t o  thls favm variously 
as '"The M t t l e  Old Fortyt') "The Forty," "The Horn Place/' or "The Timber1' 
thro-ut the -Lnt&ews. [Eilj 

addenda item 5. 
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A. No, not trigonometry. Geometry and . . . 
Q, A l g e b r a ?  

A, Yes. That's rlght. That you had in the Last cowse Fn the eighth 
gmde. Then you also had history classes. We had one. That was jus t  
once a day we had a history class because the younger scholars didn't 
get  that .  That was the older scholars that could p ~ o f l t  by it, you know. 
They got the  Mstory. 

Q. Was t ~ s  herican mstory? 

A. Yes. HXstory of the Unfted States f r m t h e  t h e  they broke away frm 
England and came over here, you how, ahd se t t l ed  at Plymouth Rock and so 
on. We had a teacher that was study* law a d  he was keen for dates. 
Well, I never was very good on dates, but we had one fellow in the school, 
an I r i s h  boy, that nevey forgot a date. He could read that history and 
I've seen h3m go up t o  the blackboard and just  pre t ty  near cover that 
blackboasd with dates. And they'd be correct1 He could t e l l  you what 
every one of them was. And the poop bugger dr& himself to death 
when he got to be a man. 

Q. What kind of' f i e 1  dld you use In the stove? 

A. Coal* 

Q. You used coal? 

A. Yes. Sane of the  bmer boys c a ~ ~ i e d  it always (znd the teacher 
would call back, "So-and-so, stoke up the stove, now. Need a llttle more 
heat. 

So, I attended four  schmls-Lily was the f3rst one, and Vlgnos was 
the second one, and Bwnet was the thlrd one, a d  Hazel Green was the 
last one. We had t o  walk three mlles and a half t o  go t o  the V m o s  
School. 

Q. Three md a half miles ! 

A. Yes. And we walked it, you know. They didn't take us to school. 
It was a little under thee miles up here t o  the Wunet school so Dad 
went and got permission t o  tmns fe r  us up t o  the Burnet school, That's 
how I cane t o  be in It. We were not i n  that d i s t r i c t  but I went t o  it 
two years. 

We had a very brilliant teacher. He was a dope fiend but he was br i l l i an t .  
Oh, tha t  fellow was smart! His name w a s  Buc- and he was just p a l Q  k~ 
buf; he was cross as a bear. I thjmk it ms because of the dope, in a l l  
p r o b a b i l i t y x ' d  g e t 3  on dope ard he had t o  go t o  Raymorzd t o  get it If 
he got It. Mwbe M h e r  than that, I don't know. Everybody hew that 
he used dope but I never did see him drunk on it, or  ~lyth2ng but w h a t  
he was keen, He used a hickory. He  didn't mgqe wlth Hds. He'd take them 
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Bert  A i l m a n  

out ad @ve them a good tanrilng with the hickory, Boy, you miss two words 
in spe1lb-g axd held give them t o  you the next day and you miss them the 
next day and he took you right up and tanned your hlde . (laughter) 

Q. So it wasn't only discipline, it was rmlly makhg you learn? 

A, Yes, sir! Arzd I learned nrultlpllcatlon tables under hlm and he says, 
"Now you l e m  them backwards. " And I says, " A l l  rlght. I' Wasnl t long 
u n t l l  I could say a l l  of them backwards. 

Q. Dfd it take many hlckory s t i c ~ s  t o  l eam them? 

A. I never got whipped. (laughter) I was always up with w h a t  he re- 
quired. He'd stay In the country through the s m e r  t o  work with the 
threshing crews and so on and Dad told him one t h e ,  he says, "Bert I s  
got it in M s  head that when het s big enough, hers gokg  t o  lick you." 
(laughter) And he said the old man just m e  to  laid down and rolled. 
He said it just tlckled him t o  death, 

Q. What M of games did you play at school? 

A. We played ball but we didn't play baseball. It was what was termed 
iorm ball. You knocked a ball. If they could get it th row it In  
h n t  of you between bases, you were-at. They didn't have t o  touch you- 
throw It across your m e  of travel. That was our mh game and then we 
played kick the picket. You've played tmt, of course. Black m. 

Q. I'm not sure. kick the picket, you say? 

A, Yes, klck the picket. Smebdyld guard the picket. Somebodyld 
run i n  and Hck It aml then they'd have t o  be It, So it was just passd 
m o d .  It was just amusement, that was all. Main t h l q  was exercise. 
We played m b l e s  . "7 

. and klck the picket. Black m, Youhow - 
what Black rm is? 

Q. No, s l r .  

A. You don't? 

Q. I my h w  it but I'm not sure. 

A. Well, that way you chose sides. Wh.en the noon b e l l  was [rung and] 
we got done OW dhner, well, we'd s tep  outside and choose sides and 
that put one side aga3nst the other. Well, then we ran tlrough t o  the 
other slde and they lmd to  catch us. We started all In  a l ine,  You'd be 
stan- in line. I'd stand next to  you but you'd be on one l ine  and I 'd 
be on another. Well, I'd take off for  the 0.U1er side. If you could catch 
me before I got t o  the other line then I had t o  go back and take your 
place. So, a l l  of it was exercise-vigorous exemise. 

The last school I went to, I told about this noon 
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and recess. It wasrilt the l a s t  school. It was next t o  the  last school. 
A lady taught it and she was raised there In the neighborhood. There was 
two men that were gmwn men, one of them was 32 years old and the other 
one was 27 and they would cane t o  school. They'd ask permission of her if 
they could come t o  school and she l e t  them come. And they brushed up 
on w h a t  they wanted, mathematics largely. They'd bmsh up on it and they'd 
come jus t  the same as a scholar, by ,gum. Well, then with 63 scholars, 
she'd take In those two extras, you bow, arad l e t  thm . . . 8 
Q. What dfd a teacher have t o  do t o  prepme t o  teach? 

A. They had t o  have a second grade certificate fo r  their first school. 
You could get t h a t  by go* t o  ~ ~ l l s b o r o  amJ. taking an exmination be- 
fore the  superintendent of Instruction, you how, lyl the county. That 
was only g o d  fo r  one year's teaching. When you f in i shd  tha t  year, then 
you went back and applied for a first pade certificate which meant 
tha t  you had been studying as w e l l  as teaching and you advanced up t o  
where you could handle the advanced l i t e r a t u r e  In the school. 

I 'd glve my-thbg If I had my school books but you know I was the oldest 
and those thlvlgs cost like everything those days and Dad W poor* SO 
as quick as I fjnlsbed a book, It went t o  my brother below me and went f'rm 
h i n ~  to the next one. They wasn't torn up, they were used. I had a hlghw 
grade Erithmetic t ha t  I wmldnlt have taken ten d o l w s  f o r  but I l e t  
NeL have it in  school as a reference book and somebody s to l e  it, So I 
never bad a school book l e f t .  

We had Saunderls Readers 
@;reat deal of the= 
I don't bow whether you 
of the hardest along tha t  l i n e  
that were problems,-~ ' l l  t e l l  you he dld. If you could w o ~ k  t6e thh'd 
book of Ray's, you really had sane mathematics. 

Q. So you had t o  buy your own sch~o lbooks .  Mmt other equipment did 
you have? Paper, fo r  exmple? 

A. Well, we had a blackboard and the school flamlshed the chalk, That 
was all .  We had a . . . all of us had a slate and a slate penc21. That 
was instead of your notebook tha t  they use today wlth a lead pencil, you 
know. I never used a notebook in all rrly schoolwork, but alws a slate. 9 
Then you could wlpe it off ,  keep a damp cloth and wipe of f ,  go right ahead 
and put on another example. 

&. What size were the  slates normally? 

A. Slates? About as long as that paper and about tha t  wide. 

Q. So about 13 by 10 inches? 

'see addenda i tm  7. 

'see addenda i t an  8. 
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A. $ornet- U e  that and they were well bound. They were fkarnefi and 
well bound and then wound the cuter edge they had holes punch& and 
they run a weaving around there. Strlng c l ew  arowad the thing so Tt 
wouldn't come loose In one place and lose part  of it and so on, you how. 
They were g o d  slates. 

Q So you used chalk instead of pencils a l l  the way through school, I 
then? 

A. I used the s la te  pencil on the slate. That was jus t  another piece 
s la te  but it was cut i n  the shape of a pencil. Then you could W e  
deflnite marks with It and wipe them out and then the chalk was on the 
hlackboasd. That was what we used up there always. 

I guess you had t o  slap erasers together t o  clean 

A. Well, we had emsers  t o  clean It with. It was always somebody's job 
t o  clean the wasers once a week and t o  clean up the board g o d  and clean 
the last of the week, especially if we was going t o  have a spelllrg 
school on Saturday. 

Q. In the sports propam, the games that you played, were any of those 
games played between [schools]? 

A. Not between schools, on the games. Jus t  the spelling was the only 
thing that we had contests In. Oh, now 1'11 take that back, the kids 
did visit schools. They'd get p e ~ s s l o n  f'rorn their teachers t o  go and visitt 
a certain school for  an afternoon. O f  course, they played the g m s  but 
then they were not competitive. 

Q. What did you eat at lunch at  school? 

A. Well, we always had t o  carny a dsnner bucket and we tried t o  have 
sardwfches and Mother would put i n  a l i t t l e  glass of dessert of some klnd 
if she had it. If she dldnlt have it, why we just didn't have it. I jus t  
despise sorghum molasses yet because we (chcldes)  pew the sorghum, you know, 
and made the mohsses and we had that at  home. 

My dad was a beekeeper. T k ~ t  Is, he always had bees and we usually had 
honey. I didn't eat as mch sorghum as the rest of them dld. The rest 
of the f m l l y  1Ud it very mch but I didnTt. My wi re  liked it very 
much and my brothw today. I expect there's a part of a glass of it In 
there,  my s i s t e r  l&es it. I expect there ' s  pa% of a glass of sorghum 
in there now. 

Q. W t  Hnd of clothing dld you wear t o  school in those days? 

A. Jus t  like I've got on now, everyday work clothes, m d  they were not 
so expensllve. You could buy a very g o d  p a k  of overalls for  f i f t y  cents. 
You could get a shirt as g o d  as thls one Tor thlrty-five cents and shoes 
were a dollar and a half. Boots went higher, you had t o  pay about three 
dollars fo r  a good p a l r  of boots. All the boys, practically,  wore boots 
because we waded snowdrifts and everythfng, you how, an3 the girls-some 
of the g b l s  wore boots. I went to  school up here at Burnet and there was 
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one family at  Burnet that there was, I think there was, four girls l n  it. 
The* dad put bboots on than the same as he did on the two boys. It always 
made me feel  bad t o  hew them go clwnping up to class. I dtldnlt mind 
hearing boys do it but I did f ee l  bad fo r  those @Is. 

The teacher would  call a class. He had it stand rright in Tront of his desk. 
H e  sat i n  the back of the building, you know, and he'd c a l l  you right up 
close t o  M s  desk. You either sat  on the front seats or stood up, usually 
stood up. We didn't mind that became that was part of the exercise. 

Did have desks that  

A. Two at a desk. There was the back of this desk here, now, that sloped 
this way, [it] held my seat; and q y  desk over here was paYZ; af the next 
seat In Dont of me, you see. So that all the space was used. We had 
to scoot In  t o  get i n  the seat. They dld turn up, though. You could tu 'm 
them up and tumn them d m .  They were just wood seats. No cushlons of 
any Hnd. In l a t t e r  years, they had Ink. wells on them and we could use a 
pen. 

Q. And you say the teacher sa t  h the  back of the roan? 

A. Yes, he always had hiis desk at the back of the morn and when he called 
a class, why they came right up to that,  you how, and stood ln front af hSm 
and he'd give out orders to  recite-reading or  spel lhg,  

We spelled everyday, of course, and i n  the spelling in the everyday work, 
we  had t o  glve the deflnitlon of every word we spelled. That was a 
worderfulhelp t o  me when I went on the road as a telegmph operator. If 
I mew the de fh l t i on  of the word, why I could spell I t  comectly on the 
wire, see,';( So, it was a big help t o  me t o  have t o  take those definitions. 

Q, How large a plot of ground w a s  there mound the school? Was It an 
acre, or what? 

A. About an acre. 

Q. About an acre. 10 

A. And it belonged t o  the township. It wasn't assessed, you how. The 
ground around It was assessed but it wasn't. It was free of assessment. 
Fact is, the ground around It was assessed t o  keep it Etgohg. 

Q. What other buildings were there there? D i d  they have a small stable 
fop those that d g h t  ride horses? 

A. No, they didn't at m y  of the schools that I went to. If there was 
any of them rode, they brought the* own stable. Their dad would come and 
make a l l t t l e  lean-to, you know, t o  put the horse Tn dm* the day. 

Q. What material would he use? 

I U  See addenda Item 9. 
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A. He'd use plne boards. Those days you codd buy lwnbw,  you how, 
that was lumber, It was made of good stuff and it didn't cost so ter r ib le  
mch t o  put up a l i t t l e  place fo r  a horse; or mybe twa or  three of 
them would go together an l  make one, you how. But in q own famlly, 
we walked, we never had a horse. Dad came a f te r  us once o r  twice when it 
was rea l  stormy and brought an extra horse fo r  us to rlde. We'd ride 
three or  four of us on a horse. 

Q. When he cam af ter  you, was It a regular box wagon that he brought? 

A. No, he'd cane on horseback. ~ e ' d  ride a horse and lead a horse. Gne 
o r  two of us would get behlnd h h  and then f l l l u p  the other horse, you lalow. 
Then he didn't have t o  lead it a f te r  we got on, we'd take the bridle. 

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q. Was the weather i n  the winter ever severe enough so that you couldn't 
get t o  school? 

A. No, I don't ever remember a t h e  that we couldn't get to  school, 
but I can remmbber I t  belng so severe one winter that  we walked right 
across f ields on big drlfts over the fences. The fences were under 
drifts SIX and seven feet  deep and we could walk right on top of those 
drifts, too, and we would do that ; we 'd get up there and walk lnstead of 
W w  through the snow. 

Q. Did you use snowshoes? 

A. No, I never knew there was a snowshoe un t i l  I was grown. 

Q. Just regular bmts? 

A. Just regular boots and wool socks. Our feet got plenty cold even then, 
whlle we was out In the snow. But we never frosted them, never once do 
I remanber us hs.vlng f ~ o s t e d  feet. Worklng i n  the timber, we worked 
just In those boots but, of courae,we was working hard and got up a good 
flow of blood. 

Q. In the school actilvlties, how often ded the parents come t o  school 
t o  see haw you were do* o r  did they have meetings of some sort?  

A. Well, very seldom. My dad was a better educated man than the average 
run of the people around here and he only had the elghth made, that's 
as far as he come. But he was a p e a t  reader. He read eve*- that he 
could get hls hands on. In those days he took the only newspaper, I guess, 
that come t o  M o n a ,  I don't know. It was the Toledo Blade published 
In Toledo, Ohio. Come once a week. And when he got that paper, the 
neighbors knew when he got It ard they would come i n  ard he would read 
the entire paper t o  them, advert ishg ard everything. So he was a splendfd 
reader. He was the best reader outside of an elocutionist I ever saw. 
I couldn"c even canpare wlth him,  a t  all. He loved t o  read out loud and he 
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read the Bible through to  us twice dur1r-g WiLnter months. After supper 
he'd get out the Bible and just read chapter a f t e r  chapter un t i l  bedtime 
and I heard it read through twice. 

Q. Did he read other types of materlal t o  you7 

A. Oh, yes. He read eve ry th i i~  that was Interest- in that paper. 
!then it got t o  where he wanted books and there was no libraries. There 
wasn't any l ibraries short of St .  Louis o r  Decatur, you know. One of 
the neighbors, who was a m a t  reader also, got Dlckensl works, the 
cmplete works In  paper blnd-ing a d  they were that blg, Great blg books, 
Ha~d to  hold a d  not big print  but Dad read those things and my, w, my how 
we did enjoy them! There was - The Pickwick Papers and h V 1 d  Copperfield 

_C_ 

and all of them. We just loved them. 

Q. About what size Fn inches would you say the books were, 10 by 14,  or  . . . 
A, Oh, they were bigger than our slates. I would imagbe they were 1 2  by 
24. They were big a,rd he read the whole thlmg, There was a nwnber of 
volumes of Dlckenst works, you know. I've read The Pickwick',Paprs twice - 
since I've been mid. (chuckles) Just pick up th'e book-find It some- 
place, you bow--and borrow It and read it. I enjoyed it so much. 

Q. Did you take any magazines a t  tbt time Zn the family? 

A. No. No magazines. Didn't even have re lQious  papers. We had Sundag school 
papers in  the church, but that was the extent of p a p s  that  we got. We 
had quarterlies t o  study from, that was one thing, My dad was superintendent 
of Sunday school. 

Q. Where was that? 

A. The New Hope Church. Do you h o w  of it down south? The Baptist Church? 

Q Yes, I've hewd of it, I believe. 

A. Well, they attended that a l l  of the time af te r  we moved t o  the tlmber. 
When he was up here on Gerlachls place, he came t o  thls sme church that's 
In Waggoner now, the Baptist Church. It was buil t  out In the field a 
quarter of a mile south of the crossroads there, where you turn t o  go t o  
e l  It was built In that field, that church was, and we went to 
church there, AmI then a f te r  we moved away and I 'd  l o s t  track of thls past 
of the country entirely, why they took a notion t o  mve It in to  Waggoner. 
When the railroad went through and they got t o  build* a town there, why 
they moved It across country t o  Waggoner and never broke a p h S t W ,  never 
cracked it. I don't know how on emth they done it ,I2 

Q. And that's still the same building there? 

%ee addenda Item 10. 

12see addenda i t e m  1l.A. 
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A. Same building. And tha t ' s  got some of the most wonderm 1 
in it. I helped an e lec t r ic ian  wire in there through the attic %"A 
t rac t ion  e@ne could go up over the roof of it and pot b ~ a k  t'rlTo~gh. 
It's jus t  trussed so perfectly. kt we attended New Hope ~ h ~ c h  down there. 

Q. While you were Ilvlng there on the Wout place and then you moved 
over t o  the Gerlach place, what was your dad do*? What type of fanning 
was he dolng? 

A. Jus t  general, Raising corn, wheat, oats, and hay. He had four 
horses and a plow, and a pajr of culttvators,  and I'm not s m  whether 
he owned the p l a t e r  or  not. You know, f m e r s  those days b o r r o ~ d  one 
another's stuff a l l  arowld the country. They'd go In cahoots and buy a 
planter and a l l  of them use I t  around, you know, because they had- to  have 
a check wire to make check mws so they could cross plow it. Had they 
known what they know now, they wouldn't of had tha t  w 3 ~  because it was 
a detriment. Wlt that always went with the planter. 

Q. The check wire--what a d  it do? 

A. It dropped the hill. It ran thrmgh sane pulleys up here and then It 
h i t  a fork, It had knobs on It about the size of the-errd of your thwnb and 
those knobs couldn't go through these forks. The wlre would m along 
u n t i l  they [the knobs] would me  t o  that [fork] and then they'd f l i p  
back, jerk the plate around,le and %op the hi11 in to  the g r a d  a t  the 
right place. 

Q* And the pwlpose was t o  make them evenly spaced In both ways? 

A. Yes, make them evenly spaced, crossways as well as lengthways. I 
used a check rower a f t e r  I came up here in 1910. I b o w t  a planter 
wlth a check rower on it ard I used it for, oh, all the time I famed. 

So, the drilled corn, or the corn as they plant it now, came fn after 
they descovered, In the experwent s ta t ions,  that we were cutt- 
roots and retardkg corn Fnstead of develop* it. W t l s  what we were 
do* and so they began t o  t a l k  about drilling corn. Well, then they 
sent out corn planters wlth plates  that ran steady, you know, ard 
they jus t  drop a grain every eight hches  or  six Inches or whtever 
you wanted, jus t  like they do now. Gnly they mltiply t h e t h e y  were two 
rows to start on. Now they we six and eight, 

Q. D i d  your dad . . . 
A, He just had a two-row. 

Q. A two-row planter. 

13see addenda i tan 133. 
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A. And I'm not sure whether he owned it. I &her think that he 
borrowed it fYom a neighbor close by, I expect they bought it together. 
He sold out t o  the other man when he l e f t  because, when we wefit t o  
the  for ty ,  why we didn't have a planter t o  plant corm until we bought one 
at a sale. We had sales around the country and he got one at a sale and 
begm planting corn. 

9. Did he ro ta te  crops in those days? 

A. Yes. We tried t o  grow one field of clover each yew t o  Totate and 
we'd grow a c e r t a h  amount of wheat and that was sown t o  clover a d  that 
clover stood over wPnter then was cut fa r  hay the  next yeas. The 
next year, why we plowed It up as a rotation, you bow. So, we worked 
on rotat ion pret ty  hard because w e  dildntt have commer?Lcal fertilizers 
i n  those days. None at all. 

Q. No nitrogen or  anything? 

A. Not- of any kFnd. They did buy bone meal for  wheat once in a 
while. If they could afford It, they would sow bone meal with the  
wheat arid that stiffened the straw, made It st- up bet ter .  Made a 
l l t t l e  better yield, too. 

. What kind of wheat dld you pow? Bearded wheat? 

A. k l s e .  F'tilse wheat. Everybody .grew FXse. It was a red wheat, 
they would c a l l  it today, a red, hard wheat. It wasn't a soft wheat, 
It was a f lour  wheat. Well, then they developed from tha t  i n to  . . . 
The experiment stat ions began putt* out , . . you bow, 1: don't know 
the m e s  of the wheat that we used later on. Then they go$ tt get t ing 

wheat In, whkh is the best f lour  wheat them is, the haYld 
the 9 mey got it in ad tht was grown here i n  this pa r t  of the country wheat 
f a r  a long t h e .  It was bearded .I6 People didnl t ljke t o  work with it 
because it was mean t o  hardle. A l l  the tjme you got beards in your 
clothes, and beards down your neck, ad, oh, It was miserable stuff t o  
work with. But the experiment statfon took off the beard. Then they used 
it practically a l l  together In  the later years. 

Q, When dld you usually plant the  wheat in the sprfng? About what  tlme 
of yeax? 

A. Not In the spring. It was all fall wheat. Stood over winter. We 
tried t o  get it sown ear ly  In  September so that it would make a g o d  
growth for  winter coverage of the mots .  

Q. Then when would it be ready f o r  threshing the next spring? 

A, Well, the next year it would be ready f o r  harvest abovt the-to cut 
with a binder-about the Fourth of July. Well, then they went 112 
with the binder Cut it a d  bomd It in b m e s  and shocked 

15see addenda itw 13. 
'$ee addenda item 14. 
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It up and those shocks stood until the threshlrg mchlne came. Then 
there would be bundle wagons go and pick up those bundles In shcks  and 
brlng them in, pitch them in to  the machine. 

Q. Usually what t h e  of year did they thresh? 

A, They'd st& threshing the l a t t e r  par t  of August and go on u n t i l  
they had threshed out a te r r i tory .  The threshing machines developed t e m l -  
tor ies .  The a e r  boys had this t e r r i to ry  In here fo r  a number of years. 

Q. Is t h a t  Roy Baker and . . . 
A. Roy and Frank, Then, l a t e r  on, why, south of me got a co-op 
organized and bought a machlne of t h e i r  own 1P jus t  hired an @ w e e r  t o  
run the ergbe, smebdy  t o  run the e rghe .  The men themselves took 
care of the separator, they took t u rns  of takhg care of the sepaator .  
There's qu l t e  a l i t t l e  job t o  keep a separator oi led and so on, 

Q. You mean oiled wMle it was workhg? 

A. You had to stop it to o i l  it but then they had t o  know where t o  o i l .  
That was the s i ze  of it. If they neglected one bearing, it would bum 
out on them, you how. So, the men had t o  learn. It wasn't everybody that 
could take care of the separator, there was usually two men in the crew 
tha t  knew how. 

Q When gnur* dad was farmint; duraing the y e w s  you w w p  @ng to school, 
what power were they  us*?  id they have the  steam engines then? 

A. No. No, the f j r s t  steam engine I saw was the last yew we Was On 
the Gerlach place. It was jus t  a boi ler  set upright on wheels. They'd hitch 
four horses to it and hauled I t  from fm t o  fam. 

Q. It wasn't self-powered, then? 

A. No, It wasn't self-powerd. It wasn't even mounted; only on four 
wheels and they wwe only about so Mgh, so you wouldn't upset it. That 
was the  first steam e w e  I ' d  ever seen thresh, Well, then when we 
went down In tbt part of the country, why there wa6 a mn named 
S u l l i v a n 4 e r r y  Sulllvam-and hls brother, Steve. They bought an outfilt. 
They had some lard down there adjolnlng us, o r  close to us, an3 they bought 
a machine and started mmlng it. They had an ewlne t&t pulled itself 
and pulled the separator, and wasn't that smethhg !  

Q. What power did they use before they h&d the s t e m  powe~? 

A. They used 

Q. How would 

A. Well, did 

horse power. 

they do that? 

you ever see a horse-power? 

addenda item 19. 
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Q. No, SIP. 

A. You never seen one? Well, I donlt know whether I can describe 
it t o  you or  not. They were buil t  so that  you had t o  turn them wfth 
a team. You Mtch a t e a m  t o  them. Turn them round and round. There's 
a b Q  gear ln the center of it and it m over a little gear here that 
f'urnishes your power, You drive your team In a circle, just round and 
round. In fact, you don't have t o  drive thm, you t i e  them t o  a stake. 
They soon learn it. You just t e l l  them t o  get up and they go and that 
rurnished the power. 

Well, that power firnished the tumble-rod that went over here t o  a wheel 
that they could put a belt  on and it would m the separator. 

Q A tumble-rod, you say? 

A. Well, they called it a tumble-rod because the horses had t o  step over 
It every tjme a d  another thing, It had a-wbat do you ca l l  these t-s 
In  there-universal joint In  it. It had a universal j olnt; BO it was 
always called a tumble-rod. 

Now, they never threshed wlth one a t  our place but I seen them m, I knew 
how they did it. That thing, that power was qtt-lte a Job t o  move. It 
w a s  heavy and had t o  be l oadd  onto somet- and hauled to  another place 
and that  tumble-rod talcen down and the pulley taken off and 90 on, 
Then they got an e r g b e  that pulled Itself and pulled the separator and, 
oh my, w h a t  a worderful t h h g  it was. 

Q. Can you describe how the separator operated? 

A. Well, it operated just exactly llke a ccgnbiLne does today, just 
exactly. A ccanbine I s  an old sepmator  wlth an engine In It, that 's  all. 
There's an ergbe mounted Sn these things, in the combine. 

Q. The only difference would be you threw the bundles In  instead of 
cutting the wheat as you went through the field? 

A. Yes, the combine goes through the f ie ld  ard cuts the [gmjll] off 
and elevates I t  up into a cyl3nder just l ike the bundles ad, they went 
Into a cylinder. Those cylinders had teeth on them about the length 
of my fingers an8 they were very hard steel.  Then there was plates put 
down i n  the sepaulator that they ran between. They jua t  missed those plates, 
just went between them but a g a i n  of wheat coddnl t  go between them. 
So, when they hilt a head of wheat, why they l e f t  I t  back on that side of 
the . . . the . . . Oh, what am I t r y ing  t o  say? . . . Well, don't 
matter. k f t  It In the fYont of the  separator and I t  went d'own a c h t e .  
A bel t  carried it down a chute and It went in to  the . . , Now, 'XVm t e l l h g  
you wrong on that. It did carry It through, It carried it clear through - 
because it . . . the straw went clear through and so did the wheat and it - 
w a s  separated back there in the separator. 

They had riddles there that worked one above the other and they got 
smaller. The top ones took out the mln par t  aYld the others got a l i t t l e  
smaller unt i l  they got it down where it was clean wheat. Then that run 
down into an auger In the bottom of the separa to~  and that auger augered 
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it out Into the measurhg box, Somebody sat In that measuring box, 
was a half"bushe1, and l e t  the half bushel flow ard struck it off. 
You stmck It off wlth a straightedge and then you poured it In sacks, 
men-held sacks. 

Q. BY ''struck ,ft off:' you mean you . . . 
A. Struck it off level, so It would Jus t  be fill because they settled 
by that .  The tmeshing machlne se t t led  by that an3 also they counted 
that as a bushel of wheat. When two of those was dwnped Jn a sack that 
was a bushel of wheat. Oats they d i d n t t  use the half  bushel on. The 
oats run in there and they shoveled them I n t o  the sacks. If that wasn't 
some job! I did that, too. That did give you swnething t o  do. Take a 
f i e l d  of oats  makhg  eighty bushel, oats would come out so fast there It 
would W e  your head swlm and If you l e t  your box fill up, you had 
trouble spading. I would get so mad at the sack carr iers .  You'd get 
some pokey sack carriers; why, you'd be Wtbg t o  shovel, arad they'd be 
talking po l i t i c s  or   some^^. I'd y e l l  my head of f .  

Q. Why dld you sack it there? Couldntt you have taken it h a box 
wagon t o  the elevator? 

A. No, wheat was a l l  sacked In  those days from the  mchlne and it was 
hauled, i f  you put it i n  the granary, it was hauled up and the sacks 
were opened just dumped In the m y .  It went t o  the elevator 
In  sacks. We didn't have tight wagons then l i k e  we do now t o  haul- 
grain. It was a l l  sacks. 

I worked for  one man tha t  t;d two years wheat crop iLn a granary, He 
had rented a man's barn that Uved close t o  h b  and he had two thousard 
bushels of wheat In that barn. Wheat got t o  a dol la r  a bushel and he 
had a payment t o  make on hls fm. He saki t o  me, he sald, "I'm g o b  
t o  s e l l  wheat and clean up my debt," Thwe was two of us named Ber t  
wosldng there. About the same size. I was about sixteen and the other 
fellow was a Nttle older; he was a year or  two older than me but he 
wasn't any bigger. And we sacked that wheat, tkt two thousand bushels 
of wheat. He [the farmer] got neighbors t o  cow wZth the lmntxhg gears 
of wagons. In  other words, they took theilr b d s  off put bridge plank 
on the wagons. They would throw these sacks crossways of the bridge 
plank and take f i f t y  bushel of wheat at a load on a wagon. When they got 
t o  the elevator, why the wagon and a l l  was  weighed, you know, and then 
they went up ard dumped It in to  the elevatar ard come back weighed 
the sacks an3 the wagon. So, us two Berts kept them five or  six wagons a- 
runnhg. We like t o  worked ourselves t o  death. (laughs) *, my, my> we 
dld go t o  town! 

Q, Do you remember anything of the lunches or meals t b t  were eaten while 
you were threshing? 

A. Yes, the w e n  v led  with each other as t o  who could m l s h  the best 
meal fo r  threshers and we really Hved on the top of the hog. ( l a m )  
They really went t o  extremes. A t  the last, they got t o  where I t  r ea l ly  
was an extreme. They had everythlrq. They'd go and buy these baked hams, 
cut all the Fat off of it, s l lce  tha t  lean meat and put that on the table.  
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The men would e a t  thelr  fill1 and i t ' s  a wormde3: it d l d n t t  ldll them. 

Q. Speaking of food, back I n  the  school days when you weye llvm on the 
Gerlach place or  the Trout place, what types of things did you eat at 
home, say f o r  breakfast? 

A. Eggs, largely, and bacon.18 We c u r d  dzr own meat. Dad would 
kill hogs and salt I t  down. He had his bacon and hams and shoulder. 
Mother would usually try t o  have something Ln the meat line that she could 
make sandwiches of t o  put i n  our buckets. We depended on a sardwlch for 
dinner. We didn't eat a b ig  dinner, I'll b e l l  you that, because w e  were too 
keen t o  get out on the ball  f ie ld .  We d ldn l t  need a b i g  dinner. But 
we had plenty, enough, always and, as I &id, sheld try t o  put Fn,somethlng 
I n  the way of a Uttle dalntles-sometimes it would be not- but egg 
custard. We were a l l  fond of tha t  and a teacup or  two of tbat run us. 

Q What then would you normally eat  in the eve-? 

A. Well, we had a regular supper. We'd ham a supper of, usually, meat 
and potatoes, cabbage, beans, and so on, Just what we had In the way out 
of the garden, largely-In the f a l l  of the yem, at least. 'Then, through 
the winter the ,  of cowse, we had potatoes arJd they made lots of hominy those 
days fYom corn, the  whole a a i n  h-. Made It thmselves. We used l o t s  
of hominy, It could be frLed or it could be put on the table jus t  boiled 
and it was very good food. It was corn, you know, whole corn, $erm and all. 

END OF TAPE 

A. To make that, they had t o  put that corn though. a pre t ty  strong 
solution of lye  and It would loosen the  h u l l  on the corn and, after it 
had been in It so long, you could jus t  rub your corn l ike  that and all 
the hulls would c m e  off. 

Q. Just rub tt between your hands . . . 
A. Yes. It would be clean corn and it was sure good. 

Q. This was Jus t  n o m l  f i e l d  corn, was it? 

A. Yes. Jus t  whatever we had, but those days I never seen yellow 
corn mtil I moved up here Sn 1910, 

Q. It was white corn, then? 

A. It was all w h i t e  corn. They p e w  wh i te  corn altogether. !They began 
t o  learn yellow corn In Iowa and then there was  a seed house star ted 
developing it and sending It out. Now, it's all yellow. This man east  
of me here paws white corn. He has t o  b t  a special market. He can't  
sell It In the elevator. They won't mix it. It makes it look l i k e  rot ten 

''see addenda item 15. 
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corn; so  they won't buy It. He sells it t o  the homlny mills and, t o  . . . 
Oh, It goes south! I donl,t how, it . . . You've been In Florlda,havenvt 
you? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Did you ever eat any grits? 

Q. Oh, yes, s k .  

f o d .  

Q. You didn't eat grits here, then? 

A. No, I never heard of grits untll I went tkough Florida. 

Q. I see. 

A. And thal  was after I lived up here ten o r  fifteen years. 
homhy and w e  u s d  t o  get cracked h0min.y here. It was made 

A. (laughs) The pit mills, I think, get about half of it, because 
goes down there some place and i s  used fo r  h m  f d  more than stock 

We had 
f~ rn  whlte 

corn. They would break It up in mall pieces and sell it in the grocery 
store, Then we cooked ft until it was like the oth* h o r n ,  you lmow, 
cook it thoroughly a d  we used a lot of that but you can t t  buy It anymore. 
Can't get it at all. 

Q. Dld you eat much corn bread In those days? 

A. Yes. Quite 'a lot. Though my dad was a biscuilt man. He didn't have 
brealdast Lf he dLdn't have bfscuits and my mother baked them and of 
course we a l l  liked them. 

We traded wh at  f o r  f lour .  There was an old O.K. farmer's mill stood in 
Litchfield,lg n o r t b w e l l ,  it's right about where  Dr. Driscoll's off ice  
Is now, i f  you know where-I don't mean Doc B i s c o l l ,  I mean Doc B l l l l t e r .  
Do you h o w  where his offlce is? 

Q. No, SIP, I don't. 

A. Well, it's up Sta te  Street.  There was a mill there that would take 
the whole wheat t; w e l g h  It and give you the equivalent in flow. Every 
fall we took a load of wheat down ard ckmged it t o  flow aYld we had f l o w  
for  all wlnter. Well, that made splerfiid b i s c d t s ,  you know, Mother 
baked light bread, too. 

Q. When you brought the flm back, it was in sacks, I guess, was it not? 

A. It was In  the same sacks we'd taken the wheat In  only we changed $hem 
from outside t o  lnslde, you how. 

''see addenda i tw 16. 
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Q Did you haye any problem wlth keep- the  f lour  over the vdnter? 
DLd it spoil? 

A. No, we never had any weevil or bother that I ever rmesnber at all,  but 
nowadays, you'd have a t h e ,  you how you would. Jus t  have weevil, weevil, 
weevll-but we never dld have that. We didn't h?m near t he  parasites in 
those days, we do now. In fact, they grew worderful apples without spraylng 
of any W. J u s t  wonderful apples. I'd give a l o t  if I could get a t r e e  
of sane of those old- thers .  T k y  used t o  have Bell Flowers, Rambos, an l  
all of those old-tlme apples tMt  were so delicious. Northern Spy. I bet 
you never saw a Northern Spy. 

A. They grow than In Dakota yet ard once In a while they ship them down 
here. I see them on the m k e t  once In a whlle. They wqye a wonderful 
apple. Then there was Winesaps, two klnds of Winesaps. Then there was 
Rmanite, two a d s  of them, beg and l l t t l e .  Genetlm. You never see any 
of those apples anymore. I don't know why they went t o  Yellow Delicilou~ 
and Red DeUcfous. I think that the Red  Delstclous is a very poor apple, 
t o  my notion. 

Q When you Uved on the  %out place, dild you have an o r c m  there? 

A. No. No orchard there. We had an orchard, though, at the Gerlach 
place, a good orchard. We drtled apples. That was another thing, too, 
we dried lots of apples. h the fall of the year when they'd get ripe, 
why we would br- them In and peel them and cut them Ln about eighths, I 
guess, maybe a l i t t l e  less .  Then we had laths that we made frames of. 
We would spread tkm out on those laths so we could carry them and put 
them out on sheds where the sun would hl t  them a l l  day. CWe would] put 
msqul to  ba,r over there ayld welgh It down so the f l i e s  couldn't get on 
them and dry t b s e  apples, And, boy, if you ever tasted dried apple p ie  . . . 
( laughs 1 

Q. Really good, huh? You had potatoes, they dfdnlt requrwle drying. Was 
there anythbg e l se  t h a t  you stored over the w h t e r  that req&d drying? 

A, Yes, we dried pwrrpldn. I hat& the stuff but we used it. I dldnl t  
like it at all ,  but the folks dld and we dried quite  a l o t  of it. They'd 
jus t  cut pwnpldl? In rings, rather  tm, and string than on a string and 
put them out in  the sun, you know. They dried readl ly and would keep 
good. 

. Where did you store the apples and the drled putripldn? 

A. Well, that was all stored i n  the house or  in the smokehouse, They 
usually had good smokehouses those days, bui1-s that were free of rats 
and mlce, you how. You could store your meat in those places, We had 
a big box we put the meat down in, with a l i d  on it so those th-s couldn't 
get in to  it if' they dld get In there. A l o t  of the  t w s  were stored that 
way, put In boxe~ In the smokehouse ard stored, anything, 'chat; [it] 
wouldn't k a r t  t o  freeze, Course everything froze In there, you how, 
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But then we buried the apples. Wetd pick the apples in the fall  and we'd 
take them out and make a p e a t  row of them. Then we would get forked 
sticks and stard [them] up like this aver them and cover 'chat ~ 5 t h  a heavy 
layer of straw. Then [we'd] scoop d i r t ,  make a trench clear asom3 it and 
cover all of that with d l r t .  'Then when fall cme, we'd go t o  haul* 
horse manure and cover that over wlth horse manure. I don't Mow whether 
you know it or not but horse manure ferments and it wodd smoke. It would 
get so hot It would smoke in  the wlntertlme. The horse m u r e  and the  W 
and straw kept those apples f 'mm f'reezhg. The best apples you ever tasted 
came off of that ground. 

Q. DTd your mother do much ca.nning i n  those days? 

A. Yes, but you couldn't get cans. The f d t  jar wasn't lmom at that 
time. She canned in . . . oh, ja rs .  Take a big jar and put the fruit 
down in It a r ~ I  weight It, but it was more h c l l n e d  t o  ferment. It was 
hard t o  keep it rrom fermenting and we didn't m e  canned goods Uke 
they do now, home canned, I mean. Later on, when they began f'urdshiw 
cans and can Uds a d  so an, why,we canned an awful l o t  of s tuf f  but we 
still buried those apples because they were so~gocd and we buried the p- 
tatoes. Dad counted on f i f t y  bushels of potatoes t o  take us through a 
w3nter. We grew them ourselves, you bow, and we'd fix them just  the 
same as tk apples. 

Q. U s e d  fork& sticks, you say, ard formed W of a t en t  over them then 
covered . . . 
A. We'd put those s t icks  up and 
straw an that brush, you know. 

then we'd put bmsh thm sticks and 

Q. DId you use the  maylure technique on the potatoes? 

A, Yes. Everytkhg that we dldnlt want t o  f'reeze, you lolow, we'd pile 
that horse manure on there. Well, down there we had a barn and I guess 
fiive o r  six horses and there was qui te  a l o t  of manwe that we hauled out. 
Every week we'd p i l e  sane more m w e  on there. Then in the  spring of the 
year-we always burled than i n  the garden--when spring come, we'd spread 
tha t  rranme a l l  over the garden, you know. Tore down the apple p i l e  and 
the potato p i le  and took them In. 

Q. Were thwe any types of food that you genemlly bought in those days 
rather than . . . 
A, We bought coffee d sugar regularly. ~ometirnes we bought crackers 
but t o  buy cmckers you had to buy a box. A box was as big as a four- 
dozen egg case. It was a b i g  square box i f  you took It. I don't how 
what ft weighed but it was pretty expensive, anyhow. Well, i f  we bought 
a box of crackers, we counted on tha t  lastin@; us quite a while. 

We used l o t s  of potato soup. We k d  cows axd m i l k & ,  you how, and we used 
l o t s  of potato soup a d  crackers, bread, arad then Mother fried bread. I 
st111 llke *led bread. Take lI&t bread and slilce it and make you up 
a ba t t e r  af egg and milk ard beat it up thin a d  dip your bread in tha t  
andl then f'ry it. Oh, boy, I l i k e  it yet. 
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Q. But you didn't like sorghm on it, though? 

A. No! (laughter) I ate it those days but I gat nly flu of it. 

Q. How often duwling those days would the farnlly generally go t o  town? 

A. Once a week. 

Q. Once a week? 

A. Yes. Usually in the big wagon. We dldnlt have anytMng else to  
r lde  in. 1 was m i e d  and aww from home before . . . No, I wasn't 
either.  We got a spring wagon when I was about sixteen, I guess. Bcsn that 
t lme on we used the spring wagon t o  go to town for p c e r i e s  and so on. 

Q. Was this nopnally on Saturday or  Saturday evening? 

A. Well, usually the end of the week, The pacers had t o  carny most of the 
fanners on t h e e  books fo r  three months, until harvest t3me come, you how. 
So, it wasnlt any d l s p a c e  t o  ask f o r  c r d i t ,  Ard I don't belfeve that the 
grocers that we traded with ever shorted us, I don't t m  so, 1 think they 
were just as honest as we were and Dad always met Ms obligation on pa* 
them at the right the. 

&. Where was this? Was this a t  Nymond? 

A. Raymord. Eut we went t o  Litchfield f o r  the f lour  as I t o ld  you. We 
got that there. 

Q. How often dur- a  yea^ would the family generally go t o  Lltchfield? 

A, Oh, they'd go, I 'd  expect, in the sumnerthe, I expect they averaged 
once a month. We went t o  the shows. You M w  shows came t h r o ~ g h  those 
days-Baunwn and Bailey a d  a l l  of those big shows, Ehffalo ~ 1 5 1 . ~ ~  We 
never missed one of them! Dad would strain &elf t o  take us Hds t o  
see thm. 

Q. How would you get there? 

A. Weld go thevle 3n a big wagon. 

A. Oh, we'd a l l  go in the big wagon. Take horse feed, go t o  a w o n  
yard ard put the  horses t o  the end of the w o n  and put In the feed. They 
usually bad a place where you could get In the shade to  eat dmer  and we'd 
take o w  dinners wLth us and eat dinner. Then, we'd go t o  the show 
after h e r ,  you mow. 

Q. And then c m  back tha t  night or  did you s t ay  overmight? 
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A, No, we'd be out by five orclock ard corn horn at dght in t h e  to 
Wlk, do the  chores. 

How long did It take by horse ard wagon t o  Lftchfield? 

Two hours. 

Two hours then. 

Yes. You never figured l e s s  than that. The roads were just d i r t  roads, 
I know, and tha t  t h e  of year the dust would be about that deep, 

About six inches. 

Oh, how It would fog up! I never saw an oiled road until after I 
mved up here. In fact ,  1 help& put t h r a g h : t h e  o l l d  roads. Ira Baker 
was the road c o ~ s s i o n e r  a r ~ I  w e  voted t o  have some road oil. We could 
only have so much a l lo t t ed  t o  us because they didn't  have it at f l r s t .  
They didn't make the e f fo r t  t o  provide it. So, I would ride one direction, 
Xra'd ride the other. We'd see the farmers and t r y  t o  get s-twes 
enough t o  get Sprbgf l e ld  t o  l e t  us have the oil and we'd get that. If that 
wasn't a job! Every f m e r  w a n t d  M s  road oiled out Jn front of his house. 
Well, you'd have t o  t e l l  them you h d  t o  s t a t  smeplace x d  you had to keep 
adding t o  the  ad of that and so, "Werll start at Waggoner we'll o i l  R?m 
the end of where we get t o  and we'll get t o  your place evenlnally." Oh, we 
had a t h e ,  but we got it khrough fhal ly ,  got the  w h d e  township oiled 
and it ~sds a wonderfbl help. Before they had oiled mads, we be& t o  get  
Fords. 

Q, The Ford car, you mean? 

A. Yes. They would go throwh qulte a b i t  of hmd but the ~ o m b l p  bought 
some lran drags. They called them scrapem but they were reauy a dmg. The 
front part  of t h e m  was a blade that would l eve l  iLn front  of it. The back 
p w t  was a sfzaight up and down piece of steel and it leveled what the  front 
one f a l l d  t o  level. Well, w e  kept those things at certain places in the 
townshlp and when we'd have a thAw out In the  wlnter and we'd know we was 
going t o  have a bad mud deal, one of us would go with a four-lame team aml 
h l tch  on tha t  a d  drag the roads t o  town so we could get in. Then if It 
froze that nlght, we had a smooth track t o  Waggoner. 

Q. A r e g u l ~  hard road then. Well, sfr, we've been at it f o r  H t t l e  over 
an hour now and I t h b k  I 've got sufficient here t o  keep me busy for  over- 
night, at least, t o  get this transcribed. Do you feel  like we could break 
and pick up tomormw afternoon on th i s?  

(Tape was turned. off. Shortly thereafter,  the tap- was resumed in mld- 
sentence, ) 

A. . , . up t o  the time I was slxteen yews old, I .gave him [his father] 
half of a l l  I took i n  and then when we got in the tlmber, why of  COWS^, 
I dildntt get any wages, he collected all of it there. 

&. That was one area, the work in the timber, I think, that I. would want 
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t o  go In to  some d e t a i l  with you. 

A. Okay. That's all right. It was very hterestlng work t o  us because 
it was a new t-. Those pickets that we made. The woven wi re  fence 
wasn't known at that t h e  at  all .  You could buy barbed wtre by that t W e  
but you couldn't buy any k m  of a woven fence. No ldnd. So, sane enw- 
getic fellow p e ~ f e c t d  a mackhe and he wasn't a robber on It. I don't k n ~ w  
who he was or what state he was in. He pe~fected a machine that you could 
put r ight  on the pound, string the wires through it, and then turn the 
crank and weave pickets in  It. Turn the crank this way this bime, thls 
way the next t h e  . . . 
Q. Opposite, 

A. . . . and it would weave those pickets right in theye and you could 
W e  a good picket fence and it would turn  pre t ty  near anything, especially 
hogs. We made a thlrty-inch plcket f o r  hog fences. Them was a Lot of 
farms down In there that were fenced c lear  around with those pickets. They'd 
take t ha t  machine and star t ;  In. Three men cmld rmke a whole lot of fence 
in a half a day if they had the pickets. The wire looked. Just  l i k e  baling 
wi re  but those days it lasted twice as long as wire does now, if it wasn't 
burned up or  something. I don't know why.. What did they do t o  Iron? 

Q. Gosh, I don't know. 

A. It's not what It used t o  be. We used t o  get wi re  that lasted, you 
bow. T&t f k s t  b a u  wi re  that come around here didn't have any gal- 
vanlzing an it but it would last aml l a s t  a d  last. I don't know what they 
done. 

But, anyhow, that looked just U e  ball% wire, Jn size. They'd have 
the* posts set aMJ. their wires stretched around and then m this machine 
along d tack thm on. 

Q. M they would do a whole forty-acre fleld, fo r  example? 

A. They could do that .  Some of then, they'd been mldng hog fences of 
SIX-Inch planks, you know; nailing them about that far apart. 

Q. About six inches. 

A. Wdl, this was so much be t te r  and so much eastler, too, because you 
l e f t  it, you dldnlt have t o  tear it down and build it every yea?, 

Q. I n  the t M e r ,  you were Jn the process of maldag the  pickets. 

A. k d  was the rlver, they c q j e d  thm. He harmed t o  use the tool-they 
had a tool  they called a fYoe. It was merely a piece of steel about 
t h l s  long . . . 

L i  
?he  Fme i s  a cleaving tool  f o r  sp l i t t hg ,  or riving, staves, 

shingles, and the l l k e  f'rom blocks of wood. One w b  pepformed this riving, 
was called a river. [Ed. 1 
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Q. About a foot long. 

A. . , . a d  about four inches d d e  an3 It was tapered down. We d;ldnft 
keep it as sharp as an axe but it was sharp so you could &rive it down into 
wood. Then on thls erd of it vms an eye in wMch you could put a M e  
t o  hold t o  while you manipulated it, you know, Well, you take a block of 
wood a d  set  It up here an3 put that old long t h h g  on there and drive it 
in as far as you could drlve it. Then st& pry* and go sQht down, off 
would come a slat, you know. We had t o  saw those blocks the right length, 
s p l i t  them I n t o  eighths, peel them with an axe, and usually heart thm, arad 
then turn them over t o  him, t o  use the Ssoe, you see. 

Q. What was the right length, normally? 

A. 'L"nirty inches was f o r  hog fence. We made more of t h a t  than ~~. 
We made a few m e n  fences, four feet,  but that was dlff lcul t  t o  get 
tlmber for  that. Four feet is ~ u i t e  a long s t r i p  of timber . . . 
Q. For be- straflght and all. 

A. Yes. lW&g the slat of It. Those were s p l i t  off .  They were not 
sawed or anything, they were just  split with the @alY1 of the wad. Of 
course, they seasoned In the wlre. Then, I don't how how long the fences 
lasted. I bow they lasted quite a long t h e .  

Q. You had a team then that cu t  the wood and went through a l l  these pro- 
cesses, About how many of these s la t s  would you make in a day? 

A. Oh, I can't . . . I can't t e l l  you. I've los t  that. We piled them i n  
piles, ten i n  a layer, then crossed them, ten agaln, and the man who was 
pay* for them could count very quickly how many he was buying. They 
were not OW timber. It was always sanebody else's tlmber we was work- 
in and we fixed them so the man could sell thm or use them, He could tell. 
We were paid by the pickets we made. I don't rem-w w h a t  he got, whether 
two cents or one cent o r  what. 

Q. Was this yow father 's industry then? 

A. During the winter. We worked a t  that a l l  winter, yes, s J ~ .  

END OF SIDE ONE 

A. And we work& up a l o t  of thber ,  too. Then, when spr- come, why 
both of us worked on a farm as hired men. He and I together would put 3.n 
what crops there was there on the for ty ,  usually about fifteen acres. men, 
we'd work fo r  other fanners t o  get along. I worked many, many, many days 
f o r  fifty cents a day, twelve hours, 

Q Twelve hours. 

A, Went t o  work at  sunup and you quit at sundawn. 

Bert Aikman Memoir, Vol. I -- Archives, University of Illinois at Springfield



Q. That's a p re t t y  good day f o r  work. 

A. 1'11 never fbI?$& my f b s t  sui t .  The neighbors wanted t o  sow oats and 
I was 'big enough by that tlme t o  hold a walldne; plow ard two horses. I 
followed a walldrg plow a straight week and I thought my legs were going t o  
quit .  Ooooh, they got so sore, I just couldn't mlk at all and I 
got three dollars.  They gave me three silver dollars for  the whole 
week and I went home and I said, "Dad, I wan$ t o  go t o  town arxl buy a new 
suit." He said, I1We11, a l l  right. You've e w e d  iit.I1ll take you in an3 
we'll get a suit.11 And we went in ahd there was a Jew store there in 
hymond--man named Leesm-and Dad to ld  him, he says, "Now, thfs is  thls 
boy's first suit$-I mean a tallor-made or had-me-down, whatever you call 
It-and he says, ''Hers got three dol la rs  and he wants a s a L t . I 1  [The me+ 
chant] says, "Well, IT 11 get hfm a suit fop that. " He brought out a s u i t  
and It fit me good ard it was a pret ty  s u i t  arad he says, "Now, that's a 
mlghty good piece of cashere .  That w i l l  just wear Hke Fron." And it did. 

Good night! 1 wore that unt i l  I quit wearin$ it f o r  a Sunday suit. I wore 
It a l o t  f o r  work. W e e  dollars! 

Q. Gee whiz, three dollms for a srdtl Well, sir, I need t o  check this 
word list wlth you . . . 
(Tape stops a d  starts, portion not transcribed.) 

Q, . . . and that was town bal l  that  you played. Town? 

A. Town ball. We called it that. I don't bow whether anybody else 
ever lay& It but that school. (laughs) I never played it mywhere 
else. 2 I. don't know, but we developed it anyhow ard tha t  was om 
p e  because, we . . . Thatls another thing I ought t o  t e l l  you. When 
we moved down there on that railroad, we knew that the  railroad was uslng 
rubber car springs. Now, that's smethlng you never heard of, 

Q. No, sir .  

A. And we went to hunting for a car spring that had broke loose and fe l l  
off  and it wasn't long u n t i l  w e  fourd one. It was a sol id  piece of rubber 
about that deep . . . 
Q, About s l x  inches deep. 

A. . . . and about that big around . . . 
Q. Almost a foot. 

A. . . . and It had a hole f o r  a bol t  t h o u g h  It. Z23e bo l t  had broke and 
l e t  the thing drop. The wei&t of' the car sat right on, just worked up and 
down on that piece of rubber. They didnl t have springs on than at all,  Well, 
we took a saw and. sawed that thing In two and then we sawed out pieces, 

2 2 ~ e e  adderda I t e m  18. 
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quarters, Ilke you'd cut a cake. Then we took thm and whittled them with 
a pockethi fe  wtll we mde balls of them. 

Q. Oh! 

A. And those waa the d-est ba l l s  . . . (laughs) . . . th&t we ever 
played with, cause a man could knock one of them almost a quarter of a 
mile. You couldn't catch them on the f ly .  Wtrs the reason we played 
t r m n  ball ,  where they could throw them across in front of you, you 
know, and put you out. You wouldn't throw it to  a fellow t o  catch. ?"ne 
catcher stood b e M  the bat; he stood far enough f o r  a f b s t  bounce. 

Q. M you just went along the railroad tracks until you found one that 
had fa l l en  off of . . . 
A. Found one of those sprhgs .  Of course, we stole it but it would have 
never been picked up. 

Q. Well, that was a good supply of balls. 

A. That made balls a l l  the time tha t  I went t o  school there, W e  whittled 
them out. X made most of the bats. I 'd  go down to the cW& and f h d  a 
dead wilLlaw tree and f lnd one tha t  was f&ly strailght and I worked a bat 
out of that. Willow was tough an3 light but It was heavy e m &  for  those 
balls. SometWm we'd play two-cat with those thfngs. 

Q. Play what, sir? 

A. Well, you aml I woad stand beh id  two a l s .  They would be at bat. We 
would throw that b a l l  and they knocked it arYd we caught it If we could. 
Then we'd throw again, you know, and a f t e r  they knocked tlvlee ba l l s  they 
had t o  c m e  comers. They had t o  mu? tkough and if we could cross them 
out, we crossed them. We dld cross them (laughs) because it was too h a d  
to catch that ball .  

Q. What would happen, would they ju$ bounce out of your harmds when you 
t r i e d  to catch them? 

A. OH, boy! It was just like catching B piece of iron. We didn't have 
gloves i n  those days, Why, I never saw a pLtcherls m i t t  until I was grown, 
We caught thm barehanded, you bow, and I remember one t lme we was play- 

two-cat, The @l on my end got a g o a  clew shot at it and she 
knocked tha t  ball and h i t  the other woman right In the cheekbone here. It 
dldnlt quite h o c k  her down but it come a w l  close t o  It and boy did she 
have a , . . 
Q. Swel ld  up, huh? 

A. She dldnrt  cry. I thought she'd cry but she didn't.  She held it back. 
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(tape stops a d  s t m t s )  

A. It was Pennirgton. Yes, Pennington. He'd been the superintendent 
of schools d m  3n Jersey County a r d  he had gatten beat at the election 
and he just went back t o  teaching a.rd he come up and bld h t o  our schools, 
He was a mathematician-oh, I don't know how big-but he just loved m t b  
%tics. When he got the A a r i t b e t i c  class-that was the top one, you 
bow-when he got them up t o  the board, the res t  of the school just done 
as they pleased. (laughs) I seen a fight one day in the schoOboonl 
while he was Ustenhg t o  the A arithmetic class. He  turned around, one 
fellow had hLt the other fellow and knocked hlm over a seat. He made 
qulte a racket, you bow, and the old man turned around a d  he says, '%hat's 
going on here," and, of course, they admitted that they was in a fight. 
He took those two boys up there ad he had seasoned switches, luge 
switches. He  made them get on thelr  hands and hees  and he put the* heads 
between U s  b e s  and held take that  old cane and come down on t h e b  back 
ard it would double down over t h e k  runrp &-oh,  boy, did he l i c k  them! 
I never saw another fight. (laughter) 

He'd k l l lme  i f  I told that, I expect, I f '  he was allve. He was a man 
past middle age then, though. He w e  was a mthematfcian and he had 
short cuts. U s  boys t r ied  to figure out Hs short cuta. We did sane of 
them, we got onto them. He was a great wut t l e r .  He  M t t l e d  a l l  the 
time he was hear- a class. He brought wMte p b e  st icks wlth hlm about 
an lnch s q w e  and he would whittle them three-cornered places on thern 
ard them was where he did his aritkrmetlc. He'd rub that out, put It 
on with a lead pencll, you know, and he'd mb thm out. He'd never let 
one of us get ahold of one of them, So, we went t o  figur2ng t o  catch him 
and we f3_llally figwed out, We could beat him on the problem, finally. 
Well then, he gLve up, he knew we had hls secl'et. But he was a whiz on 
aritkrmetlc. He taught the school tbt winter &, as I say, he paid no 
attention t o  noise, didn't care how much they whtspered or what  took place 
down there as long as they had the* lessons, But they better have them 
because those hickorles came dawn easy. 

Q. And he used it i f  you didn't have your Lesson? 

A, You bet he used it. I never got whzlpped Xn school but I t h o w t  sure 
I would several times. I wasnT t good by a whole l o t  but I just dldni t get 
caught. 

Q. How lxrge was the Trout fm? 

A. The N u t  farm was 160 acres. Dad was there two yews and he recuper- 
ated some, got a l l t t l e  ahead, you how, and then he wanted up in  this 
blacker d i r t .  That's in  whiter s o l 1  down there, nearer to  the th-ber- 
land. You probably don't know it, but there's a break i n  the soi l ,  the 
second glaciation is  a l l  we got through here, we never got the third and 
part of that down there, I think,wa,s cheated even on the secon3. It's 
called timberland. Well, Itlll grow wheat even superior t o  this, If they 
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get it In r igh t  and take care of it. Them's where the chlnch bugs 
originated. There's where we had the awf'ul t h e  wlth chilnch bugs, at 
one t h e .  So, that land, even the hme place, w a s  in that tMer1a;nd. 

Well, now since they have obtalned tractors-I don't h o w  hardly how t o  
explain t o  you. When they s t z t e d  Tn here with teams, axd oxen, and so 
on, t o  famlng, they plowed the same depth every yew, one year a f te r  
another. They just plowed just a certain depth. Well, In  t he  course 
of time, plow-pan developed there, and t h a t v $  what they temed it In the 
experiment statlons, plow-pan. 

Q- A hard area? 

A. This was a hard place that water dildnlt penetmte so that the subsoils 
were robbed of the water they should have got through the wlntexl and 
spring, you bow. W e l l ,  pretty near every one of those places had plow- 
pan and when they got tractors and began t o  f e r t f l i s e  and so on, they broke 
that plow-pan. They went down anothw four Inches probably. It had been 
plow& about f o w  inches; they went down about eQht and broke that all up. 
Well, it was XSke break* out a new plece of land, almost. It got  the 
subsoil watered and aerated ard s k c e  then I've been made t o  just marvel 
a t  what t rac tors  dld t o  this country. Ehen Ln here there was plow-pan, 
right hwe in t M s  good black d k t .  Plowed the same depth every year and 
that plow-pan developed; well, you could see It when you broke it LQ; 

it w a s  just hard as s la te  pret ty  nem. 

Q. So the 160 acres of the Trout place was further south? 

A. % t ' s  the Way I remember It. Now ft could have been 120, You mybe 
better m y  a 1.20, but T think i t  was 160; but it w a s  white land and he 
wanted up In the black land. Thc black land stasts h--do you-mow where 
Bill Ralley used t o  live? 

Q. No, sir. 

A. Dild you ever h o w  the Bemhg place? 

Q No, sir. 

A. You knew where the Harberts lived. 

Q. Yes, The old Star r  place? 

A. Yes. Well, about a mile and a half south of there was the drop-off. 

Q. Just about along where Route 48, then, muls going I n t o  Raymond. 

A. Yes, that's right. W t  could be class& as the dWv1din.g line, and 
yet there 1s some awflA good black d i r t  south of [Route] 48, sane farms. 
When you get a couple of m9les south of there, you begln to hit the 
t3mber s o i l  where t h b e r  was cleared off of thm, put in cttltlvation. 
Then they produced real goad for ,  oh, a mrmbe~ of yews, even that tinbey- 
lard. 1 saw five acres cleared one wlnter when we were w o r m  wlth the 
plckets. There was a neighbor that was aclear- five acres ard he gave 
away the wood to get it hauled off Ms place. Held chop It and t r b  it 
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up and gave it away and he broke out filve acres. Well, tha t  five acres 
has been farmed until i t ' s  just  as bad off as the r e s t  of I t  n ~ w  because 
[of 1 go* too long wlthout recuperating. Now, when they put the 
fertilizer on, what the experiment station says they need, they can grow 
crops. kt they don't get the rajn we do here . . . as a general thlng, 
they do cer ta ln  seasons but, as a general t-. 

Now, rqj father had just his forty acres. %ere was about fifteen of it 
was fanable .  The res t  was tilmber pasture and we'd keep seveml head 
of COWS, horses, and so on; the gmss in there, you how. Fine Wass, p w  
wonderful blackberrks. There was a creek w i l t h h  a qumter of a mile of 
our home. That was  pretty nem heaven t o  us boys, t o  have that creek 
to s w h  i n  and t o  f ish In. The railroad ran rl&t alongside of it. It 
was one side of the forty. Oh, we just  loved that place, you lmow. 

Q. That was after you moved down t o  Honey Bend or t o  that vicinity. 

A. Now, up In here, the farms were all of pretty mch the same quality 
of black s o i l  and ilt just depended on the d r w e  a p e a t  deal f o r  the 
productivity of It. They begin ditches and drakhg off the s q l u s  
water and that  was a wonderful tw, but, w, It was some job t o  dig those 
dltches. The year that  I worked for  Tom Richardson, the fjrst ye=, we 
dug a ditch across one side of M s  fields and down through John C4erlachfs 
flelds. I worked t m y  days, r ight  stralght along, except Swlday,  on an 
old scraper. We'd take a team and go down in the bottom of that ditch and 
f i l l  her up wLth dirt. Then you had t o  c k h b  that bank and hold t h a t  
scraper so it didn't s p i l l ,  so you could clean out that mch otlC of the 
d.itch.22 Well, we  dug over a quarter of a mile in that t M y  days and 
It l e t  some land up In the northeast corner of Richardsont s place [become 
usable], brought i n  mre land, don t you see? 

Q. Did you have any problem with dralnage on the Gerlach place when you 
were living there? 

A. They was a big ditch went to the west of it 23 but I never knew it to 
be cleaned out whlle we had anything t o  do a t h  It. They eroded very fast. 
You know, water running off of plowed p o d  and alluvial soi l ;  they flll 
up, rapidly, and that dltch w a s  never cleaned dwhg my knowledge. After 
we l e f t  It, I suppose somebody dld clean it up. That was good black land. 

In the southeast corner of that 120, there was a swamp that hadn't been 
farmed. They &d j u s t  got a dltch t o  it and began drainage In it when 
we mved on the place. So, we never dld get t o  farm it, that was waste- 
land on that corner. But that  was next t o  George Fooks' land ard George 
was always slaying, llThat ditch down there!" Now, George was a progessive 
man , . . You remember Geome, can't you? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

2 2 ~ e e  addenda item 20. 

2 3 ~ e e  addenda i t e m  21. 
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A. Very propess ive  man. A pea t  reader and he studied those tJxhgs, tool 
I learned an awfU l o t  from George Fooks. He was the first man I ever 
worked fo r  as a hired man. He took me when I was about seven years old 
and put me on the stack with h b  to stack-they stacked a l l  the wheat 
them days. He took me up there to turn b d e s  around the right direction 
for hlm to lay them. He worked on his knees. The fellows on the wagon 
threw the bundles up but they couldn' t place them, He had me place them 
just so he could s lap  them down and get on them with his knees, I got 654 
a day! Just think of it. (laughter) 

Q. In other words, you wme loading a wagon, we= you? 

A. No, we were on a big rick. He was building a big stack of wheat and 
then he'd build another one over here. The thyeshlng machine would be 
set directly between those ricks. They'd pitch from both sides into the 
threShing machine. The reason they stacked St was that they might replow 
the wheat ground and put i n  another crop. !They followed crop a f te r  crop 
a lot of the time there. 

Q. Wlth wheat, you m e a n  . . . Would that be wheat they were f b l l o ~  with? 

A. Yes. Wheat agafn. They plowed so as t o  8ow It wlth2n the fifteen 
first days of September. That was wheat s o w  t3me. After I c a m  up 
here, there was a law made In the atate that you couldn't sow wheat before 
the sixth bec se of the HessLan fly. It had been brought in GerV!aW 
in seed wheat3' ard that fly rinished N s  breeding by the sixth of Septew 
ber. If you waited un t i l  after that, your wheat would be clear of eggs until 
the next year, 

So, that was the beghnbg of the experbent stations tel- haw t o  do 
things, you see? Well, that w a s  followed by chFnch bugs. We never had 
grasshoppers t o  destroy crops here but we dild have them bad enough tkla'c 
we harvested them and Mlled them. We had what we called a gasshopper 
catcher that was a big box about so high . . . 
Q. About a foot ard a half high. 

A. . . . and the f'ront of it was b r i a t  th and down here was a two-by-four 
that you drug and it hit the clover, they'd be i n  the clover f ield,  you 
know. Hit the clover and the grasshopper would jwnp and he'd see hls 
shadow, o r  reflection, ard he'd jwnp t o  where the other one did, Well, 
when they dmpped down, why they inmediately f e l l  back under that tln. 
They didn't have sense enough to come back out. The back of it was screened 
and they would t r y  climblzlg that screen and so . . . Well, when we got that 
thing f'ull, we sacked them up and hung them on a fence post, lef"t them for  
a couple of mnths and then fed them t o  hogs. They made good tankage. 

Q. Dld you tow this vdth horses through the clover? 

A. Yes. A horse on each end. We had to waJk to do it, you how, but 
those days there was no question about walkkg, Everybdy had mown up 

2 4 ~ e e  addenda item 22, 
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Q. Could you ta lk  a l l t t l e  b i t  about the cultivation of the corn? What 
you used, equipment. 

A. Corn, they f i n a l l y  learned a f te r  a whlle that It wouldnrt ruln a corn 
crop t o  get on it, after it was about that high . . . 
Q. About three Inches. 

A, . . . with a harrow and h m o w  the pound thoroughly. That killed 
weeds that were at the top of the soil. Hoes do It now, you mow, but 
them days lt was just a hamow.  They would W o w  corn thoroughly the 
first time. Then the next t h e ,  why we'd take the cultlva'cors. They 
were two-shovel affairs, one shovel se t  ahead of the other ILke this .  
W s  one throwed the dilrt thls way (motionlmg away from an bmgLmry row) 
and this one throwed It this way ( r rmtionl~ t o m  the row) so that you had 
some loose d k t  thrown 3n aminst  your corn plant t o  cover weeds that were 
around It. There was also a fender that went along here, of this one, that 
kept you fim covering up the corn. You'd t h r o w  [dirt] against it and it 
would l e t  It fall down i n  the row of corn. That was the ffmt cultivation. 

Well, then a f te r  you got over it the f i r s t  the, it should, ZY1 21 Very 
short time, be about so high. Well, then it was crossed. You went cross- 
ways of it. That time you dldnt t  have t o  watch about covering up, you had 
both shovels set f a b l y  straight, so that they just throwed a l i t t l e  t o  a 
sZde but s t i l l  dirt, In  the row a11 the t b r ~  to  . . . 
Q. Did both of these shovels go on the s m  side of the row of corn? 

A. You had two of those on a cultivator. You had two shovels on thfs 
side arzd two shovels on this slde and handles t o  them, walking plow 
hardles, and you walked behind there, held them close t o  the corn and If 
you seen an extra weed, you could swing them h t o  it. 

Q. I see. I ~ I  between the Ml l s ,  then, you could swing t h m  together more, 

A. Yes, you could bring them together. Then, after that had beeu done, 
corn stood then usually un t l l  we got the wheat cut. That would be about next 
after the corn was crossed. We'd get the wheat cut and then we'd go back 
and lay it [the corn] by. Well, it would be as Mgh as that table probably, 
when we l a id  it by. We plowed It lengthways agaln this the, same as the 
f k s t  t k ,  and you'd set your shovels t o  tWow everything in the row, you 
made a ridge about so Mgh around the stock. We thought that  had to  be 
done t o  make it hold up, you how, [the] corn row. Well, It would put out 
spur-roots, above tha t  dirt even, t o  brace I t s e l f ,  So, that was the . . . 
Q. Were the cultivators . . . You say you walked b e n d  them, you didn't 
r ide on them? 

A. They f lna l ly  got seats on them but they dldn't fo-I worked for Nr. 
Richardson, that last year was 1900, and I walked with the cultivator that 
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day, or that t*. 2 5 

Q. D l d  they use a two-horse team, or  just  a . . . 
A. Jus t  two horses on a cul t ivator  and those horses l e a d  the work as 
well as you a d ,  They mew how t o  twn a r o d  at the end without break- 
3 . q  down all the corn. (laughs) When you was lay% by, they broke down 
corn bad,Teaple  liked mules be t t e r  than horses t o  lay corn by with 
because they wouldn't break it down. A mule would step m o d  th3ngs. A 
horse w i l l  just knock them over. 

So, the walldrg cul t ivator  was s t i l l  i n  existence when I quit. I qdt in 
1900 and went teleqaphlng. I went t o  learn it. 

Q. In the fall, about w h a t  time of year did you stxrt cutting the corn, or 
gather* it in? 

A. Well, t ha t  depended largely on the corn you planted. Nbw, there was 
an earlier and a later variety of corn, lyl those days, without us kno- 
it but some would mature two weeks earlier than the other. I never heard 
them say, "I'm planting an emly variety1' o r  " I ' m  p lantkg a late variety," 
o r  anything. Usually took about efghty-four days f o r  a corn crop, from the 
t h ~  you planted it, t o  mature ready t o  start harvesting. We'd start 
husldng, a.rd the  huskhg was a l l  done by hand, you bow. I have rr(y old 
hook and shucldng peg yet.  

give them t o  you. 

Q. Well, we r@ht take a picture of them t o  put wjith this record set .  
Could you describe what it is, the pitck? What does ib look 1Fke7 How i s  
ilt used? 

The the hook? 

Q. Yes, s b .  

A. You know, I've got them out there. I'll show them t o  you. Oh, you 
don't want t o  take the t l r rbe now. 1'11 have them f o r  you tomorrow. 

Q. A l l  right, sir. 

A. They're out In the tool box. And the shUCkhg peg went over yoW 
whole hand here, right in here [po in thg  ta palm], and stuck out about 
so far and that was pointed. You'd shove that in to  a shuck a d  sock your 
thumb down on it and t e a r  the shuck up and sltp your hand in a r o m  the ear.26 

"see addenda i tan 23 

2 6 ~ e e  addenda i t e m  24. 
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Put thjts one in up at the top and snap them off  l i k e  that and throw than 
i n  the  w o n ,  There was men that developed two hwdred bushels a day In  
husldng, In contests, but [for] most of us, Wce me, eighty bushels was 
a big day's work. You jus t  husked it and put it in a cr ib  a d  2t cured. 

Well, we could start shucking corn two weeks emlier than they can s t a r t  
witth the combines today because the cob was &;reen. You t h r e w  it 3n the 
cr ib ,  It dried out, you know, a d  didn't  mold. The corn finished up 
dry- In  the cr lb but today they must w a l t  until corn I s  ready, a 
c e r t a h  grade up not very m c h  under 10, o r  uh, not much under 12, moisture. 

Q. Would that be 1 2  percent moistme, you man? 27 

A, Yes, i n  the grade. If you go t o  the elevator, you see them jab a 
great spout i n t o  the load of corn, take It out and pour it . , . They 
a re  very meticulous t o  get  jus t  exactly so much. Then, they put that on. 
a scale and wePgh it t o  get the weight of the corn. So as t o  know what 
to count as a bushel, you know. Then that's dwnpd into an electric 
machine tha t  tells you the moisture content just as quick as the hand can 
get over it. 

Q. Oh, i s  that r ight?  I haven't see that. 28 

A. You go over t o  the elevator and loaf wound some when they're 
br ingkg  T.n corn. It's qulte  interesting. 

Q. Did you shuck a l l  the corn or did you shock any of it, cut and . . . 
A. I hated fodder, A s  I told you, I worked out, fYom the  tlme I was 
tlnilz?teen on, for fanners. A number of them were cattle feeders and they 
cut a l l  t h e i r  corn and put it In shocks. I 've got up of a rnomdng when 
it was pouring down rajn, hitch a team t o  a wagon and go out and tear 
tha t  corn loose and throw it on a hay frame and the water run down yow 
neck, you how. Good night! I learned t o  hate fodder just Uke I h a t d  
polson. 

Q. Dld your dad shock the corn when he was on the farm out at . . . 
A. Well, yes he did, that's to feed the ca t t l e ,  what cattle he had, held 
cut the corn. That was another jab that was a hand job, You took a corn 
h l f e  and went In the f leld and you measured off sixteen hills, each way. 
Then we fixed what we called a "horse," crossed four M l l s  l i ke  tha t  and 
tied thm. 

Q. Wlthout cutting them, just  . . . 
A. Jus t  the hills of corn and then we'd start in c u t t h g  right around 

'(see addenda item 25. 
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them and set Sn enough t o  brace them from all sitdes. Pretty soon you'd 
have it so the  whole thbg was braced and you cut wherever you wanted 
t o  around and around, u n t i l  you got the sixteen hllls cut. We used t o  get  
ten cents a shock f o r  c u t t b g  one of those flelds. 

Q. How rrmy could you cut In  a day? 

A. Well, I could cut sixteen, that was about the best I could do. My 
brother next t o  me could cut twenty-four. He worked a different system 
*om what I did. I jus t  cut right around the shock. He'd s W t  In and 
go r ight  through the  field and he'd make all of his "horses," as we 
called them. Then he'd start cuttWg down. Held cut from this shock to 
that shock, set It up, and from that shock t o  the next shock and se t  it up, 
and he could cut twenty-four In a day; but I never worked that, that was 
too rmlch c ~ g ~ .  You had t o  carny sixteen Ulls of corn andl, if it was 
g o d  corn, you got sixteen blg ears, o r  th3rty-two b b  ears in t h e r e ,  I 
mean-two ears t o  a Hll. Boy, it ms a job! 

Q. It could get heavy, then? 

A. It could get awful heavy and you'd get anful hot. I cut quite a l o t  
of corn but I never got so I liked It, at  all. I jus t  detest& fodder. 
So, when I c m e  t o  the place, 1 jus t  wouldn't cut, only If I m t e d  a l i t t l e  
bit of fodder t o  go t o  the cows, I'd cut maybe a half a row or  smethTt"g 
1Ske that .  After you've done tha t ,  you've got t o  wait until1 the Corn 
cures, then go arzd shuck I t  out and reshock it, a d  plck up the corn. If 
you don't have a wagon wlth you, you've got t o  plck up the corn and throw 
It In the wagon. 

Every b i t  of it was work, - and handwo~k, You rea l ly  earned your wney. 
Course, d o l ~ s  was dollars as I to ld  you yesterday. A dollar bought . . . 
Well, a dol la r  and a half bought a pair of shoes Ilke these; fifty cents, 
a pair of overalls; thlrty-five cents, a shirt. 

They didn't have gloves like they do now. I guess I, well, I was a .porn n?a.n 
before I evey s t u t e d  going vdth gloves, coverkg up arm. 

Q+ What k h ~ d  of gloves dld you wear at that t h e ,  then? 

A. Oh, my mother would make us cotton flannel mittens. She'd make 
f i t t e n s  and we wore those t o  do a l l  tha t  rough Hrd of work. We used 
them a l l t o g e t h e P  for  tilmber work. They were warmer than +he leather.  

Q. Did your dad rdse much hay on the two f m ,  the Gerlach famn and the 
B o u t  * . . 
A. Well, he usually had twenty acres t o  hay and that was put up in stacks 
or, if t h  e was a barn on the place, you put what you could In the barn, 
you know.55 Most of those rented places didnlt have a barn of any size. 

"I%. A i l o r a n  later explained that neither the Gerlach nor Tt-out ffarms 
had barns, For verbatlm text see addeda item 27. [IIld. 1 
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You had t o  put It i n  a stack. Well,.we would stack it as close t o  where we 
wanted t o  use it as we could and fence it t o  keep the stock away frm it 
unt i l  we was ready t o  use It, then open up and put it in a rack t o  feed. That 
was largely timothy. 

1 never seen a hay baler  unt i l  I was a pea t  big boy. [Then] they developed 
hay balers. They were run by a horsepowel'. I t r i e d  t o  explain a horsepower 
t o  you yesterday, you how. A blg gear that runs wound here and a l l t t l e  
gear f i ts  In to  it, takes off through other gears, develops the power. They 
would have t o  drag that horsepower around with them wherever they baled 
m. 
Q mey set it up In  the mitddle of the f i e ld ,  then? 

A. Yes, they would se t  it up where you could bring shocks t o  it. 
Practically a11 the hay, that was baled that way, was raked up and In 
whd~ows and . . . Well, I'm clear ahead of s tow.  

END OF SIDE ONE 

A. It was put in H t t l e  shocks, first, early. They'd b d l d  them In U t t l e  
shocks and then they would take one horse and a rope t l ed  t o  the outslde 
tug. You'd slap that rope around thls shock and fasten It t o  the other tu@; 
of the horse. [Then, cllmb] up on thils p i l e  of hay t o  balance it and 
away yourd go t o  the baler,  you bow. 

&. You'd drag it t o  the baler. 

A. Drag it t o  the baler. We'd drag it right up there and then take our 
rope loose, o r  the baling man would. We'd never get off the horse probably 
there, And get back t o  the f f e ld  and pab  mothexl one, drag it in. 

Then they developed the forks. Forks that  would haul in hay and when we had 
those we could just scrape the hay into win lmws and then take that; there 
was a horse on each end of this rake. You drove two horses. They were 
t i e d  together In the middle with just a rape al-d you had a l M e  on t h m  so 
you could turn them the way you wanted. 

Q. How far apart  were they t ied? 

A. Oh, they were eight feet .  

Q. Eigh t  feet apart? 

A. Yes, and you'd start tln a widrow and you'd get a p i l e  of hay comln@; 
up a d  up and up and up u n t i l  it was ready t o  s p i l l  over on you, Then you'd 
pull out and go t o  the baler with that. Then, you backed y ~ u r  horses out. 
You [would] just turn than around and t e l l  them t o  back this way and they'd 
take her fight out and you'd go for  another load. 

Q. How did the baler work, then? You have a load of hay beside it, drtd 
you fork It in to  the . . . 
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A. Yes, they took a man t o  feed it and two men t o  w l m  It. There bad 
t o  be a man on each side t o  wl re  i n  those days.  They had the blocks that 
were made the  s lze of a bale  and there was a place through the blocks 
as blg as your finger that you could pmch m e s  through. Y a l d  punch 
the e e  through t o  t h i s  fellow; he'd t m  it around here azld punch it 
through t o  me on the other side. Then I 'd  t i e  it. And the old balw 
would be slamnhg away at you a l l  that time you know. It was a plunger 
t h a t  hit l i k e  that. (slapping fist in p a h j  He dmve these blocks up. 
When he got that bale  done, ldcked off, why we took thils block and put ilt 
on fommrd t o  where it belonged and he s ta r ted  another one and we went 
t o  w2rIr-g the one he was beating on. (laughs) 

Q Sounds l i k e  a ra ther  complicated procedure. 

A, Well, it wasn't so compllcatd. It ms very s h p l e ,  very l i t t l e  t o  It. 
Nowadays they have balers and one man rwls them, you know, and they pick it 
up and bale it, tie and bale, 

Thepets been a tremendous advance TTI fm machjnery. I never got to work 
with mch of the advanced machinery because I q u l t  . . . let's see, I 
was 70 y e a s  old, I think . . . 69 or  70, when 1 quilt, So, I never used 
any of those se l f  balers,  Never used a combine . . . until 71 went t o  
rent rqy land. O f  course, then cornblnes worked here and so did cam 
pickers but they was rented, hired. 

Q. HOW much livestock did your father  normally have on the Wout or  
Gerlach farms? 

A. Well, we had three cows-we wanted that t; f o ~  r l k  cows-and 
the get from them, that would be SIX head, co and calves. No fann 
could -ly do very much without four horsesiy8 they jus t  pret ty  near 
had to have four because they used drags t o  level ground. When they 
plowed a pilece of ground in the spring of the year, the fbst  thing was 
to put a team on each end of two six-by-shes that were plyuad together 
but were about that far apart . . . 
Q. About two feet. 

A. . . . and you rode them. You stood on those slx-by-shes and leveled 
the pd. So you pre t ty  new had t o  have four head of horses. He usually 
had four  horses and a co l t  or  two; they raised l o t s  of co l t s  those days, So, 
when he mved down t o  the farm there, what we called the hame place, I 
t h h k  we had six head of horses tha t  we moved down there, as I member, 
but we didn't  have very many tools ,  just  a . . . we had a walldng plow, and 
hasmw, an3 corn planter. I'm not really sure, as I told you, whether 
we owned the  planter or  whether there was two or three neighbors and 
h b  owned it, I don't know about that but we had a planter we used, 
anyhow, t o  plant the corn. 

&. HOW many hogs dld you nommlly have mound the farm? 

3 0 ~ e e  addenda item 28 . 
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A. Well, he Uked t o  r a i se  hogs. He kept one o r  two brood sows. Then, 
i f  he could raise corn enough, he fed out t h e l r  get ,  That would be about 
14 head of shoats t o  work wlth. We ship@ veal calves. Veal calves were 
valuable meat t a  the Jews, you how. We used t o  shlp veal  calves, some 
hogs and . . . He never had any corn t o  sell because it took it a l l  t o  
feed the stock. [ A l l ]  he could grow on there. He rented sane land besides 
that .  It got so we had a little corn ahead after he got t o  using, by 
rentlng, land from other people. 

Q. Dld you do much butchering on the  farm? 

A, Yes, we butchered all our meat. Usually 3n the fall, juat about 
school startbg the, why, we'd k i l l  a beef and they pickled it. They 
had big barrels  and they'd put it in  the  b r h e  and put it down that way, 
and It was pickled. It was real p o d  beef, anyhow. You was 8s- about 
our sandwiches. We used t o  have a lot f that In sandwiches. That was 
elegant meat f o r  saridwiches, cut t h h .  3y 

Q. Could you describe how you went about b u t c h e m  the beef? 

A. Yes. We'd shoot it, usually wlth a s h o t w .  Get up in fmnt of It 
and shoot it In the forehead. It was a l l  done right there on the farm. 
He usually got some men t o  help h3n, probably have two, because they would 
have t o  put a pulley up i n  the tree and start slclmhg, you know,, and lUt 
the carcass up as they sldnnd. Gutting, too, you had t o  have [If;] up 
above to do that and the same way wlth hogs. When we butchered hogs, we 
always put up a place tha t  we could hang them on. Well, two men would take 
a hog and cme over here. They had a gambrel in these lcadcrs here in the 
back legs. We put that over thls pole up here and the  hog cme down 
clear t o  the .g?ound. They could wash it & gut It ad even cut it In 
two, half', you know, We dld all of our butchering and u m l l y  had meat 
f o r  the  wlnter, Then bacon for  the swnmer, bacon and some of the hams 
fo r  the s m e r .  

&. 1:belleve you said your dad normally sal ted the pork. Dld he? 

A. Yes, just  salt pollk, t ha t ' s  w h a t  It was, It was salted down u n t i l  it 
would keep perfectly. Then i n  the s p r m  of the yem, they would brush 
all that-after it had cured, takes so long f o r  It t o  cure, six weeks, I 
thlnk, i f  I rmmber right-they'd brush off the s a l t  as clean as they 
could ard it i n  the smokehouse, that's where tha t  name originated, 
Han@; it up there ard then build a m d g e  f j r e  under it of hlckory chips, 
o r  corn cobs and hickory chlps, and make a dense smoke. That house, 
you couldn't hasdlly get in  and out of It. It would smoke that meat t o  a 
brown color ard flavor it. It was flavored with the snake. Nowadays they 
paint that smoke on, you know. 

How long did it take t o  smoke the meat? 

A. Oh, you'd be three o r  fow or flve days do- that. They put it out of 

7. Ailaran l a t e r  ident i f ied this meat as corn beef. See 
addenda item 29 f o r  verbatlm text. [Ed.] 
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a night f o r  fear of flre, you know. They usually took a washtub d 
f i l l e d  it wfth ashes from the stove o r  fireplace or whatever, so t h e ~ e ' d  
be nothing t o  bum there. Then put a kettle,  big Iron ke t t le ,  itn t o  
build the fire In. It s e t  in those ashes. This man right south of t h m  
burned his house by not having proper equipment . . . 

A. Yes, he was m o m  meat t; a ham broke loose and f e l l  down in there. 
It caught f*e hed ia t e ly - the  pease, you how-& it tipped the kettle 
over ard I guess the tub, too, because hls house was p~.actkdXy gone 
before they woke up. That w a s  ln the night, be was foollsh to have done it 
i n  the  night ,  n-ddnlght. 

Q. You say they pickled, was it the beef? 

A. The beef was plckled, yes. Then a f t e r  I t  went long enough;we could 
take It out of storage, you how, and put it in a bar re l  ard, I t h h k ,  
probably they bad a l i t t l e  brlne i n  that ba r r e l  always, so as t o  keep 
Insects away, you know. 

Q. It was  p l ckkd  i n  brlne, then? 

A. Yes, 

Q. I see, and then you repacked I t  h the barrels.  

A. You never see pickled beef anymore. I 'd  U e  t o  run onto s m  
one tlme, sane of the old beef we  used t o  have. My, q, it was so good. 
It was salted clear  through. 

Then, they had w&t they termed the dyy salt. Some people used It. 
My dad dldn7t. He never 1 I k d  ft but I worked fo r  places where that was 
the way they cured all t h e k  meat. They would put It down and jus t  covered 
it over wlth salt and they'd leave it BO long t o  cure. After it had cured 
they'd take it out and they'd have t o  wash it before they could put it 
i n  the sklllet or anything t o  cook because it was so full of salt. Well, 
take the  bacon for  It, they would s l i c e  ft and dip it In egg batter and fly 
it and, oh boy, was t ha t  good. 

Q. How about poultry around the fm at that t lme? 

A. Well, they always had cMckens. I can't remembw when Mother dldnTt 
have chickens, as many as she could keep. We had eggs ard, in the swnmer 
and f a l l ,  we had f i l e d  chicken, of course, frm the young chickens. 

They sold eggs, all that they could spare f'rm the table. We sold than 
t o  the groceries, for  groceries. Those dags the p o c e r k s  bought that 
and they would buy that meat. If you had more of that meat than you wankd, 
yau could s e l l  it readily at  the grocery store. They'd jwnp at it, t o  
get the hams, especially. 

Q, Did you have other types of poultry, like geese, f o r  example? 

A. Well, rrry mother ra,ised geese enough t o  m e  a number of fwther beds. 
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We'd have one for ThanksgivTng, perhaps, That was, we didn't eat them vexy 
regularly because we were not too crazy about goose. (laughs) 

We tried t o  pow turkeys. We had turkeys when we was on the E3 Gerlach 
fm because I remember what a time I had of locating the nest of one 
hen turkey, We knew she was laying but we wanted t o  how where her nest 
was. She would just leave the bunch and start out and, i f  you wasn't 
rfght on her tall, why she would disappear b e f o ~ e  you knew it ard go 
t o  her nest. I t ra l led  her a half a quarter. She had a nest 3n the 
hedge. I f h l l y  located it. Then, when she'd hatch, why we wanted to bring 
them up t o  the house t o  shelter. Young turkeys are very tender and we'd 
shut her up of a night t o  take care of the young turkeys. 

Q. You mention& the hdge, how were your f i e lds  fenced on tW9.e farms? 

A. Hedge, 

Q. It was a l l  hedge? 

A. A l l  hdge. When I come t o  this place hwe, there was , , . Let me 
see . . . half mile, half mile, that's a a l e  . . . three, mile and three- 
quarters . . . two miles of hedge mclund this place axd I had t o  trim 
every year. 

Q. That's what  they called the Osage Graxge type hdge? 

A. I tried t o  s m e r  
fence. It didn't rob 

trlm it, keep 
the crops too 

it cut about so hQh, jus t  
bad that way, you how. 

for  a 

Q. About five or s lx  feet high, o r  . . . 
A, No, about , . . I t r i ed  t o  keep it about that high and that was an 
everlasting Job, I hfLred a l o t  of that  done when I could because half 
a mlle of that In a day was a big day's cutt ing. 

Q. That was just  us- a hedge M e ?  

A, No, you took a corn h i f e  an3 worked this way and tWs way and slashed 
her off the top and then cane down, squared T t  at  the sides. We put 
woven wlre In it. As soon as I moved here, why we put woven W e  about 
that high around the whole fm Jn the hedge. Then I could turn hogs in 
any f ie ld  I bad, having that  woven wl re  in it. 

Q. The * e  was about what, the f i rs t  foot of the fence? 

A. Usually, it was about 16 inches. Didn't cost too much. Two or  three 
of us, two or  three nelghbor would go together, We could put a l o t  of 
it in a hedge i n  a day tirr1e.3~ You didn't have t o  set posts, you Jus t  
w l r d  It t o  the h-e. It was a good fence. 

Some of it was burned up when they cleaned up the fences around here. mey 

3 2 ~ e e  adderda item 30 . 
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had a bulldozer clean up the hedges, f i na l l y ,  But there was two rd l e s  
of hedge around this place and that was a l o t  to cut. 

Q. When dld you cut it normally, in the wilntm or  . . , 
A. You cut it M c e  a year, In the swranertbe~ and t o  get It i n  shpe; 
if you couldnlt get it a l l  cut Fn the swnmertime, well, you Let it grow 
up, then you had t o  cut t h a t  off in  winter, Well, that had t o  be piled 
and burned and that was a big job. You had t o  get in neighbors. [Then], 
with a horse on each end of a big pole-and a pole rilgged out Sn front 
of that big pole-start pushilng, down through that hedge. You'd get a 
big load of it and then p u l l  off  t o  one side and back your log back. 
[Then], go dawn a ways and pfck up another bad and brlng up here and jam 
It In. It was a job t o  p i l e  the hedge brush. So, I didn't l i k e  to have It 
p w  up i f  I could help it. 

Qb You bum& the hedge. DLd you a lso  bum the cornstalks after the . . . 
A. They b m d  them. When I flrst came up here, they burned a l l  cornstalks. 
In  fac t ,  they bwned wheat stubble. They burned pret ty near everythln@; 
that should have been plowed under. It was a long tine before they 
learned that they aught to leave everythirg back i n  the pmand. I don't 
thlnk i t ' s  been over twenty years t h a t  they have realized that. Oh, I 
guess I t ' s  been more than twenty because time gets  by me so fast now, 
but a long tlme. 

They muld break these stalks. They'd go out of a real cold mPnbg, wfth 
a horse on each end of this pole I 'm tell- you about, a d  they would 
s tmddle  four o r  six rows, whatever they could. Go down through the  field, 
and they'd break them off r i gh t  at the top of the @OM, be frozen, you how. 
Then theytd turn around ard come b ~ k .  

Then they had a homemade rake that fit in the back of the wagon box. They 
put It on the wagon box and hitched the team t o  the wagon and it would rake, 
It was a tumbling rake. It was made l l k e  tha t ,  so that this w ~ d d  be raWg 
when you was g03.r-g. Well, when you got ready t o  dunrp, why you l e t  that loose 
and let this one fall down, ard so you had four rake[s] agoJng together, 
you know. 

Q. Oh, it jus t  klmi of rotated then? 

A. Yes. It t m e d  over. It was quite a job t o  one of those. 

Q. What did  you W e  it of, wood? 

A. Wood, heavy wood, heavy timber.33 The center beam had to be a 
six-by-six a d  these tee th  were mortised in. Then, at the end, you had 
to have a round place that fit Into a two-by-ten and that payct; f T t  up 
in the wagon fo r  ym t o  fasten, to drag it by, you bow, and. . .. . 

%r. Alhxllan l a t e r  stated oakwood was used. See adder& item 
31. fo r  verbatim text.  [Ed.] 
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Q. How wfde would tMs  be, then, on the back of the wagon? 

A. It would orily take four rows. That was as mch as we could M l e  
very hmdily with the rake. Those old rakes . . . Wow. 
Q. Wfth that, then, you w3ndrowed the corm? 

A. Windrowed and burned It. We wmld just start in and light it at one 
ehd and it would go sweep* across the field ard b m  e v e m m  up clean. 
Then [we] plowed the pound. O f  course, you had the stubs in the ground 
but you was clear of the stalks. The reason they w a n t e d  those staW off 
was because they interfered wlth cultivators, We dldnlt have good discs 
yet, you how. When we got good discs, and could cut those stalk all 
t o  pieces Jn the  ground, then we  quilt b w  so much of them. Then plow 
t h m  under and disc crossways at-d chop them stalks up, then they wouldnlt 
bother the cultivator veTy much. Time you cultivated, they'd be partially 
rotted. 

4. What about t h e  use of manure fmrn the b m  aml that sor t  of thing? 

A. It al l  went on the field or  the tmck patches. Usually, we had a 
potato patch that we favored and a garden that we favored. Tlxn the res t  
went i n  the field. That had t o  be spaded both ways. You spaded it on the 
wagon and you got on the wagon and you s p a d d  it off. 

Q. That mst have been qufte a job. 

A. Yes, it was a job, and you had t o  clean your barn once a week because, 
if you kept your horses up, it would p i le  up i n  there ami get in the way 
and we had to clean that out ard had that off. That was a Saturday Job 
f o r  us schoolklds, all the t h e ,  t o  clean the b m ,  one of the things 
we had t o  do i f  the weather was f i t  at  all. 

Then, after I moved up here, why they had manure spreaders, by tkt time. 
I had an old straw stack that was rotted down, out east there, and there 
was a whole pille of m u r e  about that deep, ad rotten straw. I wanted 
t o  scatter It on the wheat field. Auston Miller l i v d  a mi le  north of 
me on the road. He had cu l t i va td  my acqualhtance when I f b s t  m v d  up 
here because he and one of my father's brothers went t o  school together. 
He wanted t o  hmw me, then, because I was an offspring of that fellow 
that he went t o  school with. 

Well, he had a l l  m e r  of tools. He owned a section of lard and ralsed 
a carload of hogs a year and so on. He was well-todo. I went up t o  his 
house, I knew he had a spreader, ard I said, "I'd l ike  t o  get your manwe 
spreader. Would you loan It, or  rent ilt? L1m wU1lr -g  t o  pay you whatever 
you want f o r  it because I want  t o  distribute that stack bottom and I don't 
want to spade it.'' And I says, "What would you ask, now? How much a load 
o r  how much f o r  the job?" He says, "Ym Mtch anto that spreader and take 
it home with you. When you b r a  it home, w e ' l l  settle." Well, that was 
a l i t t l e  jubberlsh, you know, but I took It ard went home a spread the 
manure, got it all done. I took it back up t o  him. I says, hJell, how 
much do I owe you? I want t o  pay for  it ." He says, "l'm just so happy - 
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~ that you could use it. I don't want a cent and if you need another one, 
I 

, don't fafl to remember m." 

Well, then, a yew o r  two la ter ,  I had another stack bottom. John 
Waggoner and I had gotten t o  be real  close friends. John had a spreader 
down there on his farm and I says, "John, 1 've got a stack bottom t o  
spread, What would you chavlge f o r  your spreader?" and he says, "I 
won't charge you a cent. You come and get it and spread that stuff. 
You're perfectly welcome. " 

Well, that was neighbors, see? !That machinery cost m e y !  Those things 
didn't cost under a hundred and f i f t y  dol lam and those were real dollars, 
too, you know. So big around. But I was favored by a number of those 
fellows that were here ahead of me and, of course, I had worked for George 
Fooh,  as I to ld  you, when I was on that farm. He was the man that handled 
the rentin@; of it. 

When I came up here, George was rwinbg the 1umberya.d at Wagg~ner and a 
coal shed. Well, I used t o  go down and talk t o  hlm because he was an 
experienced farmer and I h e w  that. I 'd  go and ask his advice about things, 
and so on. So, George got so he looked o u W m  me too, you how. He and 
John Wqoner  and those were 1ookLng out f o r  me, that I had the right stuff 
t o  do with. I couldn't afford It yet. 

I 
I Q, What was the gardening Uke? Back on the Gerlach place, for  example? 
I ~ A. Who was the gardener? 

~ Q. Did your mother do mst of the gardenhg? 

A. Well, she worked us kids in it, of course, but she was the gardener 
hardly. Dad worked i n  It when he was caught up In the flelds. They had 
a big m e n  because we lived out of it, you how. We had everything 
@owing Tn it, even, my dad was a smoker, he even pew his tobacco. 
( ~ a u m )  

1 Q. Oh, is that right? 

1 A, We g r e w  a big m e n .  I can remember s t i l l  how he buried cabbage 
, and I've never been able t o  do it. 

I END OF TAPF, 

A. In the fall of the year, he'd have a big bunch of cabbage p m t s  
ready t o  put away, the heads solid, and at the right tlrrhe he'd go out In 
that m e n  and dig a trench and t m  them down on t h e b  heads, With the 
root astitckhg out that far. He'd bury them in there, and jus t  go off 
and leave it. When we wanted cabbage, we'd go out and dig one of them 
out and it would just be as perfect as . . . 

i Q. meyrd keep all winter? 
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A. . . . and I never have been able t o  do it, They'd just  keep perfect. 
Somctlmes the pound would be frozen on top md we'd have t o  take an axe 
and chop off the top, take out our old cabbage head, (laughs) It was jus t  
as good as could be. 

Q. Now, you've mentioned apples and cabbages and. potatoes tha t  you stored 
in the garden. Were there any other types of t-s llke that, t ha t  you 
stored In the garden over the winter? 

A. No, t h a t ' s  all I think of now that we stored Ln the garden. We had 
the potato bin there and the apple bin there. We left each one of them with 
an opening at the  south end, so we could get Into them anyt;We we wanted to ,  
We used out of them all winter, you bow. Course, when there was a deep 
snow on,we couldn't get out any potatoes, If we heard of one coming, 
we'd get out a half a bushel or  so and take in the house, but those days 
I t  froze in your house. 

They didn't have houses l i k e  we do now. They were not bullt  to turn off 
freeze. I 've seen my mother get up m y  a time and take a crock of miilk 
and it d be fYozen and dip  it out and put it i n  there, clabber, and make 
biscuits. It froze the stuff. And such biscuits! Oh, boyr 

Q. Really good, huh? 
j ' 

' A. Oh, yes! 

Q. What did  you use t o  heat the house in those days? What type . . . 
A, Wood. We worked in . . . A t  Gerlach's place, we used coal. We had 
a coal stove, but when we moved t o  the home place, t o  the tlmbes, we never 
burned anything but wood, 

Q. Where dfd you get the coal?: D i d  it c m  from Raymnd? 
Q ' 

A. George Foooks l 

Q. Oh, I see. 

A. He had a coal house and we bought it off him. He shipped it jn by 
the carload and shoveled it i n  the house and sold it out; 

Q. Would you go t o  pick it up there? 

A, Pardon? 

Q. Would you take the wagon there and pick it up yourself? 

A. Yes, we'd take it In a r ~ I  shovel it the w on, Then bring it home and 
shovel it i n  the coal haose,out of the weather.?' Then get a bucket a r  two 
fill a@ take in the house, i f  it was cold, 1 wonder how Sn the world 
people kept the stuff they did i n  those houses, not built any be t t e r  than 

3 4 ~ e e  addenda item 32. . + 
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they were. 'I"ney jus t  put two-by-fours and some l a the  and plaster on, you 
know, a d  weather boarding on the outside. Well, you know how much cold 
that would keep out. (chuckles) 

After we moved t o  the woods, they developed a l i t t l e  sheet Iron heat- 
stove, which was a bless* t o  all the people that burned wood. It 
would take a s t i c k  about that long . . . 
Q. About two feet. 

A. . . . and you could put four o r  five of them i n  and it would heat a 
house pret ty g o d .  It jus t  burned that wood, you bow, and heated it up. 
Well, that was one thing that us boys had t o  do besldes clean the barn on 
Saturday, was get up wood for  the week and possibly saw It up. We had 
a crosscut saw. You know what a crosscut Is, two men? 

Q, Yes, sfr. 

A. And we'd saw that into sticks that would go In the  stove ard get it 
ready fo r  the next week i f  we were going t o  school. Mmbe we'd have t o  
saw a llttle before we went t o  school, too, some days. So, we had wood 
t o  bum. 

Q. I suppose it changed vdth different houaes but, take the Gerlach 
house, fo r  example, where dAd you normally cowega te?  Iitke you said 
your father would read t o  you. Would you do that in the  Htchen? 

A. In the living room by the coal stove. 1'11 never for@;et that coal 
stove. U s  klds was aplayfng blind rran one niat, blindfold, I mean, you 
how what I mean, and tha t  stove was red hot. I put my hand ~~t it. 

A. It made a so l id  blister ,  the whole M, you how. Boy, t ha t  did 
hurt 1 

Q. I suppose your m t h e r  had a remedy f o r  burns at that tlm. What &Id 
she put on your hand? 

A. I dontt remember what. She wrapped S_t up and . , . o i l  of some 9013, 
I th ink  she put on it ard it healed up all right. The next day, Dad took 
a needle and let the water out of the blister, so that it wasn't so Tn the 
way of my hand s h u t t b g ,  yau bow. 

Q. What medical services did you have? Was there a doctor i n  Raymond o r  . . . 
A. There was t w e e ,  three doctors In Raymond. The folks  k ~ d  one doctor 
tha t  they'd always use. H I S  name was Doctor Easley. I don't know his 
inlttals, but he was an elderly man and very courteous. I think, l n  all 
probabllfty, he was a Kentuckian or  somthing because he had that bear- 
and t ha t  way of talking, you know, and he brought . . . Well, he brought . . . I guess a l l  of the boys. By the way, there was f l v e  boys, He 
dldntt bring me because I was born down In TJIacoupln County but , . . Well, 
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I think he brought all four of t h e  boys. There was an old doctor, or a 
doctor, them by the name of Seymow that my father l&ed very much t o  
vlsit with and, as a man and as a doctor, and he brought the two @Is. 

8. One doctor f o r  the boys and one for  the girls65 

A. My doctor that brought me, name was . . . Well, I've forgotten that, 
now. You know, names are ter r ib le  things t o  get away *om you. Do you mow 
that? You don't yet but when you get up t o  my callbre, you'll find that 
names a e  awfhl hard t o  keep track of. -- 
But those doctors, there was three of them In  Raymond and they drove a 
horse and buggy, a l l  that t he ,  and they took care of the whole country- 
side f o r  s ix  o r  seven miles around, you mow, and they made a 11- out 
of it, now three of them. 

Q. How would you get in touch with the doctor? You had t o  go get hlm, 
I guess. 

A. Yes, you went ard got hlm. I went f o r  the doctor f o ~  her.36 I mew 
what was happening. I was fourteen yeass old and Dad said, "You get on 
a horse and go get Doctor E;a~ley.~' I hopped on a horse. It Was three 
miles and a half t o  Raymnd. I rode in and told Doctor &-isley it was 
time fo r  h3.m t o  get out there. I turned a-0- and rode the horse right 
back and, by t h a t  time, they had herded the r e s t  of the ldds over to the 
neighbors. So, I put up rqy horse and went over t o  the neighbors. Mid- 
night, Dad came In and sald, 'We've got a Well, you how we'd 
been want- a @l so bad, we were that 

&. You had said that, i n  the evening, y o u  father read t o  you, Were these 
any other types of f ;mi ly  activities? D i d  you do . . . 
A. Oh, yes. We played eckers and we played . . . Whatvs that goose 
game they us& t o  playp3v Did you ever play it? 

Q. Goose game . . . 
A. I don't know, It was much lfke checkers. You put than on a board and 
moved the of corn. We played that. There wasn't checkerboards enough 
t o  go around. Dad wouldn't allow us to play wlth play- cards. He'd been 
a Christian all hls l i f e  and he wouldn't allow us to  play with playin@; cards, 

'b. AiloMn later corrected this. Dr.  Easley brought all the child- 
ren except ltr. Aikvan. See addenda I t e m  33 for  the verbatim tex t .  [Fd. ] 

36~efeming t o  Nrs. Helen mom, U s  sister, who was present during 
sme of the interview sessions. 

37Mr. Ailman later identifled this game as fox and geese. He 
also stated they used t o  play a lot of dominoes, See addenda item 
34 for vesbath text. 
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we had t o  use . . . But we did play Authors. You know about that,  
I1m sure. 

Q. Yes, slr. 

A. And, l e t ' s  see. Then, when we began t o  t r y  t o  learn t a  play mslcal 
instruments, the place was a bedlam! (laughs) I just wonder how the 
folks llved t h r o w  it. I don't see. We had an old fiddle and scsatc- 
on it, a d  t he  banjo, and the guita~. Oh, those days. 

Q. Were you teachhg yourself in those days or  . . . 
A. Yes. 

Q. I see. 

A. 7kying. iQ brother that lives in Mattoon made a f a i r l y  good fiddler. 
He 1.exmed it. None of the res t  of us could. 1 learned t o  pick a guitar 
and second t o  a certain extent, It was just  the chords, you know. 

Well, then, when ~ e 1 ~ ~  got a l i t t l e  s ize to  her; Dad had got in better 
circumstances. He got an organ for  her and we u s d  t o  have singfYI@; bees 
there with the neighborhood Mds. Round the opgm, you know, they'd 
gather mound and have a shglrg bee. We had plenty of entertairrment. 
There was very few dull  rmments . (laughs) ' 

I got t o  where I could read pre t ty  good myself. I Ilk& t o  read. I 
read a l l  of Harold Bell Wright's works when they cam out and . . . I 
couldn't read Shakespeze, I didn't like it. I got it and t~ld t o  read 
It. I couldn't get anythbg out of Shakespeare. But Dad read those 
Dickem? papers t o  us ard we got a nwnber of cheap novels. People would 
give them t o  us. They'd read than and done wlth them, you hnow, and we 
had quite a llbraqy of love stories and so on, 

Q. Were any of the act ivi t ies of t h a t  nature connected with the church? 
Did you have meetings at the church? 

A. Well, at  that t h e ,  father and mother had Joined that New Hope 
Church, as I told you, and they took up Sundafr school work over there, 
lQ dad was superintendent of the Sunday school there for  a number of 
years ard  they edoyed I t  very much. He told me, In hlis l a t t e r  l i f e ,  
that he was called to preach when he was convel7td. He s d d ,  "I got 
a p l a in  ca l l  t o  preach." And he says, "I dIdntt have enough education that 
I f e l t  that I dared undertake it. I plead vdth the hrd that I didn't 
have education enough. Finally, I just mfised the call," Ard he says, 
"He cut me off. He ' s never allowed me to  prosper, " and he says, "I can1 t 
prosper. I never have been able to. You lmuw the thlrgs I've tried. 
I couldn't prosper." 

I think he was ~ight In the end because I learned t o  know another man who 
was a wonderful preacher, that we M In o w  home a nwnber of khes, arid 

3'&3s. Helen Brown, his sister .  
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he to ld  ms t ha t  he got the call the same way, He says, 1 1 1  didn't want t o  
accept It. T just pract ical ly  ref'used.'' Ard he says, "I rented a farm and 
trled famnbg. Well, I couldn't Illake a go of it. So," he says, "1 sold 
out. P@ wife was real  good wlth a needle and she says, 'WeVl1move t o  
town and 1'11 W e  bts.'ll Those days they mde their hats,  So, they 
wen% into town and s ta r ted  a hat stoule. He says, "You know, we went broke 
on that. Couldn't do i t . I 1  And so, then, he says, "1 tria . , .I1 Let 's 
see, what was the  next thing he t r led?  He t r ied  five different thlngs and 
f a l e d  on a l l  of them a d  he said, ''Then I s d d ,  'Well, Lord, I'll preach, I" 
and he made a wonderrul preacher. If he'd have accepted his call  at the start, 
he'd have been even bigger than he was, as It was. 

Q. What was it l ike t o  go t o  Sunday school in those days? 

A. What was it Ilk@? Well, very s h i l m  t o  this, only not so organfzed 
as now. They had a women's class and men's class. In fact, h those days 
the women sat on om side of the church and the men on the other. 

Is that right? 

A, Yes. Then, they had, they didn't  have too many graded classes. They'd 
have probably t b e e ,  of the  young people. And it was very d i f f i c u l t  t o  
get teachers, very d i f f i cu l t .  So few people pafd any at tent ion to the Bible, 
you know, un t i l  they were converted, and then they didn't  pasp It as 
readily as they would i f  they had of been bmught up In a Sunday school. 

So S d a y  school was very knportant, I n  my es that ion,  It 's rea l ly  the 
t e a c m  service of the chrch .  That's w h a t  I t ' s  Intended t o  be, it's 
not the  church, but I t ' s  the teaching servlce, and I always got a great 
l o t  of pleaswe out of Sunday school. 

When I came up here, I hadn't been here . . . Oh, well, I dontt think I'd 
been t o  church three tlmes until they put me on a class, t o  teach, and I 
didn't have too much Sunday school work, but I had a l o t  of Bible because I 
had plenty of t M e  t o  read the Blble as a telegraph operator, Nothlng t0 
do a l o t  of the time. I had a Bible  lay- on my desk. 

And, then, we had a b l h d  preacher there and he had a b d l l e  Bible. 
I don't know wh&,h8r you ever seen a b r a i l l e  Bible but they was that - 
thick and that blg. Well, it was a load t o  carry, and I went t o  enter- 
tainin@; himafter I got t o  Honey Bend ard was married. We took k"Lm 
I n t o  our home a d  entertailned hilm every t h e  he was over there. He would 
come over Friday night and we'd spend Saturday preparing U s  sermon. 
I 'd read the  Bible t o  hb. He didn't  carny his old brallle. I'd hunt 
up whatever he m t e d  a d  read it for klm help him get his out l ine 
made up. He was bllnd, he couldn't follow an outline new LWe they do 
now, you lmow. He had t o  memorize it al l ,  But he could do it. He would 
have his three sermons manorlzed, They had a Saturday nimt business 
meet- t ha t  he preached at and then two sermons on Sunday. I learned 
an awfhl lot of Bilble f'rm h h  ard helping him. 

Q. Were there any soclal activities associated wlth the chwcb? 

A. Yes, they had fce cream suppers and . , . Oh, !hanks@- and 
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and Christmastlme, many a t h e  they'd have c q - l n  meals, you know, 
everybody b r h g  a dish and that was a hey-day-Thanksaving and Christrms. 

Q. Did the chil&en put on program? 

A. Yes, they did. That was Swlday school work, largely. I mow r r ~ y  dad 
would never apologke fo r  anything that happened (laughs) with the Sunday 
school Hds, Held say, "NOW, there's no apologies here. You'll take it 
as we give it t o  you." 

Q. Well, they mst have come out pret ty  god ,  though, didn't they? 

A. Yes, they did. 

Q. Now, youlve said t ha t  the farriLly, when you were living In this area 
here . . . 
A. We attended, cme t o  thls church once a month. They jwt had once 
a month preaching t o  start with. It was a weak church a d  they'd spent 
about all the* mney, I guess, abuilding the chwch. 

They had a yo- man right out of S h r t l e f f  College. S h r t l e f f  at that 
t k e ,  at Alton, was a rellglous college, ard he was right out of Slur%- 
l e f f .  He came up here and held the first revival meeting that I ever 
remember. I was about five years old ard there was several convert;ed Zn 
It, a nwnber of people. There was a p o d  right south of it [the church] 
and they took then down there md baptized them h~ 'chat pond. It like to 
scared me t o  death. I thought he was drownkg them. (laughs) They had 
t o  take me out of the crowd. I went t o  bellering, because I'd seen Mttem 
drowned. (laughs) 

So, we cme up t o  that church some but that was not a regular occurrence. 
Lots of times we didn't go. The preacher came and visited Dad and talked 
with h3.m. He enjoyed having h i m  but so  far as us attend- Surd.ay school, 
we never did up here. After we got t o  New Hope, we began to go to M a y  
school. 

END OF TAPE 

(During th is  sessfon, Mm. I-kl-en Brown, b, Aj,m.n's s i s t e r ,  entered 
the conversation at t l rr~s.  H e r  participation is identified by the i n l t l a l s ,  
H.R.) 

Q. Where were you born? 

A. That Is ri&t next to Lltchfleld,  you lam. (p& of sentence inaudible) 
. . . but it was that township, you see,  i n  l'kcoupin County. The Talks 

Bert Aikman Memoir, Vol. I -- Archives, University of Illinois at Springfield



Bert A i h  4 8 

lived i n  a house jus t  a half  mile west of there.  I had a half-aunt, 
my father  had a half-s is ter ,  and she w a s  marrled t o  a Baptitst preacher. 
He  owned that eighty acres of land out there and they rented it f'rom 
them fo r  t h e i r  start. That was the very begLnning of Dad's starting 
t o  famn, He s ta r ted  rlat there and his s i s t e r  helped him a l i t t l e .  
I guess the old preacher did, too. So, it w a s  Hornsby, I l l is lois ,  
and it's s t i l l  i n  existence. It has about f o w  o r  f ive  houses, I 
guess. It was close t o  a coal mine jus t  west of it tha t  worked, I 
expect, a hundred rrm--I don't know how many did work there.  I was 
t h r o m  the mine a nwnber of times because pret ty  n e w  a l l  the  re la t ives  
down there worked In  the d n e ,  o r  on top,  some place. 

Well, the  mine w a s  worked there f o r  about five years, I: gyess. Then 
it worked out too farr away t o  haul I n  with mules. Those days they 
hauled a l l  the coal  t o  the foot of the shaf't wlth a l i t t l e  mule, you 
lmow, a burro type. They were not burros. They were of a burro type 
but  they were rea l ly  mules, bred f o r  tha t  pwpose. I expect they cost 
quite a b i t ,  the l i t t l e  rascals .  They'd take them down i n  the d n e  
and keep them there a whole season, you mow. When they'd bring them 
up, those l i t t l e  rascals would jus t  bra-a-a-ay l i k e  they were shouting. 
( l a w t e r )  

Q. Really glad t o  get up from the  bottom, huh? 

A. Sor~t lmes there would be a s t r i k e  o r  something and they Id p u l l  
the mules. 

Well, my dad never worked i n  the mines but I had a cousin o r  two that  
did. Two second cousins tha t  worked at the mfne and they would see 
tha t  I didn't get In  the way when I went down. 

Q. Was Hornsby always the  name of tha t  vi l lage or  . . . 
A. No, they s t a r t ed  when the  rai l road,  when the Big 4 b u l l t  the-- 
The Big 4 f i r s t  bu i l t  i n to  Li tchfield from the east. It was a New 
York Central syndicate, you how. Well, t h a t ' s  where it stopped. 
Well then, they discovered t h l s  f ine a t  Homby and they w a t e d  a 
place t o  have a post off ice so they nanled the place Clyde. (short 
interruption - Nel, M r .  Mlrmanfs s i s t e r ,  tr ipped over the extension 
cord.) They called the place Clyde. Now, I never mew why. There 
must have been a man named Clyde i n  it, but the mlnute tha t  they 
brought the U.S.  Post Offlce I n  there,  they searched the state and 
found that there was a Clyde I n  1llinol.s. I don't know where It i s ,  
So, they made them change It t o  Hornsby, and it was Hornsby, I expect, 
from about 1880. 1; guess it w a s  Hornsby fiorn tha t  tW on. Today 
it ' s jus t  a few houses because tha t  place played out. The Post O f f  i ce  
has been removed, years ago you know, and just som farmers l ive  I n  
there,  t ha t  farm around i t .  39 Very good land out around there, but it 
Ps inclined t o  sink. 

3 9 ~ e e  addenda item 35. 
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You know, they propped the cei l ing of the &nc. You know how they 
do that, I presume. Put props i n  there and they rot out eventua ly  
and the ground w l l l  s e t t l e  from one t o  three fee t .  Well, it destroys 
a l l  the  &aha@ and they have t o  redrain the ground with ditches t o  
get water o f f ,  But I ' v e  never heard of the  ground sink- s i @ t  at 
Hornsby. It did south of there,  between there and Mt. Olive, pret ty  
bad, and I knew about tha t .  

Q. Where w a s  your father  born? In . . . 
A. He w a s  born near Bunker H i l l ,  and my mother w a s  born i n  Iowa. 
So, her  parents moved here and she and Dad were neighbors. So, they 
were m r i l e d  at r r ~ y  grandfather Ailananls how because his wife was 
on her  death bed and she was so  amdous t o  have tha t  couple married 
t ha t  she Insis ted tha t  they come down and stand beside her bed and be 
m r l e d .  Mdntt give them any tire f o r  preparatt;;ton or anything, you 
know. She ins is ted  on seeing the ceremony and so  they were married 
a t  home. 

Well, 1 never had any hopes of get t ing a b i r t h  ce r t l f l ca t e ,  but when 
they began calUng f o r  b i r t h  ce r t i f i ca t e s ,  I wrote t o  Czrllnvllle . . . 
In  the meantime, I had gone back down there 8 f t e r  I w a s  f'ifteen yeam 
old and worked f o r  t h i s  aunt I s  son. He was farming the  land then 
and living with h i s  mother and s t e p f a t h e r ,  he and h i s  s i s t e r ,  and he 
came up t o  the place down by Honey k n d  and just ins i s ted  on Dad l e t t l n g  

go. He wanted me t o  work for  h i m .  So, I went down and worked 
tha t  fall for  h h  and I got pret ty  well acquainted with the country 
by doing that and learned a l o t  of the his tory of it and . . . I wonder 
what it was I wanted t o  t e l l  you about?40 

Q. How long had your pments l ived there when you were born? 

A. Well, they only l ived there three years, and then they c a m  up 
here to Lone E h  and horri~steaded. A l l  I can r emrrb~r  about that home- 
steading w a s  grandfather was a great spor-tsman, a hunter and 
fkherman, on Dad's side,  and he made his horn with them. Wild ducks, 
as I think I to ld  you, a t e  up Dad s corn crop and he [Grandfather ] 
would take m and go out and lay under sow hedge trees tha t  were at 
the edge of the f i e ld ,  and the ducks would c o w  i n  over those trees 
and be ready t o  Light, you know. They would have let loose of t h e i r  
fall and he could shoot fm behind so It would go Into t h e i r  feathers 
p o d ,  and he'd shoot ducks and send rn out and pick them up. ??hey 
didn It get scared of me, you how ; l i t t l e  toddler. And that 's all I 
can remtrber of rqy granddad. 4 1  I jus t  remnber tha t  one occasion when 
I picked up ducks. 

4 0 ~ e e  addenda item 36. 

''see addenda item 37. 
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Q. Well, k t ' s  see. You moved up t o  this area, near Lone Elm . . . 
A. fn about 1881, it would be my guess, became I was just about 
three ye= old when we moved up there and rqj brother next t me . . . 
Let ' s see, was he born . . . I 'm not sure where he was b 0 r n . t ~  Maybe 
he was born up there,  I ' m  not sure. Anyway, I was just  a toddler and, 
as I tell you, that's about a l l  I renmker about it--was picking up 
those ducks and bringing them back t o  Granddad, 

Then, there was l o t s  of f i s h  in those lakes up there, them days. A 1 1  
they had t o  do was take a pitchfork and, wade out i n  the lake and jus t  
spear them wlth a pitchfork. They ' d get catylsh tha t  Long. 

Q. Tb~o fee t  long catf ish,  huh? 

A. Yes. They didn ' t have t o  fish with a Lrlne a t  a l l  became those 
f i sh  had been i n  there f o r  years, you mow. It was swarrp, fill 05 
reeds and cattails and so on. The f i sh  were i n  there.  I remember 
hearing the folks t e l l  later on about Granddad g o h g  out one day 
a f t e r  s o w  f i sh  and he was awading along t h r o w  the water and he had 
on leather  boots. I expect the sole  was pret ty  t h i n  and he stepped 
on a b i g  catfish and tha t  backhorn went clear t h o &  his shoe a d  
c lear  out the tap  of h i s  foot.  

Q. Really spiked hlm, huh? 

A. He had quite a sore foot for  a long time, but he s a t  down and pulled 
that horn out before he went home. 

So, I never have been able to locate tha t  famn. It changed hmds so 
many tWs tha t  there i s  no record as I could ever fjnd of it. 

Q, You say y o n  father-It was a homestead? 

A. He homesteaded tha t  but he gave it up, which turned It back-he 
didn't  give It up, e i ther .  He sold his  hornstead t o  another man. He 
was going t o  go t o  Texas, so he sold a l l  of hi$ stock and machinery 
and everything t o  tha t  man. He w a n f  t able t o  be out of bed. He l a i d  
on the bed and priced the s t u f f ,  and the man took it, beca e he had 
a f m  adjolnlng it, and. he took tha t  160 [acres] i n ,  too. 'GI 
Q. I mlght be able t o  help with that. The next tlw I ' m  in the 
archives i n  Springfield, 1'11 look m d  see. Now, tha t  would have been 
about 1881 or. 1880. 

A. 1880 o r  1881. Yes, sir. I was just a tykes,  I b o w ,  little kid 
a n d . . .  

END OF VOLUME I 
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School equipment 

Size and locatlon of schools 

Sunday school quarterlies 

Moving the Waggoner Baptist Church 

Waggoner village lightin@; 

Check w b x  corn planter 

Getting bearded wheat 

Getting beaxded wheat 

Breakfast foods 

O.K. m11, Litchfield Mill 

Big shows In Litchfleld 

E;arly baseball 

Threshing e17pSines 

Ditchhg 

Diltchhg, dmimge, Stanley Flx 

Hessian fly 

Sam McCoughlah, horse care 
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lTEN 
NO. 

Shucking corn, test corn rows 

Corn moisture 

Moisture measurement 

Hay storage 

Raising horses 

(Footnote - uorn beef identifled) 

Fences, home remedies 

(Footnote - oak wood used) 

Obta- coal, ice skathg 

(Footnote - correct Ion of t ex t )  

Game identification 

Hornsby depot 

B i r t h  cert if icate problems 

Grandfather Allman, Texas gapes 

D r .  Easley , mlWia (ague) 

Prairie land devdopmnt, supersti t ions 
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ADDENDA ITFN 1. (ref.  p. 1) 

Q. Do you how who lives in it now? 

A. Yes. Edna %mas. She owns it. 

Q. I see. 

A. She's a widow lady. Msed  down here in this place. I've known her 
from a Hd. She's the only one of the famlly l e f t  and lives down there 
by herself. She also owns this twenty acres of land across the paad 
here. 

Q. Oh, I see. 

A. She heired that from her father, you see. But her husband and her 
had bought the Tmut place. He farmed it for  a few years. I don't know 
mythlng about how long, but that was when I wasn't pay% attention 
t o  it, you understand. 

4. I see. 

A. But, they did. And then he died. She never married again. She 
just Uves there and. rents the land. 

Q. Where was the Trout place, now? Could you locate that for  me? 

A. Well, you come up from the . . . from [Route] 48. Cow out of 
w o n d .  D i d  you ever come up that way on that  d i r t ?  

Q. Yes, s b ,  I have. 

Cane out that way on the art? m s t  road . . . 
Q. I see. 

A, You came up. The second house you come to, on the east side of 
the road, I s  the Trout place and the one on the west side of the road, 
which is a half a quarter south of it, that's the old schoolhoUse. 
And i t 's  a nice building now. I don't h o w  who owns it, but smebody 
that works, you mow, and has a home i n  the country. 

ADDENDA ITEM 2 (ref. p. 1) 
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Q. Where was the location of the Vignos school? 

A. Well, you go down t o  the Raymond road, Well, you can't do it now 
because you go way down to the hard road, you know, t o  go t o  Raymond now. 
l3u-t; this used t o  be . . . Letts see, it's about . . . oh, I Imagine . . . 
Ih you know anybody that lives down lyl that coun'cuy? Do you know S o w  
Goby? I% you know where he lives? 

Q. On [Route] 667 On the west side of [ ~ o u t e ]  66? Yes, SIP. 

A. Well, at the next comer o r  what would be a. section l ine,  half a mile 
south, the road took off t o  Raymnd and the VL@;nos school was I n  the 
corner there. Right there by the road. 

Q. I remember. It hasn't been too long slnce it was gone, then. It was . . . 
A. ?Inat was the place tha t  Webb had an off ice f o r  a number of years, die 
he was superintendent of schools, you how. 

Q. I see. 

A. So you b o w  that.  That was the same location exactly, but a new 
building. That  building burned, If I remember right, and they rebuil t  
it and bu i l t  it of brick and tha t  was a brick bul1dIr-g. 

Q. Yes, sir. Yes, I remember the brick building. 

A. I never w w  i n  school i n  that ,  but then I t  was just  a om-room school 
building when I went t o  it, and a big hdge in  f i o n t  of It. Playground 
was south of it and we carried our water from across the road at what 
would have been Lanter's place now, We c m i e d  the water f o r  the schobl 
f ~ m  over there, Dtldn't have a w e l l .  

Q. I see, 

ADDENDA TIEM 3 (ref. p. 1) 

A. Well, the teacher explalmd. 

Q Yes, sir. W a s  able t o  explaln t o  them while they were rec1fAng. 

A. Yes, tell them what they was  studying about and explain Pt. But 
he wouldn't take over five minutes for  tha t  class. He'd go through it. 
There was usualLy only about four o r  five of that age k the school, 
you know, start* in. So, it would only take a l i l t t l e  while t o  go 
through that  class. Then, the first reader was called next, but it was 
only called once In the morning. It wasn't called after every bell rang- 
first reader; but they w e r e  called In the rnornh@ and recited then. He 
gave them more time. He'd glve than f i f teen  minutes probably md hear 
than recite. Then, the second reader followed them, and then the thlrd, 
Then he'd quit on that ,  because mst of them jurped rlght frm t h b d  
reader into history; Instead of putting than In the fourth reader, they'd 
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YOU, 

put than i n  a . . . Oh, what did they call tha t?  It wasn't a real 
Mstory, but it was a kid history, you know, with principle events of 
the  country, s'carting them i n  history. Then, after they'd stu&Led that 
a while-go- through that-they could keep on on that history or, if 

wanted, they could have a fourth reader class. But there wasn't 
of them did. It was a p i t y  they d,idnVt because that's where 

learned t o  read. 

then, whille we l ive  at the Gerlach place, we had-I thWc I to ld  
we @lked three mlles and a half to school. 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. !Phis Burnet school down here was two miles and t h r equwte r .  And 
Dad went mound and got permission t o  l e t  us  go to the Burmet school. 
A m mmd Buchanan there, that taught t h a t  school, Smiley I3ucham.n. 
He was s t r o x  on history and he was death on spe l lkg  and (1.aupJls) 
rmlt lpl icat ion tables.  I learned the multiplLcation tables  both directions,  
forward arad backwards, under him. (laughter) You had t o  know. He 
wouldn't let you q ~ t  until you did. 

ADDENDA ITD4 4 (ref. p. 2 )  

A. That w a s  the first one and, then, when they-they'd go f ~ o m  that I n t o  
the f k s t  reader, yau know. Then, they would begh  t o  have them read 
sentences. 93-y to  teach them to. Well, of course, those sentences 
were all t k e e  and four l e t t e r  words, there never w a s  a great bag word 
in It. 

Q. You had stavlted t o  say, l1 . . . and see the machine shed that's i n  that 
man's, " ,wha,t? Group of bulldings, was it? 

A. Well, it's next t o  the road really. It's in M s  group of buildings; 
yes, that's about rlght. 

Q. Okay. 

A. When they sold it t o  build a new schoolhuse, they dldnlt use any of 
it. They b u i l t  a new one out-and-out. Then, when the consolidation came, 
why, that a l l  sold f o r  dwellings, you know. There w a s  an acre of ground 
vdth those schoolhouses and lot's of people that workd would lFke t o  
have one; tha t  location, fo r  that reason, you how. 

A D D ~ A  6 (ref. p. 5) 

A. That's it. 
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Q. (Intendewer reading memoti? out loud) "It was just amusement, that 
w a s  all." 

A. Jus t  exercise. You bow, anything to run. And that Black rum, you chose 
sldes on that, you know. And one side was here and the other stde there 
and each had a l ine. Then, when the si-1 was given, we had t o  change 
ends. Well, i f  anybody could get t o  the l i n e  first, ww he won. m, some 
af them could run, too. 

€2. I'll bet. 

A. A l l  they wanted w a s  t o  brush up on mathematics. That was all.  Gne of 
them w a s  her brother and the other was an old schoolmate and she would 
never turn them down. She didn't recite them sepamte. They jus t  went 
In the A class and took the same problems that the scholars did, you how. 
She didn't have any d i s c ip lhe  to do wlth them, o r  anything of that Had. 
They were Jus t  there t o  learn. 

Q. I see. What school was this? 

A. That was Hazel Green. 

Q. Hazel Green, Yes. 

A. One of them was an awful strong fellow. He I lk& t o  snowball and I 
remember one t lme I slipped up behirfi h i m  with a hard snowball, soaked it 
i n  water, you bow. And I sneaked up behind h3m and I hilt him between 
the shoulders (laughs) and then I m as hard as 1 could and there was  a 
snowdrift about so deep, I had t o  jwnp . . . 
Q. Couple of f ee t  hi,gh. 

A. . . . and Just  as I jumped, he took me and I went In that t h h g  head 
flrst and he just roared. (laughter) 

Q. S t W d m g  there with your feet sticking out, huh? (laughter) 

A. He Jus t  hocked m e  aspmwling. 

A. No, we never used any notebooks. We used slates. You could use a 
slate about that square, and about that long, and about that wlde. I 
t W  they cost a quarter. Then you got a pencil Tor a nickel and you 
could use 15-it was cut out of slate, too, but it would a mark on 
the slate,  you know, and we did all of our matherratilc work i n  the  seat on 
that slate. Then we had a damp rag t o  wilpe that off clean and take 
another problem, you know. 
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Q, Where did you buy those? A t  school? 

A. No, there was a s tore  i n  town tha t  always handled them and weld go 
there and buy them, buy t h m  of sum of the merchants, The schoolbooks 
have always been robbers. I bet  they are on you yet,  mentt they? 

Q. They're pre t ty  expensive, yes, sir. 

A. They were always robbers. !They chavlgd twice. You could go buy a 
novel, the  same pr in t  and the same b i d -  and everythbg, fop a quarter 
where you'd have to pay f i f t y  or s lx ty  cents f o r  a schoolbook. Pa used 
t o  cornpalin about it a l o t  but he had t o  get  the schoolbooks just the same 
because they were prescribed by the  man at the county seat, you how. 

And yet,  he dldnft &e you use a certain book. Now, for instance, 
Saunders Readers were not standard a l l  over the county. They had different 
readers. But they al l ,  I think, had the same hlstory. Nost of them had 
different mathamtical books but when they gat up t o  the tt;hJrd grade, they 
generally had t o  get  i n to  Ray because there was the sticker, you know. 

ADDENDA hXt4 9 (ref. p. 8) 

Q. (Interviewer readfng out loud) "How large a p lo t  of ground was there 
around the school? Was I t  an acre, o r  what?" 

A. Jus t  about an acre. 

Q. (Interviewer reading out loud) ' I .  . . A half acre .I1 Well, you had a 
h a l f  acre here. 

A, Well, it was just about an acre. You just as well change that now. 

Q. All right, sir. (Pause whlle Lnterviewer writes. ) O k a y ,  so . . . 
A. Well, I think the people who wanted the school real bad would donate 
an acre, you see, and get the school where they wanted it because there 
was competitiion between the neighborhcd about where the schoozhouse 
was t o  set .  Some fellow wanted it close t o  U s  Idds. 

Q So, hetd donate the land. I see. 

A. Yes. 

ADDENDA ITEM 10 (ref. p. 10) 

Q. (Interviewer reading out loud) "we had orderUes t o  study from, that was 
one thing. b@ dad was the superintendent of Sunday school. These orderkles, 
were they papers publish& by the church? 

Q. Yes. Yes. They were just on the  lessons. They had a specla1 lesson 
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on a sheet, you know. 

Q. Was that the name? 

A. Instead of orderlies, it was quarterlies. 

Q. Quapterllas, Okay, god. I couldn't f b d  orderlies used in any of 
the c W c h  references. 

A. &ua&erlies, They were a l i t t l e  book, you know, and had a three 
mnth lesson in them. 

Q. Yes, sitr. I'm fmLllar with the qumerlies. 

A. That, the Sunday school b o w t .  They took up callectlons each S-ay 
and got enough to pay for such as that, you bow. Them days they dldnlt 
have salaried churches. They didn't know about that .  A preacher c m e  
and took what they had, you know. They'd t r y  t o  give him so much but 
didn't always work. I've seen mny a man come for  ten dollars a t r l p  
and preach Saturday night, two times on Sunday, all for ten dollam. 
Nowadays, they wouldn't come, you mow, f o r  that. 

Q. No, sir, I'm afraid not. 

ADDENDA l T 5 Y  1,U (ref. p. 10 )  

A. That was the most marvelous thing. Steeple on tt, a 3Gfoot steeple, 
I think, and they never even knocked that off.  

Q. Yes, sir. What did they do, put it on wheels and . . . 
A. Well, no. They had a regular mover do it, you bow.  He had t o  put 
it on rol lers  of some sort. They pulled It . . . I know how they pulled 
it, with a whdlass. They'd get the planking-I seen them move other build- 
%s - They'd put down planlchg. What we'd ca l l  bridge planks, you know; 
two--Inch thick oak planks, foot wide. They put down two of them f o r  mllers 
t o  r o l l  on and then they'd get them laid, then they'd hitch on t o  the front 
of the b u l l d h g  wlth a long rope, oh, f i f t y  yards, If they could have it. 
And then it went mund  a log that was set in a frame that they called 
a . . . Oh, what dld they c a l l  them, now . . . 

Q Well, It was a windlass. That 1s w h a t  it was, but you used horses - 
on It. You put a team on it went around aybd around and around and you 
pulled tha t  church clear down t o  that-where that was set-and then you 
reset that and put down your planks, but the crossed a creek there, you 
know. There's a creek down thraugh that ? ard. They had t o  bridge that, 
sane way. I don't h o w .  When I came Into the country, why they still 
had the steeple on the church and the bell up In the belfry. It has 
one of the flnest bells  I ever heard. I th ink It's a shame tbt tbt 
bell has t o  hang there idle .  
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A D D W A  ITEM 1I.B (ref. p, 11) 

A. Then, Herb Street declded he wanted t o  light the town with lmts, 
He studted this acetylene buslness u n t i l  he t h o w t  he hew it enough 
t o  put up a gas plant, and he did. He put up a gas plant out at the  
west edge of town and he put i n  p i p h g  In a11 those store buildings and 
i n  the  dwellings that wanted them and he put pIpIng thmugh that cl-mch. 
Tha.t was long before I came up there, now you see, and . . . 
Q. That was before 1910, then. 

A, Yes. When I came there, those gaslilghts could s t i l l  be used. But M s  
building wore out, that he used for  a tank, and It wasn't paying h*Lm any- 
t h h g  In  the end and so he gave it up. 

Well then, we had t o  get coal o i l  lamps arid hang down from the c e l l h g  
and, a f t e r  that was there, we  used them a year or two. Well then, the fel- 
lows ln town begin to see Delcos mound and they decided they would li&t 
the  town wlth DeLcos and there was a bunch f o m d  a little coqany there,  
They w l r d  the town and put i n  the Delco plant. 

They didnf t put them i n  a l l  the places, they jus t  put them where they were 
requested and we were gettfng ready for a revival meeting wid 7: went 
down t o  them and I says, ''1 want the church lLghted.ll I says, "I don't 
w a n t  t o  monkey with those coal oil lamps, now. I want s m  e lec t r i c  
lights i n  there.'! And they sald, "Well, itVU take same wire." And I 
says, " A l l  r lgh t ,  I' 11 pay for it out of my own pocket .I' I says, "You 
don't need to worry abmt your money.1' I says, "You get the wl re  and come 
down there an3 I'll follow you m o d  wid see that you put It where I 
w a n t  It, and put some dropll&ts in." And they did. They did it i n  half 
a day, wlth my help. We dropped Hghts down. Well, those drops a r e  
s t i l l  hem used, t o  thls day. 

Q. Was this one Delco plant o r  was it several through the town? 

A. No, it was jus t  the one, but you had to renew bat te r ies  every so often. 
You see, they stored i n t o  a battery. Those batteries would begin to 
wem, finally, and get so you'd have t o  run your plant every time you 
used maxZMrm power. So, it got t o  where the  old plant was jus t  barely able 
t o  Ught  the town wlth rmxhnm power, all it had. The boys said, "Well, 
wetre going t o  give it up. We're go- t o  go see CIPS." CIPS w a s  comirg 
through the c o w t r y  then, so they went and saw-and they was tickled t o  get 
a francMse on the town, you know-and so they come down there and lit 
the town and hooked on t o  the  same old lwts that  we'd had fo r  the Delco, 

Q. And they are s t i l l  using them. 

ADDENDA ITWl 1 2  (ref. p. 11) 

Q. (Interviewer re- out loud) I'  . . . The w k e  would m dong  wtil 
they would come t o  the fork and then they'd f l f p  back, jerk the plate 
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around 

A. They'd get t o  there and they'd bring it right strafght ,back, you h m ,  
and then it would s l l p  off.  

Q. Oh, I see. The fork would l ay  back. 

A. Yes, lay  back so the wiLre would s l i p  out. You could check corn pre t ty  
good, too, with the things. After you learned it. You had t o  learn t o  keep 
a proper tension on that wire, not get it too tight one time ayxj. too loose 
the next time, and so on. 

Q How would you get  the tenhion? When you s e t  it at  the  end of the . . . 
A. P u l l  It yourself--quast;er of a mile. (chuckles) 

Q. And you set it. For each row that you planted, you had t o  move it over . . . 
A, You set your wi re  dl rec t ly  behhd your planter when you . . . after 
youTd turned around and ready t o  start, you put it In the center between 
the rows and, then, when you got through, why you'd do the  same thing mh. 
Well, that W e  would stretch over enough that you could plant the two 
rows clear  down here. But that's why you had t o  learn tensLon, because 
If you t i g h t e n d  tha t  up too tlght, you'd break that when it pulled over, 
you see, and you'd have your broken wire and have it t o  patch wd monkey 
wfth. 

Therevs one old G e m  that I know that . . . (laughs) He had one of them 
and he to ld  me about . . . He was In the  f ie ld  one day and a thunderstorm 
came up and he says, "1 was a t  the other en2 of the f i e l d  and turned m o d  
and ,just ready t o  start and," he says, "I seen the l1ghtnLng strike that 
wire down at the other end and," he says, "I just  jerked it loose f r o m  the 
planter tha t  way and it never did touch me." (laughter) 

Q, Oh, i s  that right? The electricity went right through it. 

A. Oh  boy, that did t i ck le  me. (laughter) He j u s t  jerked it loose. You 
could jerk that with it, you know, even i f  your wlre was In the forks, you 
could pu l l  it ard tha t  would throw it d m  and l e t  the wi re  fall out. 
[laughs) And he l e t  It fa l l  out. (laughs) 

Q. Didntt trust that lightning, right? 

A. Fact of the matter, it didn ' t  hit his W e .  

Em OF SIDE ONE 

ADDENDA ITEN 13 (ref. p . 12) 

A, Got it fllom Kansas. 
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Q. 1 see. It was developed i n  Kansas, then? 

A. Yes. And we got it-I guess the expwjment station got it but it was 
started in test plots  arid I t  was bearded. We dldnlt Ilke that very well 
but we did l ike  the yield of it. 

ADDENDA ITEN J4 (ref, p, 12) 

Q. Was thls the EUse wheat that you were talking about ri@;ht there or  
was that  a different k3nd? 

A. No. That hard wheat, I don't la7_ow--wouldn't t r y  to  t e l l  you the name 
of that. I've forgotten It entirely, If 1 knew; because they just called 
It hard wheat and It was a different shaped pln.  It was a 10% gain. 
Klnd of l lke  a oat pain, w h i l e  Fulse was a round, mall pin like we 
have here now, you know. YOU see, the wheat that they @;row In most 
places now, they're growing a r o d  wheat now. 

They're growing a sd-hard  wheat In here, I think, most of the time now, 
because they can't get a straight carload of hard wheat, hardly at all. 
I worked In the elevator two falls out here, and you just couldn't get a 
stralght load of hard wheat. You had to  have It mlxed, you see. So, the 
mills used it, smeway. I don't know how they mmged it, but they got out 
flour anyhow, smeway. 

But I do know that In the Northwest, up In Oregon especiaUy-I went 
through the flour m l l l  that rr!akes the cake flour, It's noted a l l  over 
the country. I asked the milller, when we s*ted In-he was showfing us the 
mill, you know-and I s a d ,  "What do you call thls wheat, hard or soft?" 
He says, "Oh, thls i s  soft as mush. l1 He says, ''This is real ly macaroni wheat ." 
He says, ~lTbat's the reason we make this cake flour. l t  He says, "We have 
t o  get a l l t t l e  hard wheat from Wntana ar  some of those other states, nm, 
even t a  use this f o r  the flour. We've got to have a l f t t l e  W d  wheat . I t  

So, -5: don! t have the least idea, 

But they had heads on the* wheat that would be that square, up there. 
Nine wins here, in a str ing across that head, I never had seen anything 
l ike  it. It made Porn s i x t y  t o  a hundred bushel to  the acre, you how,  
that stuff. They were making it in to  cake flour. 

And, of course, they were rraldng bran and shorts and aJ1 the o t h e ~  tkdngs 
and 1 remember I a s k d  him if he mde . . . What is it you c d l  this meal 
that you I . . 

A. No, I'm t hh ldng  about the wheat, entpely.  They . , . Well, I asked 
h i m  abmt that, It-wheat gem meal. You've eaten it, I guess. It's very 
expensive, you how, And 1 said, "1 want t o  know where you get that, how 
you get it out of the wheat .'I And he says, "Well, I' 11 show you before 
we get down here. He says, ''ThereV s eight stories here and,'' he says, 
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"IVl1 t e l l  you what we do on each story.T1 Ar~d by the time we got down t o  
the fourth, why I was press* him harder than ever t o  h o w  where he 
was going t o  get that wheat germ mal. And he says, "Well, yout ll have 
to wait un t i l  I get t o  the gound floor,ll and then, he said, "It 11 demonstrate 
t o  you." 

Arid when we got t o  the  pound floor,  why he was m m h g  nothin@; but bran, 
I would have called it, down though the ro l le rs .  It rol led out of the 
r o l l e r s  onto a table that was  jus t  l lke . . . You've played With an old fan- 
mill, haven't you? On a farm? 

Q. No. 

A. Didn't you ever see a farrmill that they f m e d  thel r  wheat wilth? 

Q. No, sir. 

A. You've never seen one? Well, they had riddles on them b&t sbook 
l lke thls and shook all the trash out of the wheat. It fell off of the 
bottom and the wheat went t o  a certailn place and f e l l  through I t  and 
went down I n t o  a clean place. Well, he showed me the riddles and he s a p ,  
"Now, you watch these riddles." Well, he started it goin@; andl 1 says, 
'!Well, I dontt see anything but bran going over there. 'I "Well, now, " 
he says, " w a i t  a minute." A i d  he took a l i t t l e  b o d  and he held up there 
with hls hand and there was just enough c m e n t  of air on there t o  separate 
tha t  germ meal. It had enough w e w t ,  that he could let just enough air 
Fn to separate It from bran and that was pure bran, too, there w s n 1 t  a 
speck of f l a r  l e f t  3n It. 

Then, your gem meal went in  there and I says, ' W e l l ,  you don't get a l l  of 
it .I1 llNo,v he says, "1 don1 t get d l  of It but, '' he says, ''1 get e n o m .  
About what I want.11 Well, I dldnrt have t o  watch but about a minute till 
herets enough t o  f i l l  a box l ike  I 'd  been buy* it, It was j u s t  straight 
gem meal, you h o w .  

Now, that was taken out of the germ of the wheat. Bran was off of the 
outside of the wheat and yet he separated, In the end down there i n  tha t  
one machine, wheat germ meal. That was fasclnatlng to me because so m.ny 
people buy it-it's rich In  proteh,  you know, very r i c h &  so mmy 
people bought it and mixed it with their  oatmeal, I knew l o t s  of people 
that mixed it with t h e b  oatmeal, they wanted 3t every breakfast, you 
bow. 

ADDENDA 15 (ref. p. 16) 

A. . . . soon as oatmeal came In. I can't hardly resnember what year it 
was when oatmeal began t o  appear, but everybody f e l l  fa r  oatmeal because 
it was such a g o d  breakfast a s h ,  you know. We had our own milk and d l  
we had t o  buy was the meal and the sugar. We used that all the time I 
was pawing up, for  bre&ast. Rolled oats. I say d l  the tlme we ad. 
Same days we had eggs and bacon, some days we'd have fried ham. Just 
w h a t  Mother wanted to  cook for  b rewas t  or had to fJx that day. EuC they 
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b a k d  a l l  the- own bread those days, you know. It was all homemde 
bread and. it was bread, 1 t wasn? t (laughs) , , . 
Q. Yes, sir. Gad ard heavy. 

ADDENDA ITEN 16 (ref. p. 17) 

A. , . . germ out of that wheat? saneway, because it's the germ that 
attracts weevil. They mst have taken every bit of that out of that 
flour when they traded with us. I never watched that mill grirzd. I never 
was iLn it, but I've taken loads of wheat and exchanged it. It was called 
the O.K, W l l  and Dad would send down a load of wheat and get a load of 
f lour  and that lasted a l l  wlnter. 

Q. Yes, sir. TWt name was O.K. Mill, rim? 
A. Yes, O.K. 

Q. Yes, I had Oak down here, but It was O.K. M I L L  (Interviewer writes) 

A. But it was finally made into a dwell- house and people Uved there. 
I don't know whether the same build- is  t h e r e 1  don't hardly think it 
is. I t h h k  it's been tom down and rebuilt. 

They also had at that same t h e ,  the big m i l l  that blew up. They had 
a m i l l  there that was sending flour all over the world, p re t ty  near. 
They had a big m i l l  down In the south part  of Lltchfield. It blew up 
one rn0rrxh-g and everybody thought I t  was an earthquake, anybdy that 
was away from Liltchfield. O f  course, those that were mowdl there seen 
it a f i r e  jmmedlately. Knew it was it. They never knew w h a t  caused it unless 
It was the wheat dust germhated f b e ,  i n  it. They shipped carloads o f  
flour out of that and also shiploads. They shipped to Frgl_and, even, fkom 
Lltchfield. 

And that  was all mde fran that same Fulse wheat that I ' v e  been te l l ing 
you about. Was .gown a l l  around here, I never heard of any o t k r  wheat 
when I was a boy growing up, only F'ulse. R d  Fulse, they called It. It 
was a semi-hard wheat, I know, and it mde splendid bread. mt I donit 
suppose you could f i d  it t o  save your llfe now because they've changed so 
m things. 

ADDENDA I'IFN .17 (ref. p. 20) 

A. You could W d l y  see the road. (laughs) 

Q. For all the dust, right? How large a crowd would they have at some of 
the shows? The shows down there, how many would be attending than? 

A. Oh, the whole county, practically. Buffalo B i l l ' s  show, 1'11 ven'cure, 
the whole county came t o  see that, anybody that  liked enterlxhment of arly 
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klnd, Same way wfth Barrum and M l e y  . Barnum .a& Exlley brought in 
animals, you know, ard we saw anftm-1~ i n  cages tha t  we'd read about, & 
so on. 

We sure liked those shows. I liked Buffalo B i l l l r s  especially because of 
the horsmanshlp that was shown there. I never had seen mytw like a 
rodeo, o r  never even heard of a rodeo, you know, at  that day, and there 
was keen riders on them. They had riders that would go dam under the 
horse at  a keen gallop, you know, and come up on the other side, ge t  In 
the saddle and go on. (chuckles) U s  kids would go home Xd t r y  some of that 
stuff. We'd try a3lidh-g standing up ard if we wouldnvt get  some of the  awful- 
l e s t  falls! . (laughter) 

Q. You never got the h a g  of it very well, then? 

ADDENDA ~?I'EPI 18 (ref. p. 24) 

A, . . , younger klds were going t o  school, baseball had begun t o  take 
hold, you how, and t;ownball played out, p re t ty  soon, They began 
practicing f o r  baseball because they-they'd attend some of the minor 
games, Raymond would have a team, a d  Litchfield would have a team, and 
a l l  of the  bfgger places had teams, you know. They played sometimes on 
Saturdays, sometbes of an evening, and the kilds saw baseball played. 

So, baseball took the place of townball. But they never could have 
used that old rubber b a l l  that I had In  there because you had t o  stand 
fifteen f e e t  back of your ba t te r  to catch that ba l l ,  If a fellow threw 
It with any power at all.  You got it on fbs t  bounce, but it would 
bounce thirty fee t ,  you laww. My goodness. 

Q. And when you caught it, it f e l t  l i k e  it was made of Iron, right? 

A. Yes, and it was. (laughs) It was jus t  about as hard as Iron, but 
how it would bounce! 

ADDENDA ITEM 19  (ref. p, 13) 

A. . . . shipped in by f r e m t .  They generally seceivd them over 
about Virden, If I remember rilght, and they drove than home, I remember 
one t h e ,  they bought an engine and the salesman must h w e  been a mt. 
He to ld  them they were not t o  grease any of the  gears that pulled that 
englne; not to grease them, that they were intelded to mul dry. And they 
s ta r ted  out and. burned t b t  thing up before they got home, arad then he had 
to come and take that ap& and put on new gears, you know. I don't know 
whether he got fbed or not, but he should have been i f  he didn't have any 
more sense than that. So, from that time on, they wwe very pmticular wlth 
theilr greaslng of those gears. 

Worked off the flywheel and down t h r ~ u g h  the  , . . They worked throUgh 
a se t  of gears, you see. Theretd be a gear ,  a small gear up on the axle 
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of the flywheel, that handled the flywheel, arrd It would mesh in one 
bigger than it, arad then the next would mesh In a b-er one still. But 
they had the power In this little one, you see, up here on the shaft and 
they'd start-they had t o  keep all of those things greased every tilme they 
t~ave led  on the road. That was one t h h g  that the w a t e r  hauler had t o  
look out for. When they were g e t t w  ready for  a move, he'd better 
grease all of his gears, o r  he'd get a bawling out, proper. 

&, Oh, the water hauler did that? 

A, Yes. He was supposed t o  and he'd get a bawl% out If' he didn't do 
it, too. 

Q, The water haule~. That was the fellow that took the water mound t o  
everybody in the field? 

A. No. That was the guy tht hauled water f o r  the engine. Z"rsey had a 
tank ad a team that they took with the machine, al l  the t h e .  Their 
own outfLt, see, and they had a tank tmt would, oh, I guess it would 
hold five barrels of water, maybe six. Ar-d you'd go to a well someplace 
and dLp water with a bucket-if t h t V s  the way they got the water out of 
that well. You'd dfp It up by bucket and fill t h a t  tank, close down the l i d  
on it and take it h t o  the e n m e  and then you'd turn it I n t o  the barrels 
around where he could draw it up Into the boiler, as needed. 

So that was called a water hauler. He md. to take care of hls barrels 
and @;rase those gears and take care of the team so on, 

Q. Well, there was also a water boy that went around . . . 
A. No, the water boy belonged i n  the neighborhood, usually. Somebody 
would put thei r  ldd on a horse, If they didnit have a cart. They b e g b  ha- 
those l i t t l e  C&S like they ran racehorses with, you mow. Lsttle,  just 
one-seated affazk. Dildnrt cost very mch and they'd get thm and put a pony 
on that  ard let  the boys had water. Maybe he'd h a d  a l l  over the neilghbor- 
bod. 

ENE OF TAPE 
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ADDENDA IT!FN 20 ( r e f ,  p. 28) 

Q. (Interviewer readin@; memoir out loud) " . . . much out of 
the ditch." 

A, If you don't think that's work. 

Q. It r ea l ly  was. (laughs ) Well, how dld you do tha t?  You had 
the w h a t ?  HOW did the scraper work? 

A. Well, the scraper-you've seen scrapers, I guess, haven't 
you? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Well, you know, they have a ba l l e r  on them that s t i c k  out in front,  
and the screw pa r t  here is back-that is, the  b a l l  hitches toward 
the back end of it. Well, these handles cone fm here, and you 
can ralse t h i s  up and tha t  w i l l  scoop right into the  &I%, you 
know. HQhw you raise it, the more itlll scoop. You can s t i ck  a 
team wlth it, you mow, i f  you keep mailsing it. But we would just 
take what was  proper t o  load the scraper because i f  you took mare 
than that, It went over It anyhow and you lost it;, you'd be jus t  
wasting tlm. 

So, we'd load the scraper and then t i p  on the handles and st* up tha t  
bank and you had t o  keep them tipped all the way up that bank and 
climb it too, you mow. 

Q. You just had t o  put your welght on it, I guess? 

A. Yes. Of course, the team helped t o  p u l l  you up with the 
scraper but by nlght you'd sure know you'd done a dwls work, 
(chuckles ) 

Q. You used a two-horse team on those, did you? 

A. Yes, and scattered the dirt out on the land so that It could 
be fmd. We didn't p i l e  it all up on the  bank llke a &edge 
boat does, you lamw; they p i l e  it all up. Well, we scattered it so 
that we could go right ahead and farm It. And tha t  opened up a five- 
acre pasture of Uncle Tom's farm that sure Md produce corn, I'm 
telling you. 

Q. (chuckles) It hadn't been fanned at all before that? 

A. Yes, he'd farmed it, but It was about one yeax out of f i v e  that It 
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dtdntt drown out, see. But thls way, why, It was a very g o d  thing. 

Q, About how deep were those ditches? 

A. Oh, ern 3 feet t o  1 0  feet ,  and a LO foot ditch is a long ways down 
when you go t o  wading up that side and holding that old scraper. 

Q. (chuckles) I guess so. Whatld you have to do, make a place along 
the side or dld you go rlght out the f b n t  end of the dltch where you 
were digging? 

A, No, we'd go au'c the side, right up the bank, and then go back on the 
circle and come h back of where we'd broke loose, and take it wh. 
Then, when we got a l l  of that scooped out, why we'd get a team down there, 
plow the bottom of that ddftch a@n and loosen It up. We'd plow It just 
like you was plowlng it t o  famn; get that d i r t  loosened up arzd then you 
could load youyl scrapers much easier and faster and go ahead. So, we 
dug an awful l o t  of ditch that year In that khir ty days. &t everybody 
worked; it was a comnunity t-, you how. They all took thetlr part 
because they was benefited by it; It was one of the jobs. 

I remember old Uncle Felix Mchardson, he was much Interested Ln it. It 
didn't touch hils lard but he was much Interested In it for Tom's sake. 
A d  sc-he'd been retired fo r  a good 10% t h e ;  hadn't done any work-and 
he come down there arzd he says, "Bert, I'm golng to try holding that sc~aper." 
I says, " A l l  right, sir, jus t  dig In." (chuckles) But he couldn't stavlt 
up the back. He was too old. Just staggered, you know; he couldn't 
start ;  up, so I had to grab the handle t o  turm the whole around. He filled 
about three scrapers and he said, "I can't do it, boy, I'm past It." 

I don't think he was over sixty years old, at that t h e .  But, you how, 
in that day and age, a s h t y  year old man w a s  old, he was considered old; 
they looked older and they were considered old. My dad died at fifty-six 
and, oh, I knew a lot of men that dAed just about silxty, you how. They 
dLdnrt know them days, tht fifty t o  sixty was the fatal heart time f o r  men. 
And they didn't take any precautions; they went right ahead and did what 
they'd been used to. FPst thing you b o w ,  somebody was b u r l d .  

ADDENDA ITEN 21 (ref. p. 28) 

Q. (,Lntemlewer reading out loud) It . . . there. A. There was a big 
dltch went t o  the west of it . . . I1 

A. They didn't work It, though, while we l i v d  there. They worked those 
dltches-they would naturally erode, you know, and f i l l .  And they usually 
worked them about every f lve yems. I ' m  counting on a dredge boat about 
next year here. It'll cost me flve turdred t o  a thousad dollars t o  clean 
out that same ditch that I've been talking about-where my water goes I n to  
it f'rom here out of the t i l e ,  you how. And I get an assessment the same 
as the fellows that gets surface drainage. If it wasn't for  that surface 
drainage, the tile wouldn't do very much good, either. 
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F@ f a t h e r - h l a w  was the f b s t  man that tiled In here and he had quite 
a l o t  of trouble. People were skeptical of it, 1 don't know, people are 
awf'ul hard t o  convince about a l o t  of thhgs that look plumb feaslble to me 
they can't see it. A d  so he k d  a lot of trouble and they wouldn't le t  
kim wnpty In that ditch, When he got to It, they wouldn't let k*tm empty 
In it, the ditch, Voted blm down, 

, but 

'vWell,vl he says, "I've got title down here. I've got t o  dispose of my 
water," so he juat  dug a well. He went t o  the highway department and asked if 
he could dig a well an the Mghway, out at the edge of It mere It wouldn't 
bother the road pa r t  a t  all. And he dug a well there of about 8 feet deep, 
and w a l l e d  it up very loosely with brick. He d q e d  the tile Jn there & 
that would soak out and in to  t h a t  ditch, eventually, ard drain the lard. Wlt 
as soon as the others got In t l l e  d i s t r i c t s  In there, why, they put a big 
rr&b tile right down i n  the bottom of' that; ditch and then they hooked a l l  of 
these fellows on; hooked our place and all the r e s t  of than. 

Q. Where dld that big tile erad? Dld it go into the  creek there by Waggoner? 

A, Well yes, I t  does empty i n to  that. It went rlght under the bridge 
down there, rQht south of the Waggoner Road arad rltght on down that creek. 
Yes. It went right down along the edge of Charlie Long's f i e ld ,  between him 
and that other f l e l d  there ard dwnped right in down there just at  the edge 
of the dltch. I guess it was about a 16-inch t i l e  by the t h e  it got there, 
because it was caurylng a number of farms by then. 

Q. Was that put in before you moved up here, you say? 

A. No. No, t h a t  was all af te r  I was here. I 'd been here, oh, several years 
before that was hooked into that big t l l e .  There's a big t l l e  in the  b o t t m  
of tha t  ditch that is-I thllnk it's 48 inch. And they've put out le t s  on the 
sides, you how, to l e t  these t l l e  go in to  thm. 

They used t o  haul water out of there for  threshing, When the w e l l s  would 
get low, they'd go up there, they would-nearly always water there, jus t  Come 
seeping downout of the t i l e s  from various places, you know, and they could 
g o . . .  

Q. 'I"nat7s where I l e d  t o  swirn. 

A. Did you? 

Q. Yes, sir. In that hole right at the end of that, yes, s k .  (hughs) 

A. It was cold as Ice, wasn't it? (chuckles) 

Q. Yes, slr, it sure was. ( l a u r n )  What Hnd of tile did they use when 
they put In the  small  field tile? 

A. It was concrete, largely, and burned Clay. TW_s fm is  a l l  burned clay 
because he bought of a different flrm from the one that started in over at 
Raymond. Wre was a tile company o~gamlzed over there and put 31 the proper 
machinery t o  buUd tile. They made tile to tile a l l  the country mound, pret ty  
near, But those th$r-gs w i l l  wash out; the bottom of thm will eventually wash 
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Q. What do you mean by wash out? 

A. Well, the water passkg over it will take a little of the top off . . . 
Q. Just wear it down. 

A. . . . untll finally, It's just clear throu$h it. But it wlll work for 
a long time even after that, If there's nothing breaks the top; because the 
hole's there, you know, and goes ahead. 

And then Doug Price . . . You knew of Doug Price? 

Q. Yes, slr. 

A. Doug put in a tile factory when they went to put in the big &Itch 
here. He put in a tile factory. 

Q. Where was that, In Waggoner? 

A. Well, he had it down south of the elevator about a half a quarter, right 
on the railroad tracks, so he could get his gravel and sand from the railroad. 
And he had the machinery all set up and worked a bunch of men there. He 
made an awrul lot of tile. 

They would make that concrete a certain consistency and then pour it in the 
mold and l e t  the mold stand so many minutes until it set and then take 
It off and take the tile and set It up on the board--they had boards set out 
for it to dry on. And it had to be in the shade, you couldn't put it in 
the sun. They'd crack If you put them in the sun. They had to be b the 
shade. So held have a shed full of peen tile, they called them, and as 
quick as they were past a certain stage, then he could move them out in the 
sun and put more green tile in. 

So a lot of the farms were tiled excluslwely with that concrete tile. 
Because the tile factory at Hamre1 that made the clay tile and burned 
them like brick--that our farm was tiled with--they claimed that they ran 
out of the clay that they wanted for that. The clay that they'd been 
mlng changed consistency someway, and they quit doing it. And that 
fellow that llves there, Stanley Fix, you may how him. 

Q. Yes, I know hlm. 

A. Stanley has a great pond there where that old ground was dug out and 
he's got that stocked with fish. He's got fish tn there 1'11 bet are 
that long. 

Q. Three or fowl feet? 

A. Oh yes, peat blg things! And he's got wild ducks, mallards and teal 
and a l l  of them and he clips this tendon right there and they can't 
fly away. And he's got wild geese and brant and all those thlngs around 
there. 
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And he always raises a bunch of pheasants, scat ters  t h m  around the corntry here. 
And he wants permissLon t o  hunt where he's scattered them, you know. 

Stanley's a p e a t  fellow. I had hlm put the shakes on my house out here. 
He had a fellow w o r m  for  h h  a d  they was about to have a f-t, I 
guess they dld have it la ter .  I didn't h ~ o w  about It, but . . . He walk& 
around t o  the back of the house and the other fellow had been worklvlg on 
the east end. W t t F n g  time cane and they allwew foldin@; up t h e 2  aprons 
and he walks around there ard he took hls hatchet a d  he just kmclred off 
them t i le ,  goodrdght. I s a p ,  "What s the mtter with you, m, have you 
l o s t  your mind?" He says, llThose don't su i t  me.!' And this other fellow 
that was standing there, he says, "I klnd of t h o w t  he'd gone berserk, too." 
l a t e r  on, they did have a scrap. I guess the other fellow wasn't ado* 
Z t  the my he told him t o  all the time, because he guaranteed his w r k  and he 
made ~t &&t, 

Q. Well, s p y  let's get back t o  the words here, 

ADDENDA I'TET4 22 (ref. p. 2 9 )  

Q. (Interviewer read* out loud) . . . the next year.'' Sir, there's one 
word there, You had sald, ''It had been brought Zn from Germany in s ta te  
wheat,I1 Is that . . . 
A. Seed wheat. 

Q, Seed wheat. Oh, I cauldnlt figwe out what In the  world that word was, 
okay. 

A. See, the eggs were lald In that head. That Hessian f l y  looked 1 U e  a 
gnat, only it was about ten t3mes as big, had long legs.md, boy, when they 
got h the wheat fkld, they went right along the root and up the stalk and 
laild a string of eggs and those eggs would absorb every bit of strer'gth out 
that straw, It wouldnl t make a head o r  not- else, I t  Just  . . . That was 
the e d  of It. And it took a long time for  them t o  get that law through 
t o  hold them off,  you how, because men had been used t o  sow% the last of 
August and the first of September ard after they got that l a w  so that they 
couldn't sow till later i n  the month, and farmers learned themselves that  it 
was better  even t o  go past the f if teenth than 'It was the sixth, unless you 
had a killing f'ros'c between tlme. Those things were so blg t o  kt11 wlth fmst. 

ADDENDA TIEM 23 (ref. P. 31) 

Q. (.ktervlmw reading out loud) . . , day, or that t h e .  I t  

A, There was a seat on it, but I preferred t o  walk because I could do a 
better Job. He was srck. He went t o  bed with a rheumatic fever jus t  at 
corn planting t h e .  Ard he called me in, he had m e  go get a doctor f p s t  
ard then when the doctor l e f t ,  he called me In and he said, "Bert, the 
crops are  go- t o  be up t o  you.tt He says, llYou go t o  town arad hbe another 
W, now, t o  help you. And you take the lead In it, but you're boss. Wh?~t 
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you say goes. Just  the same as i f  I said it," And, so I went t o  town 
and I got Sam McCoughlah. Did you ever know Sam? 

Q. Yes, s b ,  

A. A r d  Sam was a curiosity,  you how. W1t he was a good worker. But he 
got jealous of my job. I don't know why. I guess he thought FilcMson 
was favorlvlg me mom than him. And he muld try t o  do things against 
RJ_chardson~s orders. 

Now, H c ~ s o n  had a peculiar way of talckg care of his horses. He fed 
the horses the* grain In the bottom of the rnmger. He never put a box in 
any of hls mngers-none at all. He put a solid bottom down there and he fd 
all of M s  g a S n  down in there and he sald  that a horse would sallmte 
better i f  they did reach down l lke  they was eatin$ pass .  I k h d  of believe 
he had the rlght Idea. Ard then after you'd get done eat lag dinner, you'd 
go right out as qulck as you could and throw in hay f o r  them; l e t  them have 
a chance to eat thei r  hay. They'd have a l l t h e l r  ga in  cleaned up. 

Well, Sam would go and get hfs team out before I could get that hay in  
there. And I headed h i m  off M c e  and 9 says, "Now l i s t en ,  Sam. Don't 
you do that anymore.11 I sald, "If you do, I'm go l rg  in aml talk t o  RichaudsoL 
He wants these horses t o  eat ard t o  rest .  And he wants them t o  rest as low 
as we do, he has always told me to take an hour noon." And 1 says, 
'!And that's what we're g o k g  t o  do." 

Well, I jus t  had t o  mtch him like that all the time. He wanted that job, 
you know, So, the next year, he got it, and he didn't hold it but W d l y  a 
month because he wouldn't do what they told h h ,  I-Ietd go out md do as he 
pleased. Poor old Sam, he was just ignorant, that was all. 

But we did raise a good crop tha t  year, anyhow. And he laad t o  use a waUdng 
cultivator.  Well, rather than hear h i m  howl Or wt-, I walked too. I 
walked the whole season. In fact,  I could do a better job and f could 
correct him i f '  he drLdnrt, with me do- the same thlng, see. I d l b ' t  llke 
being boss, but I had t o  do it that year. 

Q. Now, was that y o u  other hml you supped in arourd the em? 

A, No, your rlght harmd wlth the  hook on It, and you had your l e f t  band up 
here next t o  the stem, you mow, and you glve Lt, 1lke that, a twist and a 
quick jewlk and that broke it of f ,  sometimes wilthout any shuck. More t h e s ,  
it muld have one or two shucks on It but as you got t o  leamlng t o  take mre 
of the shuck with your peg a d  so on, you could shuck it cleaner. But the 
hook f i t  right here, 

Q, Right along the edge of your palm on the thtnnb side? 

Well, ~ i g h t  along yow there, right there. come 
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t o  a stalk that was broken over and a ear haglrg down that my, you took ilt 
tvltth this haxd and done that way. Jus t  those two motLonS a d  you had the ear 
out. And if it had stood up the ather way, why3 you tmk St  wlth this hand 
and it was not qui te  so easy t o  do as Z t  was if It was dom, But yau 
could shuck it, anyhow. Maybe you'd want to use your peg on one. You chose 
whichever you m t e d  when you was approaching a hill, yau how. 

You shucked two rows at  a t3me, walked between them. I workd for  one man 
that rrade me shuck three rows. He wanted a good s t a lk  yield. And that was 
an awful bother t o  me at first, to walk acmss three rows and then go back across 
three rows an3 not W s s  any. 

Q And the  horses jus t  h e w  where t o  go. They just kept . , . 
A. Well, you'd put them straddle a row and they was busy eat- shucks. Oh, 
they fed good whlle you was shucklng corn. WIt you kept a shucked r o w  between 
them and you all the  tlme so they couldntt reach o v e ~  and pu l l  down the  corn. 
h e n  you f k s t  was opening the f ie ld ,  as we called it, nBklng the down row, 
werd start In and weld take two rows at the  s lde of the wagon ard one under- 
neath it, you know, and shuck them. Well tfien, the next t h e ,  why, we !d 
just straddle the r o w  next to the one t&t was broken down and leave tMs 
one standing, you know. fUd then from that on, why, you had, your 
row, between you am3 the wagon, of shucks. 

Q. Now, when you got a wagon f u l l ,  then you had t o  take it in. f guess 
you had t o  shovel it off I n t o  the corncrib, a d m i t  you? 

A, I neve-r was lute enough t o  get one f u l l .  (laughs) 

Q. What was that, sir? 

A. I said I nevw was luclg enough to have to do that, to get one f u l l .  
I t d  shuck a half a day and go in and unload. That's wh&t  1.did. (laughter) 
I never was a fast shcker. I never could shuck a M e d  bushel of corn i n  
a day to save my l ife.  And there was plenty of fellows that worked for  me 
that would shuck el&@ :wd ci@ty-five buc;hels,a& J1d try t o  follow them, 
you know, and they'd laugh at me. Why, they'd just go off from me lilce I 
standing still.  

Q. I remember trying t o  shuck corn with Roy Baker a d  he sure walked off 
fYorn me. I had t o  @ve up. I couldn't even handle one row t o  hls two o r  
three. Boy, he was rea l ly  going through. 

Q, Yes. After they got the motions, ym know, those old c o n  stuckers . . . 
I n  those days they had corn-shcl-dng contests, the same as they do other 
contests now. Started up In Iowa and there was three o r  four men up there  tha t  
shucked two h W e d  bushels of corn in  eight hours. Two hm&d bushels! And 
shovel& it off! Jus t  t h h k  of that, now. I jus t  can't %@me how in the 
world they could keep the strength In  the* amn t o  keep it going U e  that. 
One fellow, they sald, f illled M s  mouth fill of. g a n u l a b d  sugar Wbn he 
s ta r ted  in f o r  a load, because that was q a c k  energy, you know. Awld he us& 
that t o  help hlm pick along. They had sane wonderful contests. w, people 
went from all over t he  country t o  see than. If a man Md a corn-shlcking 
contest on hls place, he had to have about a for ty  acre t o  park cars. (laughter) 
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Q, Do they ever have any right mmd here? 

A. No, never around here tha t  I ever h e w  of. They did have same 
shucldng, w h a t  you might c a l l  shucking contests, The seed houses would 
come In here and ask you t o  take some of t h e k  seeds and plant  so many 
rows I n  a certain place and compare it with other corn, you how.  Well, 
you'd plant  those rows and maybe another fellowld want some there, Well, 
but you planted your own seed between them, so as t o  dlv tde them. And ,, 

then they were staked off and those fellows kept tmck of them c l e w  
through the season, 

$Ut when the time come to test those hyb~ids-that was when they first 
be@ develophg hybrlds-to t e s t  those h y b ~ i d ~ ,  why, those seed men 
would be mt there. And they would go from wagon to wagon that was 
shucking on the* corn. And they'd say, llDoni-t you leave anythhg that's got 
a p a i n  on it. Nothi- at all." There'd be a H t t l e  nubbln there, you know, 
with Just  one or  two grains on; they'd say, "Get them if they've got a 
paiLn on them, put them in." Well, then it'd be weighed i n  our favor. ft 
was all shelled, They'd M v e  in and dwc~p her Into a sheller and she l l  I t  
and weigh It and then It would be reckoned by how much it was maklnp; to 
the acre, you know. 

I sent t o  Iowa when they first began doing that .  The Wallace Fmer-I 
don't know as I ou@;ht t o  bother you wilth thls-but Wallace F m e r  a d v e ~ i s e d  
that if there was anybody i n  t h e b  territory wanted t o  try t o  make some 
hybrid corn, t ha t  they would f'urnlsh a hwldred hllls, and they says, "We 
want you t o  go down i n  your field after your corn i s  up and hoe out a 
hundred hllls and then plant this Ln and put a stake at each end of It." 
And then It would poll lnlze from both sides with your corn, you see, 
which would hybridize It even more. Well, 1 sent f o r  It andl planted it 
and I had enough for two rows; I had two rows, two one-hundred rows-a 
hundred hills, I mean. 

I had been growing yellow corn at that t w e .  Yellow corm had started 
in the country pre t ty  big and I'd been ,gowSn$ yellow corn and this was 
a different  colored yellow; it was a ktnd of a red yellow. And when It 
crossed up vdth the other, it made a ldnd of a strlped gain. And it was 
very easy t o  distilnguish and a l l  they aslced was t ha t  I shuck that separate 
and then shuck the row by it separate, and weigh the two and glve them the 
amount of each welght. 

END OF SIDE ONE 

,A. And I did that wid that corn, oh, it M e  t en  o r  firteen pounds more 
on those hills than my corn did, 

Well, I went ahead. I never got any more seed from them, but I just 
went ahead and used the corn that I had. And, you know, t h a t  showed up 
i n  my corn for  s l x  years. 

Q. (chuckles) Oh, i s  that right? 
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A. Yes, sir. It showed up Ln the corn for six years. 

Q. YOU used that for seed, then? 

A. Well, I didnv t pick it separate, but It had hybridized across the field, 
you bow,  You could t e l l ,  by  loo^ a t  those grgraju ls ,  that there's some 
of your hybrLd, Well, of course, I'd take it and plant It, And 9t  was a 
little b i t  earlier ccsning up ard it was a little b i t  ea;rl1er maturing. So, 
there's where you? maturing began to come h, We began to notice the differ- 
ence in the maturity of corn. Well, then the expe~inzent stations figured it 
out and told you what you could count on; you could count on 78 dqy corm or  
an 84 day corn, o r  some of them was 90 day. 

Q. Do you have any idea about when th l s  was when you got the corn from 
the Wallace F m e r ?  Was ilt the 1920's or l93O9s? 

A. Well, I expect it was in the twenties bacause I was farmkg actively at 
that time. After I got that and tried that out, why, I sent to Iowa for some 
purebred yellow dent, enough to plant an acre, I don't bow w h a t  I paid for 
It, but you had t o  pay for a good premim on that. And they shipped it 
down In a sack and I remember planting it next t o  the edge on this side of 
thls second fort;y out here. And that  acre c m  up two days ahead of the other 
corn. And everybody says, "Why dld that corn come up like that?" Well, I 
couldnlt explain it, you how; I didn't try to. I safd, 'lWell, I got 
some purebred seed, it mst be in the seed. That's all 1 know." And 1 to ld  
them the  truth about tha t .  Well, then I picked seed very ca re f i l l y  out of 
that and used I t  for a number of years, Piat was a good yellow dent. 

Q. (Interviewer reading out loud) " . . . not mch under twelve, 
Would that be twelve per cent moisture, you mean? 

A. That's right, twelve per cent. They'd rather not get; it below that. 

&. WbY is that, sir? 

A. Because itTllmold. You take that fourt;een per cent and put it Zn 
without a drying wfnd on it or something--they dry it now, you know, too. 
But, before they got to drying it, they'd throw I t  in the bin, and they'd 
have to keep ru.mlng that elevator day and d g h t  to shilft it araund and 
blow alr through it t o  keep It f r o m  moldfng. So they didn't want it. 
They cut you so much on each p o h t  that was too damp. 

Q. Gn the price, then, that . . . 
A. Yes. 

Q. (In'cemt-lewer reading out loud) . . . 11 
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A. That thing i s  astonishhg. You wouldnvt any more  and get It; poured In 
and distributed--you had t o  spread it out on the bottom of it and turn t o  
your d ia l  and it had It record&. 

&. And that was the mlsture content that tt ~ c o r d e d ?  

A. Yes. And it was accurate. I've always wondered how In the world they 
done it and they said it was just  by shootln$ an e l ec t r i c  current through 
It, that the moisture registered so much, you see, and they counted It. , . . 
Q. I'm go- t o  have t o  go down and watch them do that, A s  a matter of 
fact, you say, that. "A. You go . . . 11 

Q. (Interviewer readhg out loud) " . . . could fn the barn?, you how," 

A. He never had a barn where he could. 

Q. Oh, is tha t  right. On . . . 
A. Neither place, He had t o  put it in stacks. 

Q. Then you weye able t o  build a barn, I believe, down on the  hame place 
after the tra3.n wreck. 

A. After the tmh wreck, we got lwnber enough to bultld a bam. 

Q. k t  ' S  see, (resumes reading)llYou had to put it in a stack. Well, we 
would stack it as close t o  where we . . . 11 

Q. (Interviewer read- out loud) "No farm could M l y  do very mch 
wlthout four horses. . . . I t  

A. He usually had two colts each spring. 1 should% 'cold tha t ,  too. 

Q You mentiond there . . . Let's see. Well, not at this pbce,  You 
mentioned colts someplace usually two of the  horses were m e s  then, were 
they? 

A. Yes. And they'd be bred and they'd foal i n  the spring. And the coltstd 
follow you, you know, through the filelds. When they got h w ,  why, you'd 
stop and let them nurse, get them out of the harness. (chuckles) It was an 
awrul nuisance. 

&. Did you keep these normally or did you s e l l  the colts? 

A. NO, we kept them t o  pow new stock and t h a t ' s  the way the poor man got 
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his star% of good horses, you know. He'd have some pret ty  .god bsood m e s  
and breed them t o  a good horse, and you'd get a good solid work horse. 

When I c a m  up here t o  this place, father-in-law sold me flve head of 
horses tha t  hadn't had a h m e s s  on. And I started i n  that first winter 
and broke horses tha t  winter. I had one team of blind m e s  that I could 
work an a wagon but I dldnlt have enough fo r  gang p1owIr-g. f bought a 
gang plow, so I had t o  break two of the  y a w  horses, three year olds. 

Q. Excuse me, there's somebody a t  the  door. (tape stopped and started) 

A. I broke two horses tha t  sprlvlg and that fa l l  I bmke another, so I had 
a five-horse team the next spring, then, that I could put In. And. I got 
one col t ;  just  one co l t  was all I got. I wasn't lucky. But I f h l l y  
got a l l  of those five broke aid I had goal your?@; horses, you mow, and 
trained them myself and I had horses tha t  were very trustw0Yrt;hy. Then 1 
wanted a bigger horse. And so . . . 
Q. In t r w  the horses, dld you have any trouble wlth them? were they . . . 
A. Only when you'd first hitch them up. They'd be kind of crazy, you know, 
but . . . oh, what was t h e b  names? One of the boys worked fo r  me. Roy. 
Anyhow, they had one horse lefi from t h e i r  dad's es t a t e  and he was a good one 
and they wanted t o  s e l l  hlm and I says, ttWell, I w a n t  a horse Uke that. 'I 
And he says, "Well, you come down and see my older brother. 'I He says, t tYo~  
can get hlm, I 'm sure, because," he says, "he' s a good work horse." 

Well, I went and got that horse and he w a s  a five yeas? old and well-broken 
and he bmke co l t s  a l l  m u n d  here. He was just s m r t  enough that he knew 
what a col t  ought t o  do and If they didnt t do it, he'd n ip  t h e k  neck. Hef d 
b i t e  them hard, too, and believe me, they'd straighten out rQht off frm 
him. And so after I got tha t  fellow it wasn't any trouble t o  break col t s ,  
no trouble at al l ,  (chuckles) You just  hitched them on and tied them t o  h b  
and got h the wagon and started off. If they d ldnl t  a c t  j u s t  right, why, 
you'd see h9-n reach aver and give t h m  an awfU nlp. (lau$hter) 

Q. So you had about one o r  two new co l t s  then, a year? 

A. Yea, I did that long. Then I q d t  try* to raise colts because all I 
had was those two old bllsadl mares, and one of them we drove t o  a b u m .  
Well, we didn't want a co l t  a&& a l o ~ . o n  a b u w ,  you how. And so 
I quit breedlng her and . . . She had one colt  a f t e r  this time, after I got 
old Bill, I broke hlm by the side of old BI11. 

And then when B l l l  was about a seven yeas old, I guess-not more t m  tha t ,  
I don't thlnk-I turned Wm out in the pasture rlght south of the house here 
one night. There came up a t e r r i b l e  thur&rsfmm and the next m o m  X went 
out and there was old B l l l  with hls feet throwed this my and his  head 
throwed that way. LQhtnilng had hit hfm out there i n  the pasture. Ihrned 
a s t r l p  frmn each ear c lear  down, and clear down here, and clear down his 
legs, and c l e a  anto the hoof, you know. He got an awfil jolt. It just  
knocked hlm cold, you know. Well, that's the  only horse I ever cried 
over. I dld hate so bad t o  lose old B e l l .  I never dild get him replaced 
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because you couldn't find them l i k e  tha t .  He w a s  a big, heavy fellow. 

And I remember one fall we had a wet fa l l  here. One of my brothers was 
working fo r  mr; tha t  fall ,  doing rrly threshing. I had t o  quit  thmshing on 
account of hay fever. I couldn't go t o  the  machines, I always hlred 
somebody to do my threshing and my brother was doing it and it was w e t  and 
they'd put on too b9g a load ard everybody was g e t t h g  stuck, And they'd 
hol le r  for  Gene-that was his name-they said, "Gene, bring over your team." 
Well, t ha t  w a s  old B i l l  and the other, the one that rnated hlm good. And there 
never was a wagon they dldnvt take out. 

Q. Well, let's see, sir, where were we here now? Oh. 

Q, (Intendewer readhg out loud) "We used t o  have a l o t  of that In zardwiches. 
That was elegant meat f o r  sandwiches, cut thin. Q. Could you descrlbe 
how... 11 

A. Corn beef, you'know. You know what corn beef I s ,  

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. That's w h a t  t ha t  was called. 

Q, Oh, boy. 

ADDENDA ITET~~ 30 (ref. p. 38) 

A. It wasn't @vanlzed at a l l .  That wl re  was no galvanizbg on it. 
And yet there was sane of I t  here when I had hedges burled. 

Q. Was It a heavier gauge wTre than . . . 
A. Yes, it was peat  big; oh, a lot of it would be %gauge W. And it 
was woven rather coarse and didn't take too much t o  W e  a l o t  of fence, 
you how, And we didn't have t o  s t re tch  it too t Q h t  in a hedge because 
i f  they pushed against it, I t ' d  got tight, you know, If hogs went to 
pushing against it, it'd t ighten up because it'd be against the hedge. 
We had I t  on the  Inside of the field and that was sure a saver. 

But even then you had t o  trim the top of your hedge three times a year, 
i f  you kept it alooldn@; l i k e  anything. M that took a l o t  of cut'chg and 
i f  you hired it done, I t  took qul te  a b i t  of money because a fellow 
wanted  a dol la r  and half or  two dollws a day t o  do that work, you know. 

Q. P re t ty  mean, I guess, with all those t h o r n  in there. 

Yes, and poison ivy. w a s  poison ivy i n  it. subject 
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t o  that, it was worse than a l l  the thorns i n  there because you get a dose 
of thah-were you ever poisoned? 

Q. Yes, sJr. When I was a kid, I used t o  mve It a l l  the tlm, a13 
s m r  long. Bad s tu f f .  

A. I had it once t o  put me t o  bed, I had it so bad. 

Q. I never had I t  that bad. I remembewl Mom used t o  . . . I used t o  scratch 
it and get it all open, you know, and she poured mbb- alcohol an that 

boy that b m d !  It was  almost as bad as the . . . ( l a m )  The cure 
was worse than the  disease, I thrtnk. That 'd wake you up! (laughter) 

A. Yes, I bet you that did wake you up. We us& a gease, my mother a d .  
I don't know, she fixed It up. My grandmother was peat  on h e ~ b s .  She 
was an old ICentucQ lady, and she was great on herbs ad, if I remember 
r lght ,  Mother used t o  gather thls riLghtshade, Do you know that wed? 

Q. No, s i r .  

A. It looks kind o f  l i k e  the  ground cherry, only it has no pod on it. It 
has a black berry on It. And she would get t ha t  ard fry it iLn pease and 
mb on, and that seemed t o  have an ef fec t  on It, kt oh, I was a m 1  
sick f o r  three days that t h e .  I didnt t know I was subject t o  it, I was 
worldng fo r  a fellow ard he wanted a fence row cleared and 1 worked on 
it for, well, I worked on it two days, one right after the other, you know. 
And by that tlme it had taken In good. I went hme sick. 

Q, Do you remember any other k3nd of home rmdies that your @;randmother . . . 
A. Well, she had a lot of teas she made. I remember vervailn, I know tha t  
weed, yet ,  myself. 'I"nat was good f o r  cramp col lc  and I ate, like all kids 
did, p e n  apples and everythlrg. (chuckles) Had plenty of bellyaches, you 
know. And when Ivd get a spe l l  of tha t ,  they'd gathw up sane of Grardmals 
dried vermin roots and it was as b i t t e r  as it could be. But you drink a 
half a cup of that and your bellyacheld q d t .  It'd h o c k  it, So I used 
It a lot of tlmes. But I never have used it since I 've  been p w n .  I 
h o w  it used to wow up in w e l l .  I had a place fenced off around the 
stock well and it g r e w  around there. I used to pull ik up a,nd look at 
those weeds and sometimes I'd taste them and see If they was still b i t t e r .  
(lau&t er ) 

Q. They s t i l l  were, were they? 

Q I suppose you used sassafras tea,  didn't you? 

A. Yes, in the sp-. Sassafras, and we used t o  use wlld cherry and crab- 
apple bark. That was another one of Grandma's remedlea; . mose two bmks 
and we would make a tea of that. We'd j u s t  go peel that off, green, you 
know, a d  br- it in and make a tea of it. And I don't know what it m S  
f o r  unless it was jus t  a general builder, because we got a round of it, any- 
how, ahead of the sassafras. (chuckles) 
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Q. W a s  it b i t t e r  also? 

A. No, It wasn't too bad, It was puckery. Tbe crabapple and the 
wlld cherry tagether were puckery, both of them. It wasn't too bad t o  
take because . , . l i t t l e  l l k e  a puckery persimon; you know what I 
mean. I know she'd always say when I'd go out t o  gakher ba~k, "Now, 
be sure and peel tha t  up, don't peel it d m .  If it does, it wonvt do 
so good." Well, I ' d  peel her up the t r e e  Instead of down it. (chuckles) 

Well, when I was i n  Oregon, I was 1nqulrh.g about different trees. I 
wanted t o  see hemlock. You how hemlackls very poisonous. And I: 
wanted t o  see a hernlock, and I had a t e r r i b l e  time agetting anybody 
tha t  would, if they knew them, i f  they would show them t o  me .  They 
wouldnlt show them t o  me. I never could get t o  see a hedock t r e e  
u n t i l  I went t o  the dl1 pond and seen the lo@ i n  the mL11 pond. 
They showed me hemlock there.  So, I got an Idea of what the bark 
w a s  l lke .  

But I wanted t o  know a lso  about the  c a s c m  wood; you know there's a 
wood they make cascara of. The cascara t ha t  we use today Is mde fYom 
a t r e e  and those t rees  are  valuab1.e. Tne men have a terrlble time keeping 
them. They s t e a l  that bwk; they ' ll take half of the tree, half of 
the bwk off of a t r e e  and s t e a l  It. Well, then it 'll bask over 
again i n  a course of years, you how,  and then they can take off tha t  
other ha l f ,  se l l  it t o  the . . . they l i k e  to have It t o  sell t o  the 
manufacturer of cascara. 

That was the t r ee ,  you know, that Noah made h i s  ark of. And now, he 
was a hundred twenty years abuilding tha t  ark, and that wood was good 
tha t  long and held together t o  hold all t ha t  stuff. I donlt  know how 
much you believe the Bible but I believe every word of It. I believe 
tha t  he rea l ly  did do tha t  because God made tha t  wood last that long 
for hlm, don't you see. A hundred twenty yews befom he got the ask 
finished. 

Q ,  Well, l e t ' s  see here, we were on . . . 

ADDENDA ITISM 31 (ref. p. 39) 

&. (Interviewer reading out loud) "A. Wood. Heavy wood, heavy tln"s3er. I' 

A. Good wood, too. You needed oak for that. 

Q I see. You used oak wood f o r  i t? 

A. Yes. 

ADDENDA ITEM 32 (ref. p. 42) 

A. Everybody had a coal house a f t e r  they got coal up here. There's one 
t h b g  about tha t  tha t  I should have to ld  you, "chat I forgot. ZFney went 
t o  Nilwood before the  I C  [ I l l i no i s  Central] cam throu& hem. They used 
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t o  have t o  go t o  Nflwocd for coal. And there was a mlne over there. I donlt  
know what It was Ilk. They ain't any sfpg of It now, but I 've gone with 
my dad and I Emow that's where we went, over t o  Nllwood and get a load of 
coal and cane home wtlth it. And they had a coal house and stored it In out 
of the weather. And so you could get It any the .  

You &mow, we usd t o  have bad sleets in those days. I re man be^ one winter, 
after we moved down to the tlmber there, that I kept skates on for thirty 
days. Every day they had sleet and you couldntt walk on it t o  save your neck 
with your shoes. If you had rubbers you could, you how.  But wlth a shoe 
or a boot ym couldn't w a l k  on it ard you couldnrt lead a horse or  a cow 
out t o  water. And I carried water t o  the c a t t l e  ard the horses on skates, 
and then I skated t o  school. I ' d  pull them off to go In the school, of 
course, and put them on when I was ready to sta.rt home, here I'd come. 
hat I t ' d  mln,  every time that it" begin t a  get mu@, I t ' d  r a b  a l i t t l e  
b i t  of a rain, and freeze on top of there, md It stwed s l i ck  f o r  t h i r t y  days! 

Q, Well, for heaven's sake. 

A. And that was some sleet. 

Q. Yes, s b .  Maybe I t d  better turn this tape over. X1m about t o  run out 
on this side. 

A. G l r a Y d  had a coal mine, too, I know that. I remenber after, oh, I 
guess was when I was working f o r  Tom Richmdson, somebody t a m  about going 
t o  Girasd f o r  coal to me, aml tha t  was up about 1900, you see. kt there's 
no mine thew now. That's a l l  gone. There's no slgn of a mine in G l r a r d .  

Q. Well, the new ones go- in just north of there. 

A. I guess the  new ones go- In r igh t  now, over a little farther. 

A. I'm mistaken there. Easley brought N e l  because I went after him. 

Q. Ohy. Dr. &ley brought Nel? 

H,B. He brought both of the girls. 

Q. I see. Okay. So that would make really one doctor for  the whole 
family, a l l  except you, I guess. 

A. Yes, you j u s t  be t te r  say that. 

ADDENDA I'ElY 34 (ref. p. 44) 

A. Fox and geese, I don't know how t o  play it now, but we play& it with 
p a h s  of corn. Much like checkers. And we played dominoes. My, my, 
how we did play dmlnoes. Dad wouldntt allow us t o  use playing cards. 
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Q, Yes, you said that. 

A. But we had what they called, oh . . . 
Q. You'd mentioned Authors here, 

A. Thatts it, Authors, yes. And that was really Instructive, That 
taught US a lot of the old authors of those days, That was handy when 
you got I n t o  history. 

. Grandma Waggoner was the one that taught me to play Authors. She 
always had a set around at  bme . . . 

END OF TAPE: 

ADDENDA I m  35 (ref. p. 48) 

A. No dcpot there anynore. Used t o  have a depot when I w a s  a kid. 

Q. Z"nat was t o  control the trains codng out of the  mfne? 

A. No. That was Jus t  the railroad had a depot. You know, for 
passengers t o  col lect  i n  t o  go t o  Mtchfield.  After the mine began 
t o  peter  out there at Hornsby, they found another one at Gillesple 
and they extended the l i n e  on down t o  It, to the Gillespie mine. So, 
they had a depot for people t o  get i n  and get t icke ts  and so  on, Had 
an agent there.  

ADDENDA ITEM 36 ( r e f .  p. 49) 

Q. Sir, then a l i t t l e  b i t  l a t e r ,  you go i n t o  having gone down there  
t o  work and you say,  "1 wonder what it was I wanted t o  t e l l  you about?" 
and it was about the b i r t h  cer t i f ica tes .  D i d  you get your bivrth 
certificate f'rom Carllnvllle? 

A. Yes. In the mantime, I had mt t ha t  doctor that brough'c me to 
the world and 1 h e w  who he w a s .  1 could give his name and my father 's  
and mother's name and t h e d a t e .  I sent it over t o  Carllnville.  Second 
day, here come a b i r t h  ce r t i f i ca t e .  I was so dmbfowded, but it was 
m k e d  at the top: "Book n&er 2," so they just had s ta r ted  keeping 
them, don't you see. 

My wife never had a b i r t h  cert if icate.  She w a s  born wlth a--what they 
called a . . . a woman . . . Oh, what did  they call. them? 

A, Yes, a midwife. She never had a b i r t h  ce r t i f i ca t e ,  so when they 
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begin t o  holler f o r  them, why, we went and $ot some of the old 
re la t ives  to sweas t o  her b i r t h  and got her a certificate that way. 

ADDENDA ITEM 31 ( ref .  p. 49) 

A. That's just t ha t  one t r i p .  C a n ' t  remember another thlng about 
ever being wound Granddad o r  talking t o  hXm or  anything, but he 
to ld  me when the ducks come over t o  say, " ~ a n g !  " and I'd say It right 
loud. I was a l i t t l e  chap, you know. Then they'd kind of start, 
you know, and down he 'd take a couple of them. (laughter) 

&. And then, did he dle there on the  place at Lone Elm? 

A. No. After the folks le f t  tha t  place, U s  daughter, rrgr fatherfs 
older sister, ins i s ted  on him comlng t o  Texas and Livlrzg with her. 
He didn ' t want t o  go but he didn ' t  have any mans of s u p p o ~ ,  any- 
more than h i s  children, and so he went down there and he died down 
i n  Texas. 

I remember going out t o  his grave when the folks w a  there ,  We had 
t o  go quite a long ways out i n  the country t o  t h ~  p a v e .  Viy uncle 
had fenced In the grave good so tha t  stock--it was open cemter ies ,  
you h o w ,  But held fenced i n  tha t  p a v e  so that no stock could bother 
It a t  al l .  I remember tha t  d is t inc t ly .  fa ther  was pleased t o  f ind  
that, you how. 

Then, another thlng t ha t  mkes  me remember that so d ls t lnc t ly ,  Pa 
sa id  tha t ,  as we went home--we went down i n  a b ig  wagon--and he says, 
"Now, as we go horn, we ' l l  go down i n  the timber and get @;rapes.'' 
And you how, there w a s  wild grapes pew them as b l g  as our Concords 
here. I 've  always wondered what they could have been but we had two 
tubs fill when they got done plcklng them and took home. Oh, was I 
glad t o  get them because we dldn t have any f ' rui t  , you how, just 
l ived out In the pra i r ie .  How glad I was t o  have those g a p e s  $0 
gnaw on. 

Q 4  Now, t h i s  was down i n  Texas, you mean. Texas grapes. 

A.  Yes, Texas grapes. I never learned the mm of them or  anythlng 
of the kind, but  they @ew--low vines--they dLdnlt climb t o  the top 
of the t rees .  They grew along like t ha t .  Like the top of a fence 
and they crawled over the brush and so on, you bow, and they could 
pick them m a d l y *  Oh, v, they were good. (lau&s) 

A D D m A  ITEM 38 ( r e f .  p. 50) 

A. I f m  pret ty  sure he was, since I 've  thought it over. 

Q. Yes, sir. Barn near Lone Elm. 
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A. Born up there,  because he had D r .  Easley and he came up In tha t  
country and surveyed around and took care of babies and s ick p o p l e .  
I can remerber the flsst time he came t o  o w  house af'ter I was arly 

s i ze  I stood by and watched him rclake out fever powders. They 
used t o  d x  t h e i r  own medicine, you how. They1 d bring bot t les  and 
pour out so much of t h i s  and take it on the  poilnt of f knife blade 
and put i n  and meas- so  many of them and then chop It a l l  to@ther.  

Then they had l i t t l e  square papers about so b ig  and they'd put a 
dip of tha t  on there and fold tha t  paper and you took one an hour 
or  two an hour o r  whatever, t o  take down fever. They fowt fever 
those d a p ,  you bow, because ague was in the country--chills. I 
guess they had t o  fight; a l l  the time fo r  fever. But you know, doctors 
d o n ' t f i g h t  fever v e q  much any more, do they? 

&. I don't thlnk so. 

A.  No. The fever 's  a symptom, you how. It t e l l s  them sornethlng. 

Q. Wasn't the ague a form of malmita? F"rorn mosquitoes? 

A. Mosquitoes? Yes, but it w a s  due to--1 bet it w a s  mosqu;ltoes 
because tha t  w a s  a l l  swampy, you bow. 

Pret ty  near everybody had chi l l s  i n  the fa l l .  J tho@t mother 
w a ~  gokg  t o  die after we moved down t o  tha t  for ty down there.  She 
got the  ch i l l s  one fall . . . Well, I had them, too; but I d261n1t 
have them as bad as she dld. She thou@t she w a s  going t o  die. 
Then we ran onto a patent medicine tha t  was pract ical ly  a l l  quinine 
and tha t  knocked her ague and she got over it. 

Q. How did you f e e l  when you had t h i s  fever? Was it , . . 

A. Well, you'd be so cold you'd just  freeze t o  death. Your teeth 
would chatter.  You've never had your tee th  chatter,  I bet. But when 
you get tha t  cold, your tee th  would just  chat ter  lfke tha t ,  you know. 
You can't  help it. You'd just  freeze t o  death for  about an how 
and then your fever would s t a t  conL?.ng up and you'd get hot te r  than 
eve,qyt;hing then. (chuckles) A l l  t ha t  c h i l l  would leave you. Well, 
when the fever qui t ,  the c h i l l  was over. You could get up and go t o  
work. It took about two hours, usually, t o  have a chill md when 
you1 d have one, why, you f e l t  l i ke  you was going t o  qult , but you 
wasn t . 
&. And tha t  would happen about once a day, would i t? 

A. Well, every other day was what we dreaded. Tne every other day 
kind. No, I d ldnl t  know anybody t o  have them every day; but just 
every other day, you'd have a chill. I remmber when the  folks 
bultlt the new house on the forty,  I was--oh, I was a l l  of sixteen years 
old at that tFme, I guess, because I walted on the carpenter and I 
waited on the brick mason and I had a c h i l l  every other day a d  waited 
on those fellows. I ' d  go off and lay down unt i l  the chill passed and 
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then I ' d  get up and go ahead with the job. 

Q Did you take the mdicine then? 

A. Yes. Took that same medlclne rqy mother Md. Finally broke it. 

Q. And this was f a i r l y  comon? 

A. Oh, yes. It wasn't uncommon at a l l .  People just had it al l  
around, you how. I imagine it was - the mosquitoes. Sasne as the 
old yellow fever klnd. !Phis wasn't yellow fever. Thls was just the 
shaking--the shakes, they called them. The old tlmers called them 
the shakes. 

ADDENDA ITEPI 39 (ref. p. 50) 

A. And he got r ich .  

Q Oh, i s  tha* rI&t? 

A. They dltched it and then, after that, it was very productive. 
My, A t  was the bottom of an old swamp, you Zmow. 

&. It must have been rather  expensive t o  do that ditching, wasn't 
i t ?  

A.  Well, as I to ld  you, they did it usually cooperatively. A bunch 
sf f m r s  would go together and, 'We'll work on t h i s  ditch sa long, 
down here, and l e t  tha t  water o f f . "  Then go far ther  up, you bow,  
and l e t  t ha t  o f f .  The ditches were bu i l t  plece-ma1 . 
I don't suppose there was a dredge boat ever b~ought  i n  there before-- 
oh, I have an idea 5: was eighteen yews old before there was ever a 
dredge boat come in .  I never had seen one work u n t i l  I was on the 
telegraph job . I never had seen a dredge boat wo~k-I ' d heard them 
t e l l  about them--but I went out; t o  see one one day. 

They put down pla t form and pulled the derrick onto the p la t fom,  
Then se t  the bomepower out here t o  one s ide,  you laow, on good 
gound if they could, for the horses t o  go around. They'd run a 
rope down t o  the bottom of the ditch wlth a demlck and pick it up. 
They didn't  have t o  c m  the bank with tmt, (la@ter) They were 
a l l  t ickled to death t o  get a dredge boat. 

Q. This was called a dredge boat? It treally wasn't a boat? 

A. No, they just cal led it t h a t .  But the b i g  ditches, it rea l ly  
was a boat. They floated it. A l l  the  machinery moved ahead a s  the 
dltch was dug. Just  f loated. That was where the "dredge boat'! word 
came from, The first ones was jus t  demicks or? a platform t o  . . . 
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Q. And these used the horsepower as a winch so r t  of thing, then? 

A. Well, they had a windlass. You never were t o  a molasses mill? 

Q. No, sir. 

A. Where they nude sor@wn? 

Q. I've never been t o  one. No, s ir .  

A. Well, they have two great b i g  ro l l e r s ,  set together, you know, 
and they can tighten them t igh te r  and t igh ter .  Then therels a rod 
runs t o  the bottom of them, onto a gear tha t  t m  both of them. 
They're turned opposite directions,  you know. They come t h i s  way 
on one . . . and then there ' s  a trough myls from them in to  the 
b m r e l  tha t  the J d c c  goes in to .  But t h i s  rod goes out here t o  the 
horsepower and the horsepower or  whatever they used f o r  grinding with-- 
but I was t rying t o  t e l l  you about a derrick. 

Q. Yes, slr. 

A. A derrick was a strai&t up and down log, about so M@, morticed 
in at both ends. 

Q. About two feet long? Two fee t  high? 

A. About four f e e t ,  

Q. Four feet hlgh. 

A. It was fastened so tha t  the team could go around and wound and 
turn it. I dont t rermber how it was fastened, but the rope coupled 
in to  tha t  thing and t o  drag anything, why they jus t  hltched on and 
s ta r ted  going and tha t  would drag it. That's the w a y  they moved 
houses. That's the way tha t  church was moved, That's the way  a l l  
those things were done. They pulled by horsepower. You mL&t have 
t o  put four horses on or s i x  horses. It would depend on the load. 

Q. How rimy did they usually use with a dredge? 

A. Well, just a dredge would be two horses, became they'd just use 
an ordinary scraper for  a dipper, you know. 

Q. Oh, I see. 

A. Ttvo horses could handle tha t .  

Q. M d  a man have t o  handle the dlpper , then? Did he walk alom 
wlth it o r  . . . 
A. Well, I don't ever remmber watching one of them work but rrgr gucsx 
i s  tha t  he dld, t ha t  there was one fellow in. there with high-top boots 
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on and he w a s  a$uidltng It i n  there,  because he worked in a regular 
loblolly of slush and mud and c a t t a i l s ,  as you said, and stuff. 
That scraper would have t o  be cleaned every l i t t l e  b i t  wLth a spade 
because L t  a l l  g l o m d  up, you know. 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. And t h a t ' s  the way they moved those things and pulled them. 

A horsepower had about a six-foot cogwheel. Solid. Cast Iron. 
And that was bolted i n to  a l?~ame and tha t  @me was what you hitched 
the team to ,  t o  t m  t ha t  around and aromd. Well then, there was a 
sml1 gem fit h t o  that and then went up on a shaft  here, wLth a 
bevel gear t o  carry your power away, and it had t o  be low enough fo r  
the  horses t o  step over every time they went around, Thatla why 
I called it a twbl lng rod. And when it got over here t o  where they 
w a s  ageing t o  use it fo r  power, l i k e  for  threshing, why they geared 
it up. They rurl it throu* gearrs, don't you see, t o  the fly wheel and 
then put the bel t  on But on a dredge boat, they wouldn't have t o  
do tha t .  They'd jus t  pu l l  it  wlth a windlass. 

Did you ever see them dig a well with a wlndlass? Where men t m e d  I t ?  

Q. No, sir. 

A. Well, they used t o  dig--I expect two-thirds of the wells m u n d  
here were dug that way. A man would go d~wn t o  the bottom and he'd 
shovel a bucket full of mud and the m on 'cop, i f  it took one ol' two, 
it depended on the s i ze  of the bucket. If you had a b i g  bucket, 
it would take t w o  E n ,  one on each end of the crank and they'd crank 
her rl&t up. !The rope would wind wound, you know, and get her up 
t o  the top. One fellow would throw it off  t o  one side and dwnp it 
in to  a wheelbarrow o r  something t o  be wheeled away fkom the well. 

They made t h e i r  own wheelbarrows. Homemade. 

Q. How would they make the  wheel f o r  it? 

A. Well, they bad t o  get a wheel off of something. A law wheel, 
Now,  take those wheels they used on moving big  platform- They were 
cast i ron.  About so high. If they could get one of them, it had 
an axle on each s ide that would go into,  you lmm. They would put 
tha t  i n  t h e i r  wheelbamow. 

&. But a l l  the rest; of it  was just handmde. 

A. Well, everythfng but  tha t  wheel. That wheel was cast .  

Q. How m y  men would n o m l l y  be Involved in digging a w e l l ?  Two 
o r  three of them . . . 
A. If they were w i n g  big buckets [and] If the well had a soil that 
a man could spade read i ly ,  why, he could keep two mn  busy, wlth a 
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b ig  bucket, you bow. On top. But If it was hmdpan or  atlythlng of 
tha t  k h d  where he had t o  pick, why, it Would go pretty slow, 

Then, f i n a l l y ,  they got to the sta@ where they would shoot the bottom 
of the  well, s o m t h e s ,  with nitroglycerine or--it was real ly dynamite, 
and a low uade dynamite because It wasn't very dangerous. They 
had t o  have a cap, you know, and lit a fuse. 'They lit the f'use 
at the top of the well as the man got out. He lit the fuse, because 
he was out before he lit it. It would go down and hit that cap 
and it would throw mud thir%y feet i n  the dr, m b e ;  but it Would 
loosen up quite a batch of dirt In the bottom of the well. 

Q. Wouldn't it loosen up t o  the side of the well also? 

A. Not bad, i f  Z t  was hardpan . . , because i t ' s  a semi-rock, you 
know, hardpan i s ,  Then too, they probably cut around it with a 
spade very caref'ully before they put i n  that shot, you h o w ;  a d  then 
bored a hole and put it Itn the middle. 

Q. Yes, sir. Then they would normlly line it with br icks ,  I guess. 

A. Yes, As soon as they were done. You had t o  stax% 3t the bottom 
t o  build a brick wall, you know. You couldn't bui ld  it u n t i l  you 
were done and then, when they got as deep m they wanted, i f  they 
thought they had struck a good stream of water-there's where those 
old water witches used to reap a harvest. (chuckles ) I never bad 
any more faith i n  them than I did i n  tha t  fellow trying to flnd gold. 

Q. Yes, sir. (1auQ;hter) 

A. I followed a preacher-he w a s  out here one t k  and he begaa 
t e l l i n g  r r ~  how he d f lnd water f o r  m, wherever I waked It. I got 
up. I says, 'Well, we '11 go out and try T t  . '' I &dnt t w a n t  t o  t e l l  
him that I dfdnt t  belleve i n  it at all. So, I cut two s t icks .  I knew 
what t o  cut,  I ' d  seen them do it enoum. I cut two peach I lhs  off 
tha t  had forked and gown out here about t ha t  long . . . 
Q. About two fee t .  

A. . . . and they cut them off down here and just  lef't a l i t t l e  fork 
about tha t  long t o  hold t h e m  together, you know. 

Q. Couple of inches. 

A. Well then, you'd take them In your hand l ike  that and gr ip  them 
as ti&t a s  you could and pul l  them apart. I never could explalrl-- 
t h a t ' s  one thing I w i l l  say I don't understand. Those things would 
turn over i n  yaw hand and t w i s t  tha t  i n  two. Twist that wood in 
two. If you held it t igh t  eno*, it woad turn over and point down. 

Q. That was the water pulling it ,  sir! 

A.  ( l a w t e r )  That was where there was water, you know. ( lawter)  
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Well, I fol.lowed t h i s  old fe1,lnw mound and J f'ound it every pl-ace 
he did. "Well," he says, "you're a pret ty  good witcher yourself." 
I says, "Yes, guess J am." "So," he says, "now do you w a n t  t o  mow 
how deep you ' l l  have t o  go?" And I says, %s, I f d  like t o  bow." 
Well, he back-stepped, so many steps back, "Now," he says, "yout 11 
find water tha t  deep." But I never diid dlg. ( lau@ter)  

Q. Oh, you d ldn ' t?  ( l a w t e r )  

A. No, I ' d  seen It done too often and be a fizzle and I didn't  
want t o  dlg a hole jus t  f o r  fun. (laughter) 

There was a l o t  of supersti t ions i n  those days, you how. I mew 
l o t s  of mn tha t  you couldnft e;et t o  start  a job of work, a new 
job of work, on W d a y  t o  save your l l f e l  "No, sir1 We'll w a i t  
unt 11 t ommow. 'I 

It was jus t  a bad day t o  start, huh? 

A. Well, m l u c Q .  Sorrethlne; would happen. They wouldn't do it. 
Well, no use arguing because they were "sot. " (laughter) 

Q. What were sow of the other types of superstitions you sasl into? 

A. Well . . . Sore of them actually believed in p4osts. 

Q. Oh? 

A. Well, they did. They believed i n  them and you could put a sheet 
over your head and tha t  would scare them t o  death. (laughs) I know 
one fellow told m about it. H e  said there was an old fellow came t o  
visit h is  dad that he knew w a s  scared t o  death of &osts. (laughs) 
He says, 'Qe s ta r ted  how after dark and there was a good hedge on 
each side of the soad. So," he says, "I just took a sheet and slipped 
d m  the road ahead of him.' On the  opposite slde of the hedge, you 
laow. He says, "I put tha t  sheet on and stepped out of one pow and," 
he says, "you bow, he went r ight  through that other hedge Just Like 
it wasn't there.  'I (laughter) And he was just t ickled t o  death. 
He never let  that old man know he w a s  the ghost, you how. (laughter) 

Oh, there was a l o t  of superstltlorls tha t  . . . I never could swallow 
them. A t  t he  the of the f l r s t  w~ . . . No, it wasn't the first wm- 
what was it? Oh, it was a big s t r l k e  tha t  h l t  the railroads and hit 
everything. They wmded that  bridge down there, that iron bridge; 
they had it bu i l t  by then and they gmrded it,  

Q. This is near where you lived there at Honey Bend? 

A. Yes and they had a man tha t  had t o  cross tha t  every hour and see 
tha t  there wasn't nobody fooling around and he stayed there all nlght. 
I was wo~king down at the tower at that t i m  and I went t o  work, some- 
times, about mldnll&t. So . . . I 'rn telllng you about how supersti t ious 
some people were. There was one fellow they sent out there that I 
hew. A young man. Sent him out t o  guard that bridge and he went 
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across one time and come back and l a i d  down, l i ke  tha t ,  with his 
head on a t i e ,  on the end of a t i e ,  and a f a s t  train came along and 
the  big bol t  i n  the end of the cowcatcher pecked him right in there .  

Q. Oh? Right behind the ear? 

A. And it bocked him c lear  down the bank. They found hlm the next 
morning, not dead but just about. He'd bled l i k e  everything and tha t  
bol t  had penetrated h i s  skul l .  It was very evident t o  see what  had 
happened t o  h h .  Well, they stopped a fas t  train and Loaded hlm on 
tha t  and took him t o  Decatur t o  the hospital. Well, he died as soon 
as he got up there,  pret ty  near. 

Well, I used t o  pass tha t  place, where he went through the fence, 
In the  n imt  time a n e r  tlm, and I ' d  always say, 'Well, George, 
come on out, ," and (laughs ) George never appeared. 

Q. Were there people tha t  thou@t that he mi@,, though? 

A. Oh, yes. There was people tha t  wouldn't have walked by there 
by themsolves f o r  a hundred dol lars .  (laughter) 

And I got so t ickled at an old section foreman we had--I'm awasklng 
a l o t  of your good t k  t e l l i n g  s tor ies .  

t ha t  s a l l  r1&t. 

A.  We had a brakerncan--or a section fo r -em.  He was a r e a l  flannel- 
mouthed 1llishm.n md he cam over t o  t h i s  country and they had a 
f l ame1  mouth for  a mad foremm. This old man was a re l iab le  worker 
and he gave him a job as section f o r e m ,  So, he had two men that 
he worked. He s t a r t ed  from Honey Bend. 

Well, I got real well aqualnted wfth old Pat. He was a Ilkable ~ l d  
fellow and j wt  fill of jokes . I says, "Pat, how long were you coming 
over? " "Six weeks, " he said, "on a sai lboat .  I t  S ix  weeks, now, on 
the sea, and I says, "Did anybody die?" I1Yeh. Yeh. I' He got pret ty  
sober then. I says, 'What did they do with them?" I h e w  what they 
did with them but I wanted t o  hear him t e l l  it, H e  says, Well ,  
they put them i n  a b ig  sack and f i l l e d  tha t  sack with coal and then 
they put a bowd over the rai l  and put them down on it, w l t h  thelr  
feet  toward the water, and then they give them the burial ri@ts and 
tlpped the, board and d m  they went and," he says, "there never was 
a one tha t  I ever helped bury that didn't turn around and look z~t 
the ship as he sank." (laumter) 

The old man was s o  serious,  I couldn't hard1.y laugh. ( l a w t e r )  
"hoked at the  ship as he sank. I t  And he was Pn a gunny sack full. of 
coal and bad been dead a day or two. ( l aw te r )  And now, that  old 
boy beUeved that. I says, 'Was the ship astanding still?" "No," 
he sald,  "they didnt t stop a ship.  " Said, If'$91e shlp would safl ri&t 
alon@;.'l Well, it was very readily t o  see why he turned mound, you 
h o w .  (laughter) But you couldn t convlnce tha t  fellow. 
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Boy, I 've talked t o  some of them, try t o  t e l l  them there wasn't no 
such a thing as a most .  "Ah, you're not telling me. So-and-so 
saw one, so-and-so saw one . . . " (laughter) 

Q. What about supcrstl t ions i n  regard t o  planting crops, you how,  
i n  the spring, in the phase of the moon , . 
A. Well, there was men tha t  . . . There's s t i l l  moon farmrs, 
Good n imt ,  l o t s  of them and, whlle I lam at them and tease them, 
I really think there is sorwthlng t o  it. I think--you know the mom 
controls our t ides .  

Q. Yes, sir.  

A, Well, why wouldn't it control land as well as t ides? 

These @rls down here w l l l  l e t  land stand a week before t h e y ' l l  
plant i t ,  no matter what It's Hke, u n t i l  the moon gets just ri&t. 
And I tease them a l l  the time about it. Then, there 's  a woman i n  
Famnersville tha t  used t o  l i v e  right east  of us, she l ived there 
until her husband died. She was a moon f m s  and she st111 argues 
with me, She ' l l  start it herself  now, on me. (lau@~s) I didn't 
plant it I n  the right moon. (laughter.) 

Q. Is that Opal Lo-? 

A. Yes, and I t e l l  her, I ' d  say, "I '11 take a p o d  seed bed and 
you take the man."  (laughter) But t h a t ' s  fumy. Well, now, they 
believe it. She believes It. With a l l  her heart .  So do these bwo 
glrls and, oh, I 've  horn--I  expect I've? h o r n  f'ifty people i n  ~QY 
t i m e  that pl.mted by the mon. I think my padmother  did on my 
mother's s ide.  I think she was strong f o r  It. But bad was llke me, 
he planted when the seed bed was ri&t. 

Q. Yes, sir. (pause) S i r ,  we'd be t t e r  get back t o  reading here a 
U t t l e  b i t .  

A. Yes. I waste a l o t  of your t h e .  

Q. No, sir! That's not wasting time. A s  a matter of fac t ,  I was 
t h M w  while you were telling those s to r i e s ,  there 's  a D r .  Ed Hawes 
tha t  works out at  Claywille tha t  I've taken courses from who wLll be 
real interested i n  hearing those s tor les  because he 's  had people 
go out and look f o r  people t o  f ind s to r i e s  l l k e  t h a t ,  

A ,  Well, they're skittish. They won't te l l - ta lk t o  a stranger, 
you how 

A. No, sir, you can't get anything out of them, they jus t  shut up 
l ike  a clam. 
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I Q Superstltious, huh? 

1 A. Yes. T h e y d o n 1 t w a n t t o b e l a u g h e d a t a n d t h e y l o l o w t h e y 1 r e l i a b l e  
I to be. They don't want to be. Because that's the* belief. 

I EJJD OF VOLUME I ADDENDA 
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